# ResearchOnline@JCU

This file is part of the following reference:

Huerlimann, Roger Stephan (2014) Microalgal lipid biosynthesis: phylogeny of acetyl-CoA carboxylase and gene expression patterns of key enzymes. PhD thesis, James Cook University.

Access to this file is available from:

http://researchonline.jcu.edu.au/43777/

The author has certified to JCU that they have made a reasonable effort to gain permission and acknowledge the owner of any third party copyright material included in this document. If you believe that this is not the case, please contact <u>ResearchOnline@jcu.edu.au</u> and quote <u>http://researchonline.jcu.edu.au/43777/</u>



# Microalgal lipid biosynthesis -Phylogeny of acetyl-CoA carboxylase and gene expression patterns of key enzymes

Thesis submitted by

Roger Stephan Huerlimann, (Dipl.-Ing. FH, MAppSc)

in January 2014

for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

School of Marine and Tropical Biology

**James Cook University** 

Townsville, Australia

### Statement of contribution of others

#### Funding of PhD

- International Postgraduate Research Scholarships (IPRS), James Cook University
- Tuition fee waiver, James Cook University
- Doctorial completion award, Graduate Research School, James Cook University
- Write-up scholarship, Graduate Research School, James Cook University

#### Funding of laboratory work

- AM-CRC & MBD Energy Ltd linkage grant
- North Queensland Algal Identification/Culturing Facility
- A/Prof Kirsten Heimann

#### Supervision

- A/Prof. Kirsten Heimann, School of Marine and Tropical Biology, James Cook University
- Dr. Kyall Zenger, School of Marine and Tropical Biology, James Cook University
- Prof. Dean Jerry, School of Marine and Tropical Biology, James Cook University
- Prof. Jim Burnell, School of Marine and Tropical Biology, James Cook University

#### Statistical Support

- Rhondda Jones
- Martino Malerba

#### Volunteers

- Eike Steinig
- Heather Loxton

#### Proofreading

- Marie Magnusson
- Florian Berner
- Heather Loxton
- Dave Jones

### Acknowledgements

There are so many people without whom this PhD thesis would have never seen the light of day and whom I'm grateful to.

To my supervisory team Kirsten Heimann, Kyall Zenger and Dean Jerry for their support, guidance and advice. Thank you Kirsten for always believing in me and for putting up with me finding you in your hiding spots, whenever you wanted to have a quiet moment to yourself. Many thanks to Kyall and Dean for your straightforwardness and constructive criticism. Your joking nature made the PhD process certainly a more interesting experience. I'm thankful to Jim Burnell for sharing his immense knowledge and excitement for biochemistry and Rocky de Nys for teaching me a lot about the lesser known secrets of becoming a good scientist.

I would also like to thank my thesis examiners John Beardall and John Raven for their kind words and immensely useful comments.

I'm also grateful for the tuition fee waiver, scholarships, and write-up grants provided to me by the Graduate Research School and James Cook University.

I would like to recognize Bill Leggat and Dave Miller for letting me use their lab to run my qPCR and for their intellectual support.

To all the students and research assistants in the NQAIF lab. I want to especially single out the lab manager Stan Hudson for all his help with anything culture related, and to Megan Kent and Heather Welladsen for helping me with the biochemical analyses.

To Eike Steinig, my hard-working minion. I'm glad that I succeeded in luring you to the "Dark Side of science".

There are many more people I'm grateful to and who were very crucial in my PhD progress, by always taking time for my questions or letting me bounce ideas off of them. I am eternally in debt to Heather Veilleux, for always being there to help me with theoretical and practical questions in the lab, no matter how busy she was. There would be no qPCR data if it wasn't for her help. Anthony Beckhouse from Bio-Rad went beyond all that is required to help me sorting out my initial qPCR troubles. To Lynne van Herwerden and Erica Todd for sharing their knowledge on phylogenetic methods. To David Jones for the stimulating discussions about linux programming and using the high-performance computer and to Wayne Mallett for his patience with my urgent

requests to install new programs on the HPC. I'm also grateful to Carolyn Smith-Keune, Samuel Cires and Greg Maes for their help with any genetics and/or lab related questions. To Rhondda Jones and Martino Malerbo whose statistical advice was invaluable.

Thank you also to all the wonderful students and research assistants in the Molecular Ecology and Evolution Lab, which provided such a comfortable work environment.

To Marie Magnusson, Marnie Freckelton, Janine Sheaves, Joe Holtum and Richard Rowe, for always having an open ear for me and helping me with too many things to list here, be it academic or personal.

To my housemates Florian Berner and Hugh MacIntosh, for their constructive criticism of my work, even if they didn't always understand what I was talking about, and for providing many a relaxing evening away from the PhD stress.

To Rudy and Terry Marki for their friendship, which meant the world to me. I'm also grateful for having had the chance to meet Tata, her intelligence and strength were a great inspiration to me.

I would like to thank my closest friend and fiancé, Heather Loxton, for making a big leap of faith in coming to Australia to be with me and support me in my PhD, for providing many a lunch and dinner at crucial moments, for helping in the lab during my experiments, for listening to my grumbling, and for being blunt and setting my head straight when it was necessary. You had a big part in what kept me sane all this time.

Finally, I would especially like to thank the two most influential people in my life, my mother Beatrice Huerlimann and my grandmother Hulda "Grosi" Huerlimann, for everything. My grandmother sparked my interest in nature and science and nurtured my curiosity to learn ever more, while my mother always believed in me and supported me in anything I did throughout my life. Without them, I would not be where I am now.

III

### Abstract

Lipids from microalgae have become a valuable commodity in the last 20 years. Two of the potential industrial applications are the production of biodiesel from short-chain saturated and monounsaturated fatty acids (FAs) and the use of very long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (VLC-PUFAs) to supplement human / animal diets. However, high production costs are still prohibitive and an increase in yield is desired. Understanding the cellular mechanisms by which microalgae produce these FAs and how these mechanisms can be manipulated to potentially increase yield is of immediate interest to the industry. Generally, the lipid content of algae increases under nitrogen starvation, whereas FA length and desaturation decreases. While the general biochemical processes are known, research investigating the expression of the different enzymes involved under different growth conditions and growth phases is still lacking. This kind of knowledge will be invaluable for targeted manipulations of environmental conditions with the aim to increase yields of desired types of FAs for different applications.

In algae, de novo synthesis of FAs up to C18 occurs in the plastids, where the key enzyme acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACCase) catalyses the first committing step. Further elongation and desaturation of FAs to VLC-PUFAs is associated with the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). At this step, cytosolic ACCase provides malonyl-CoA for the elongation of fatty acids in the ER. In addition to the two locations, there are two types of ACCase: the bacterial, multi-subunit heteromeric ACCase and the eukaryotic multi-domain homomeric ACCase. While cytosolic ACCase in eukaryotes is always homomeric, plastidial ACCase, if present, can be either heteromeric or homomeric. The multidomain nature of homomeric ACCase makes it easier to study and manipulate and shows great potential for improving FA synthesis and elongation. It is therefore important to identify the type of ACCase present in the plastids of algae, to enable gene expression studies to be conducted. The two main aims of this thesis were: 1) to increase the general knowledge of ACCase in algae and provide a phylogenetic analysis of the relationships between algae in terms of ACCase; 2) to correlate the gene expression of plastidial and cytosolic ACCase and selected desaturases under nitrogen-deplete and nitrogen-replete growth conditions during different growth phases with FA content and composition data.

Despite the recognition of the existence of heteromeric and homomeric ACCase forms, generalised published statements still list the heteromeric form as the one present in

Abstract

algal plastids. In the present research, heteromeric and homomeric ACCase amino acid sequences obtained from the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) and the Joint Genomic Institute (JGI) were synthesized with taxonomic data. This elucidated that the presence of heteromeric or homomeric ACCase is dependent on the origin of the plastid. Plastids derived from a primary endosymbiotic event (Chlorophyta, with the exception of the green algal class Prasinophyceae, and Rhodophyta) contain heteromeric ACCase. In contrast, plastids derived through secondary or tertiary endosymbiosis (Chlorarachniophyta, Cryptophyta, Stramenopiles, Haptophyta, and apicoplast (rudimentary plastid) containing Apicomplexa), contain homomeric ACCase. This highlights that the majority of algae actually contain homomeric plastidial ACCase.

To reconstruct a Bayesian inference tree, five novel sequences of homomeric ACCase from *Isochrysis* aff. *galbana* (TISO), *Nannochloropsis oculata* and *Chromera velia* were sequenced and used together with all other publicly available amino acid sequences of algal ACCases to date. The cytosolic and plastidial ACCase sequences of the Stramenopiles, Alveolates and Rhizaria (SAR) formed two strongly supported clades. These clades agree with the recently proposed new phylogeny from the literature, where the Rhizaria are related to the Stramenopiles and Alveolates. In addition, the plastidial ACCase clade also included the Prasinophyte sequences, while the cytosolic ACCase clade containing the SAR species excluded the Prasinophytes. This shows that, while the ancestor hosts of the SAR and Prasinophytes are not closely related, they acquired the plastidial homomeric ACCase from the same source and not through a duplication event from either host.

To investigate the expression of selected genes at different growth phases, *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO) and *Chromera velia* were cultivated over 12 days in nitrogen-replete and nitrogen-deplete conditions. Cell density and nutrient status were measured daily, while gene expression, dry weight and lipid content were measured during the logarithmic, late logarithmic and stationary growth phases. The cell density of *C. velia* of cultures grown with and without nitrogen did not differ notably during the first four days of culture. In contrast, nitrogen-replete cultures of *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO) exhibited higher cell densities from the first day of culturing, compared to cultures grown in nitrogen-deplete conditions. During active growth, FA content is generally considered to be low, since the FA content is shared by the daughter cells at cell division. In terms of gene expression patterns of plastidial ACCase and lipid content, distinct differences were observed between *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO) and *C. velia*. The expression of plastidial ACCase of *C. velia* was significantly upregulated during the late logarithmic and

V

Abstract

stationary phases in both types of cultures, and nitrogen-deplete cultures showed a more pronounced response to nutrient starvation (N+: 2-fold; N-: 4-fold). The upregulation of plastidial ACCase expression strongly correlated with an increase in FA content. Conversely, *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO) showed a significant 8-fold upregulation of plastidial ACCase during the logarithmic growth phase of nutrient-replete cultures only, consistent with higher growth rates. Since the FA content of *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO) did not vary significantly between treatments and growth phases, the upregulation of plastidial ACCase can be explained by the algae maintaining a stable FA content during active growth. Finally, the expression of cytosolic ACCase in *C. velia* decreased by approximately half with culture age, independent of nutrient status. This decrease correlated well with an average increase in short-chain fatty acids ( $\leq$ C18) of approximately 240%, showing that cytosolic ACCase plays an important part in supplying the elongases located in the ER with malonyl-CoA for the elongation of FAs beyond C18.

Isochrysis aff. galbana (TISO) has been used extensively in aquaculture because of its high content of docosahexaenoic acid (DHA, C22:6n-3), a nutritional supplement important for the health of most aquaculture animals. Therefore, the expression of several desaturases (d6FAD, d8FAD, d5FAD and d4FAD) involved in the desaturation and elongation pathway were measured. Similar to the total FA content, the average DHA content of 12.2 mg g<sup>-1</sup> ash-free dry weight did not vary significantly between treatments and growth phases. The expression of d6FAD was not significantly upregulated at any time. In contrast, d8FAD, which provides a bypass of the normal d6FAD pathway, was upregulated 7-fold during logarithmic growth of nutrient-replete cultures. Correspondingly, the expression of d5FAD and d4FAD were upregulated 8.5fold during logarithmic growth. None of the intermediate FAs in the DHA synthesis pathway were present at high concentrations, suggesting an efficient conversion at each step of the pathway. Even though there was no increase in total DHA content analogous to the increase in gene expression, it is important to keep in mind that the cells were actively growing during this phase. The upregulation of these desaturases therefore allowed the microalgae to maintain adequate levels of the membrane FA DHA during active growth.

In summary, the present thesis provides the first comprehensive review of the plastidial ACCase type in microalgal phyla and classes. This is of great importance in terms of algal phylogeny, but also for further investigations of algal lipid synthesis. Moreover, it was shown that growing algae in nitrogen-deplete conditions does not always result in an accumulation of FAs, although there is a strong correlation between the expression

VI

of plastidial ACCase and FA production. Similarly, even thought the DHA content in *I*. aff. *galbana* (TISO) did not differ between growth phases, the involved desaturases were highly upregulated during logarithmic growth to maintain membrane FA DHA levels. Additional research should focus on microalgal strains with differences in their VLC-PUFA content between growth phases, to further investigate the differences in gene expression between different algal species.

### **Table of contents**

State	ement of contribution of others	I
Ackn	nowledgements	
Abst	ract	IV
Table	e of contents	VIII
List o	of tables and supplemental tables	XI
Lieto	of figures	YIII
	. ,.	ЛШ
Abbr	reviations	XVII
Chap	oter 1 - General introduction	1
1.	Fatty acids as a renewable source	2
2.	Fatty acids in nutrition	3
3.	Fatty acids as fuel	3
4.	Fatty acid derived polymers and other products	5
5.	Market sizes	5
6.	Sources of fatty acids	6
7.	Algal lipid synthesis pathways	7
8.	Fundamental science	8
9.	Industrial applications	9
10.	Thesis aims and structure	10
Chap	oter 2 - Comprehensive guide to acetyl-CoA carboxylases in algae	12
1.	Abstract	13
2.	Introduction	14
2	2.1 Why the interest in microalgal lipids?	14
2	2.2 Brief overview of lipid synthesis pathways	15
2	2.3 Structure of ACCase	18
3.	The theory of serial endosymbiosis	20
4.	ACCase structure in algae	25
4	4.1 Genomic information on the type of ACCase present in algae	25
4	1.2 Synthesis of the endosymbiotic theory and ACCase type in algae	27
4	1.3 Sequence alignment of binding regions of ACCase	28
5.	Impact of enzymes involved in lipid synthesis on lipid yield in algae	35
6.	Conclusions	37

Cha	apter 3	<ul> <li>Resolving conflicting phylogenetic views on algal taxonomy using cytos</li> </ul>	solic
and	plastic	lial acetyl-CoA carboxylase	39
1.	Abs	tract	40
2.	Intro	oduction	41
	2.1	Traditional view on algal phylogeny	41
	2.2	Advances in algal taxonomy	42
3.	Mat	erial and Methods	44
	3.1	Algal culture	44
	3.2	Total RNA extraction	45
	3.3	Illumina sequencing	45
	3.4	De novo transcriptome assembly	45
	3.5	Functional annotation	46
	3.6	Phylogenetic analysis	46
4.	Res	ults and Discussion	47
	4.1	Homomeric acetyl-CoA carboxylase characterisation	47
	4.2	Homomeric acetyl-CoA carboxylase phylogenetics	49
	4.3	Heteromeric acetyl-CoA carboxylase	53
	4.4	Conclusions	55
5.	Ack	nowledgements	56
Cha	apter 4	- The effect of nitrogen starvation on acetyl-CoA carboxylase expression	1
and fatty acid content in <i>Chromera velia</i> and <i>Isochrysis</i> aff <i>calbana</i> (TISO) 57			
1	۸he	tract	58
י. כ	Intro		
<u>ح</u> . ع	Mat	erials and Methods	
0.	3 1		02
	3.2		02
	33	Cell density and ash-free dry weight determination	02
	34	Harvesting method for total linids and fatty acid profiles	00
	35	Total linids	05
	3.6	Fatty acid profile	00
	37	Total RNA extraction	64
	3.8		04
Δ	D.U Res		-0 66
т.	4 1	Nutrient analysis	
	4.2	Growth and lipid content	
	4.3	Plastidial ACCase	

4.4 Cytosolic ACCase and fatty acid composition in <i>Chromera velia</i>			
5. Discussion7			
Chapter 5 - Effects of growth phase and nitrogen starvation on expression of fatty acid			
desaturases and fatty acid composition of <i>Isochrysis</i> aff. galbana (TISO)			
1. Abstract			
2. Introduction			
3. Materials and Methods82			
3.1 Algal culture82			
3.2 Experimental culture set-up82			
3.3 Quantitative real-time PCR82			
4. Results			
4.1 Growth profiles, biomass yields and nutrient status			
4.2 Fatty acid profiles			
4.3 Gene expression			
5. Discussion			
Chapter 6 - General discussion94			
1. Major conclusions and outcomes			
2. Synthesis and applications of research outcomes9			
2.1 Lipid metabolism in algae9			
2.2 Identification of cytosolic and plastidial homomeric ACCase			
2.3 Use of phylogenetic and metabolic information to improve lipid yields9			
3. Research recommendations			
3.1 Algal ACCase phylogeny and identification of localisation			
3.2 Expression of ACCase and desaturases correlated with fatty acid			
productivity and composition102			
Bibliography			
Appendix			

## List of tables and supplemental tables

Table 2.1	Presence or absence of heteromeric and homomeric ACCase in animals, plants, yeast, and bacteria
Table 2.2	Taxonomic relationship between chloroplasts of plants and different algal taxa, based by primary, secondary and tertiary endosymbiotic events22
Table 2.3	Summary of the presence and location of homomeric and heteromeric ACCase. N/A denotes no information available. (Details and source of the individual sequences are in Supplemental Table 1)26
Table 3.1	BLASTX results of putative ACCase nt sequences of <i>N. oculata</i> (2 sequences), <i>I.</i> aff. <i>galbana</i> (TISO) (1 sequence) and <i>C. velia</i> (2 sequences)
Table 3.2	Final transcripts after assembly and identification. Plastidial ACCase (ACC1) and cytoplasmic ACCase (ACC2). Abbreviations of regions: Start codon (start), ATP binding (BC), biotin binding (BCCP), carboxyl binding ( $\beta$ -CT), acetyl-CoA binding ( $\alpha$ -CT), stop codon (stop)
Table 4.1	Primer sequences, melting temperature (Tm) and amplified fragment length
	of target and reference gene of <i>C. velia</i> and <i>I.</i> aff. <i>galbana</i> (TISO). Plastidial ACCase is abbreviated ACC1, while cytosolic ACCase is abbreviated ACC2.
Table 4.2	of target and reference gene of <i>C. velia</i> and <i>I.</i> aff. <i>galbana</i> (TISO). Plastidial ACCase is abbreviated ACC1, while cytosolic ACCase is abbreviated ACC2.
Table 4.2 Table 5.1	of target and reference gene of <i>C. velia</i> and <i>I.</i> aff. <i>galbana</i> (TISO). Plastidial ACCase is abbreviated ACC1, while cytosolic ACCase is abbreviated ACC2. 
Table 4.2 Table 5.1 Table 5.2	of target and reference gene of <i>C. velia</i> and <i>I.</i> aff. <i>galbana</i> (TISO). Plastidial ACCase is abbreviated ACC1, while cytosolic ACCase is abbreviated ACC2

Supplemental Table 1 Complete list of heteromeric ACCase subunits and homome	əric	
ACCase with corresponding identification numbers and sources.	129	
Supplemental Table 2 Enzyme designations and NCBI ID numbers of the species		
used for the BLAST search of the full algal genomes.	132	
Supplemental Table 3 Species names, taxonomy, protein identification, size,		
identification numbers and sources of sequences used for the phylogene	tic	
analysis of homomeric ACCase.	133	
Supplemental Table 4 Species names, taxonomy, protein identification, size,		
identification numbers and sources of sequences used for the phylogene	tic	
analysis of the $\beta$ -carboxyltransferase subunit of heteromeric ACCase.	135	

### List of figures

- Fig. 2.1 Biochemical pathway of light dependent synthesis of fatty acids and synthesis of triacyl glycerides, phospholipids and galactolipids in plants (Enzymes: *AAT*, acyl-ACP thioesterase; *ACCase*, acetyl-CoA carboxylase;; *ACS*, acyl-CoA synthase; *DGAT*, acyl-CoA:diacylglycerol acyl-transferase; *DGD*, DGDG synthase; *FAS*, type II fatty acid synthase; *GPAT*, acyl-CoA:glycerol-3-phosphate acyl-transferase; *LPAAT*, lysophosphatidate acyl-transferase; *MGD*, MGDG synthase; *PAP*, phosphatidic acid phosphatase; *plPDC*, plastid pyruvate dehydrogenase complex; *SACPD*, stearoyl-ACP desaturase.
  Substrates and products: *DAG*, Diacylglycerol; *TAG*, Triacylglycerol; *MGDG*, monogalactosyldiacylglycerol; *DGDG*, digalactosyldiacylglycerol. (Illustration based on Ohlrogge and Jaworski (1997), Murphy (1999), Awai et al. (2007), Courchesne et al. (2009), Joyard et al. (2010) and Khozin-Goldberg and Cohen (2011)).
- Fig. 2.2 Heteromeric ACCase (prokaryotic) consists of multiple subunits, while homomeric ACCase (eukaryotic) is composed of one long, multifunctional protein (biotin carboxylase (BC), biotin carboxyl carrier (BCC) protein and carboxyltransferase (CT) domain) (Figure modified from Nikolau et al. (2003)).
- Fig. 2.3 A) algae with first generation chloroplast, B) algae with second generation chloroplast with 3 membranes, C) algae with second generation chloroplast with 4 membranes, two of which form the chloroplast endoplasmic reticulum D) algae with second generation chloroplast with 4 membranes, two of which form the chloroplast endoplasmic reticulum (CER) membrane, including a nucleomorph. 1. Chloroplast envelope derived from primary endosymbiotic event, 2. Bacterial chromosome, 3. Prokaryotic ribosomes, 4 Chloroplast envelope(s) derived from secondary endosymbiotic event, 5. CER outer membrane continuous with nuclear envelope and inner membrane compartmentalising the chloroplast from the ER, 6. Nucleomorph: remnant

- Fig. 2.5 Gene transfer (arrows) from chloroplast (C) to nucleus (N) of host (H) after primary endosymbiotic event A) and from the nucleus of chloroplast (N<sub>1</sub>) to host nucleus (N<sub>2</sub>) after secondary endosymbiotic event B). The dashed arrow shows the unlikely but possible gene transfer directly from the plastidial genome to the host nucleus (N<sub>2</sub>) after the secondary endosymbiotic event. ..24

- Fig. 2.8 Last 25 amino acids of the 51 amino acid carboxylbiotin binding region of βcarboxyl transferase (Roessler and Ohlrogge 1993). Grey highlights the most conservative regions within the heteromeric and homomeric forms. Blue and green species names denote homomeric ACCase positively identified to be found in the cytosol and chloroplast, respectively. Solid lines identify conserved regions in both heteromeric and homomeric ACCase. Details on

- Fig. 4.1 Left: Cell density (circles) and ash-free dry weight (diamonds) of nitrogen-deplete (closed) and nitrogen-replete (open) cultures of *Isochrysis* aff. *galbana* (TISO) and *Chromera velia*. Mean ± SE is shown, n = 4. Arrows indicate where cultures were harvested (L = logarithmic phase, LL = late logarithmic phase, S = stationary phase). Right: FAME (grey), non-FAME lipids (white) and total lipids (sum of grey and white) content of ash-free dry biomass for nitrogen-deplete and -replete cultures at different harvesting times. Mean ± SE is shown, n = 4.

- **Fig. 5.2** Relative gene expression of  $\Delta^6$ -desaturase (d6FAD),  $\Delta^8$ -desaturase (d8FAD),  $\Delta^5$ -desaturase (d5FAD) and  $\Delta^4$ -desaturase (d4FAD), using glyceraldehyde 3phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH), alpha-tubulin (TUA) and beta-tubulin (TUB) as reference genes, in nitrogen-deplete (closed) and nitrogen-replete (open) cultures of *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO). Mean ± SE is shown, n = 3. Letters indicate significant differences based on Tukey's post-hoc test (p < 0.05). ....88

### **Abbreviations**

α-CT	α-carboxyltransferase
ß-CT	ß-carboxyltransferase
aa	Amino acid
AAT	Acyl-ACP thioesterase
ACC1	Plastidial ACCase in algae
ACC2	Cytosolic ACCase in algae
ACCase	Acetyl-CoA carboxylase
ACP	Acyl carrier protein
ACS	Acyl-CoA synthase
AFDW	Ash-free dry weight
ALA	α-linoleic acid
ARA	Arachidonic acid
BC	Biotin carboxylase
BCCP	Biotin carboxyl carrier protein
BI	Bayesian inference
CER	Chloroplast endoplasmic reticulum
CMGP	Cyanidioschyzon merolae Genome Project
CoA	Coenzyme A
СТ	Carboxyltransferase
d4FAD	∆4-desaturase
d5FAD	$\Delta$ 5-desaturase
d6FAD	$\Delta$ 6-desaturase
d8FAD	$\Delta$ 8-desaturase
DAG	Diacylglycerol
DGAT	Acyl-CoA:diacylglycerol acyl-transferase
DGD	Digalactosyldiacylglycerol synthase
DGDG	Digalactosyldiacylglycerol
DGLA	Di-homo-γ-linoleic acid
DHA	Docosahexaenoic acid
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DSN	Duplex-specific thermostable nuclease
EPA	Eicosapentaenoic acid
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
ETA	Eicosatetraenoic acid
FA	Fatty acid
FAD	Fatty acid desaturase

FAME	Fatty acid methyl ester
FAS	Fatty acid synthase
FFA	Free fatty acid
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GLA	γ-linoleic acid
GPAT	Acyl-CoA:glycerol-3-phosphate acyl-transferase
HGT	Horizontal gene transfer
HTL	Hydrothermal liquefaction
JGI	Joint Genome Institute
L	Logarithmic growth phase
LA	Linoleic acid
LL	Late logarithmic growth phase
LPA	Lysophosphatidate
LPAAT	Lysophosphatidate acyl-transferase
MGD	Monogalactosyldiacylglycerol synthase
MGDG	Monogalactosyldiacylglycerol
ML	Maximum likelihood
N-	Cultures grown under nitrogen-deplete starting conditions
N+	Cultures grown under nitrogen-replete starting conditions
NCBI	National Center for Biotechnology Information
nt	Nucleotide
PA	Phosphatidic acid
PAP	Phosphatidic acid phosphatase
pIPDC	Plastid pyruvate dehydrogenase complex
PUFA	Polyunsaturated fatty acid
qPCR	Quantitative polymerase chain reaction
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
S	Stationary growth phase
SACPD	Stearoyl-ACP desaturase
SAR	Stramenopile, Alveolata, Rhizaria
SC-FA	Short-chain fatty acid
SDA	Stearidonic acid
SE	Standard error
TAG	Triacylglyceride
TE	Transesterification
VLC-FA	Very long-chain fatty acid
VLC-PUFA	Very long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid

#### 1. Fatty acids as a renewable source

Modern society is heavily dependent on fuel for transportation, essential nutrition for our general wellbeing, and bio-based polymers. The increasing world population, and therefore increasing demand for these products, makes the development of new sustainable resources a priority. In addition, carbon neutral or negative production systems are desirable, if climate change is to be taken into consideration. Phototrophic organisms like plants, algae and cyanobacteria have an immense potential as renewable resources to alleviate many of the current issues.

In terms of versatility, fatty acids are the most interesting photosynthetic product, having applications in human nutrition, and the production of renewable fuels and plastics. Oxygenic photolithotrophic organisms use solar energy,  $CO_2$  and  $H_2O$  to produce organic molecules (e.g. amino acids, nucleotides, carbohydrates and lipids) and  $O_2$  through oxygenic photosynthesis. Of these organic molecules, lipids are the most highly reduced, and consequently have the highest energy density (Durrett et al., 2008). Lipids can take a variety of forms; the most common lipids are polar membrane lipids and neutral triacylglycerides (TAGs), which are made up by one glycosylglyceride, phosphoglyceride, or glyceride molecule esterified with two to three molecules of fatty acids (FAs). FAs can measure between 4 and 28 carbon atoms in length and are made up of a carboxylic group with a long, generally unbranched, aliphatic tail. The aliphatic tail can contain a variable number of double bonds, in which case the FAs are called unsaturated, while saturated FAs do not contain double bonds in their carbon chain. Most FAs of plants and algae tend to have an even number of carbon atoms and the double bonds of unsaturated FAs mostly occur in cisconfiguration, resulting in a curved tail. The length and number of double bonds affect the chemical and physical properties of the FAs. FAs are very versatile in their application, depending on their length and level of unsaturation. Long-chained polyunsaturated fatty acids are an essential component of human nutrition (Adarme-Vega et al., 2014), short-chained, saturated or mono-unsaturated FAs can be used to produce fuel for transportation in the form of biodiesel (Atabani et al., 2012), while a variety of FAs are used in the production of renewable polymeric materials (Lligadas et al., 2013).

The FA nomenclature used in this thesis will take the form of CX:Yn-Z, where X is the total number of carbon atoms, Y the number of double bonds and Z the position of the first double bond counted from the terminal methyl carbon towards the carbonyl carbon. Due to the importance of the position of the last double bond in the aliphatic

chain, FAs will be categorized into  $\omega$ -3 and  $\omega$ -6, where appropriate, which again refers to the first double bond from the terminal methyl carbon end.

#### 2. Fatty acids in nutrition

As an essential nutritional component for humans, very long-chain polyunsaturated FAs (VLC-PUFAs) positively affect cardiovascular health (Delgado-Lista et al., 2012, Vlachopoulos et al., 2013), inflammation (Kiecolt-Glaser et al., 2012, Rangel-Huerta et al., 2012), infant development (Luchtman and Song, 2013, Gil-Campos and Sanjurjo Crespo, 2012, Swanson et al., 2012), learning and behaviour (Kuratko et al., 2013), and neurodegenerative diseases (Crupi et al., 2013, Swanson et al., 2012). VLC-PUFAs for human consumption are currently mainly obtained from oily fish species like herring, mackerel, sardine and salmon (Gunstone, 1996), with the demand for VLC-PUFAs soon expected to exceed current yields from aquaculture and fisheries (Sijtsma and de Swaaf, 2004), especially considering the current overfishing of the oceans (Myers and Worm, 2003). FAs also form an important feed ingredient component for animals grown in aquaculture, with the amount and composition of fatty acids being an important nutritional quality factor (Fidalgo et al., 1998). For example, VLC-PUFAs are essential for the growth, development and survival of marine fish larvae (Eamta et al., 2003), shrimp (Cavalli et al., 1999) and molluscs (Langdom and Waldock, 1981, Knaur and Southgate, 1999). VLC-PUFAs therefore play an important role in human health, be it directly as a food supplement, or indirectly through the consumption of farmed species which were grown on a high VLC-PUFA diet. Unfortunately, oilseed plants mainly produce monounsaturated FAs (i.e. with one double bond), and the production of VLC- PUFAs in plants would therefore only be possible by using genetically modified organisms (López Alonso and García Maroto, 2000).

#### 3. Fatty acids as fuel

Sustainable fuel supply for combustion engines is especially important for the transport industry, such as marine vessels (Lin, 2013) and aviation (Winchester et al., 2013), where other sustainable alternatives, like solar electricity, are often not suitable. There are a variety of processes to produce biofuels from algal biomass, each with different requirements. The traditional approach involves the direct production of biodiesel from dried algal biomass through transesterification (TE) of TAGs to FA alkyl esters, requiring large amounts of neutral lipids and not utilising the remaining biomass directly (Sheehan et al., 1998, Islam et al., 2013). Conversely, many modern processes are more efficient and make use of the entirety of the biomass to produce a bio-crude, which then can be fed into a traditional refinery to produce conventional fuels through

hydrocracking (Biller and Ross, 2011). For example, hydrothermal liquefaction (HTL) involves the treatment of wet biomass with high temperatures (300- 350 °C) and pressure (approximately 200 bar) (Biller and Ross, 2011). A recent study in *Nannochloropsis* sp. produced a bio-crude which contained 80 % of the original energy of the algal biomass (Valdez et al., 2012). However, the high temperature and pressure involved in HTL is energy intensive and requires more advanced equipment than TE, making TE more suitable for localised production of biofuels at remote biomass production facilities (Islam et al., 2013, Biller and Ross, 2011).

The lipid content and FA composition of the algal feedstock are important factors in biofuel production. For example, HTL of algal biomass with a high lipid content leads to better yields of bio-crude, compared to algal biomass high in proteins or carbohydrates (Biller and Ross, 2011). Furthermore, the fuel quality of biodiesel after TE depends on the characteristics of the various individual fatty acid alkyl esters, which are determined by their structural features (chain length, number of double bonds and chain branching) and the alkyl ester group (Knothe, 2005, Islam et al., 2013). Fuels with higher cetane numbers have shorter ignition delays, run more smoothly and have more complete combustion (Nelson, 1958). Biodiesel with high amounts of long-chained, or saturated FAs, exhibit a higher cetane number, but also have a higher cloud point (temperature where dissolved solubles start precipitating, which can clog fuel filters and injectors) and poor cold flow qualities (Pinto et al., 2005). Cold flow qualities are important for biodiesel used in cold climates (Nelson, 1958). In contrast, biodiesel high in unsaturated FAs has a low cetane number and poor oxidation stability (resistance to degradation through oxidisation), but does not have the disadvantages of saturated FAbased biodiesel mentioned above (Pinto et al., 2005). It is therefore important to produce biodiesel with correct mixtures of different FAs for maximal efficiency and a good exhaust profile. Oleic acid (C18:1 n-9) particularly exhibits a combination of desirable characteristics (Knothe, 2005, Islam et al., 2013). One suggestion for an optimal fuel mix is C16:1, C18:1 and C14:0 in a ratio of 5:4:1, resulting in good oxidative stability, while retaining good cold flow characteristics and a high cetane number (Schenk et al., 2008). These parameters, in addition to the presence of contaminants like glycerine, catalyst, alcohol and free fatty acids, are important for biodiesel quality standards, which differ among regulatory bodies (Knothe, 2006).

#### 4. Fatty acid derived polymers and other products

Fossil feedstocks are not only used for fuel production, but also in the manufacturing of plastics, paints, adhesives and many other materials (Lligadas et al., 2013, Williams and Hillmyer, 2008). Fossil feedstock derived polymers are unsustainable in the long run, as they are affected by peak oil in the same way as fossil derived fuels, making the search for renewable feedstocks for polymer production essential. The use of biobased FAs as alternative feedstocks in the chemical industry has many advantages, including high biodegradability, low cost, and low toxicity (Lligadas et al., 2013). These polymers derived from FAs have the potential to be as cost-effective as petroleumbased materials, with the added benefit of lower ecological impact (Williams and Hillmyer, 2008). Potential FA derived end products include lubricants, paints, cosmetics, pharmaceuticals, biomedical products, plasticizers and construction materials (Gallezot, 2012). The presence of a carboxyl group and double bonds provides a variety of possibilities for cross-linking. For example, double bonds can be epoxidised, which allows the reaction with other molecules for polymerisation (Lligadas et al., 2013, Gallezot, 2012). Currently, bio-based polymers are mainly derived from terrestrial plants (Lligadas et al., 2013).

#### 5. Market sizes

Algae have a vast potential to replace unsustainable resources in the production of omega-3 FAs, fuel and polymers. The global market in omega-3 FAs was estimated at USD 1.6 billion in 2010, expected to reach USD 2.5 billion in 2014, and projected to reach USD 4 billion by 2018 (Report: *Global Omega 3 (EPA/DHA) Ingredients Market - Industry Analysis, Market Size, Share, Growth and Forecast, 2010 - 2018*; http://www.transparencymarketresearch.com). While North America constitutes the largest market for omega-3 FAs, the Asia-Pacific (East Asia, Southeast Asia and Oceania) market is considered to be the most promising in terms of growth. Of the expected omega-3 FAs production in 2014, 18.9% are anticipated to be 37.5 % (Report: *Global Analysis of the Marine and Algae Omega-3 Ingredients Market*; Frost & Sullivan; http://www.frost.com/sublib/display-report.do?id=N97E-01-00-00-00).

The demand for renewable fuels is rapidly increasing, with growing pressure to improve energy security and the implementation of renewable fuel standards that mandate the increasing percentage of renewable fuels blended into transportation fuel. The global biofuel market has been valued at USD 83 billion in 2011 and is expected to double by 2021 (Report: *Global biofuels market could double to \$185.3 billion by 2021*; http://clea

ntechnica.com/2012/02/20/report-global-biofuels-market-could-double-to-185-3-billionby-2021/#pmWB4exBJIGyOjwz.99). The biofuel market is currently dominated by ethanol produced from corn and sugar cane, which is not projected to change by 2021 (Report: *Biofuels markets and technologies*; http://www.navigantresearch.com/research /biofuels-markets-and-technologies).

The use of bio-based polymers is still comparatively small and is expected to account for approximately 1 % of the world-wide polymer production in 2015 (Babu et al., 2013). Nevertheless, the natural FA market for biopolymer production is showing a similar increase to omega-3 FAs, being valued at USD 7.2 billion in 2011, USD 6.9 billion in 2012, and is expected to reach USD 13 billion in 2017 (Report: *Global markets for oleochemical fatty acids*; www.bccresearch.com). Considering the total polymer industry is estimated to reach USD 567 billion in 2017 (Report: *Global Polymer Industry 2012 to 2017: Trend, Profit, and Forecast Analysis*; http:// http://www.lucintel.com), there is still a lot of potential in this market to expand on bio-based polymers.

The use of terrestrial plants as the main renewable feedstock for most biofuel and biobased polymers, is unfortunately not completely sustainable, and could therefore become limited in future. Most terrestrial plants are dependent on arable land and directly compete with food production (e.g. Chen and Khanna (2013) and Zilberman et al. (2013)). For example, the production of ethanol from crops artificially inflates the prices of corn, wheat and rice (Bahel et al., 2013, de Gorter et al., 2013). Furthermore, the clearing of land, for example for the planting of oil palms for biodiesel production, increases the net output of greenhouse gases (e.g. Hallgren et al. (2013) and Timilsina and Mevel (2013)), and has a negative impact on biodiversity (e.g. Immerzeel et al. (2013) and Fitzherbert et al. (2008)).

#### 6. Sources of fatty acids

As outlined before, there is a clear need for VLC-PUFAs for human nutrition, and FAs in general to replace dwindling fossil feedstocks for fuel and polymer production. However, the adequate supply of these FA based renewable resources in large enough quantities is problematic. It is therefore important to find renewable sources that do not directly compete with food production and do not require the clearing of vast land areas. Microalgal production systems are independent of arable land and brackish water can be used for many species, removing the direct competition with food production. In addition, waste CO<sub>2</sub> from power plants, cement kilns, landfills and anaerobic digesters can be used directly to enhance production (Sheehan et al., 1998). Many microalgae are naturally high in FAs, especially VLC-PUFAs (Martínez-

Fernández et al., 2006, Huerlimann et al., 2010). Furthermore, microalgae are highly efficient in converting solar energy into algal biomass (up to 10%), and have a high lipid content, commonly 20-50% of dry weight (Sheehan et al., 1998, Spolaore et al., 2006, Rittmann, 2008, Schenk et al., 2008). There are additional benefits of microalgae compared to plants. Microalgae tend to have short doubling times (0.35 - 1 day) and harvesting can be continuous (independent of seasons) (Rittmann, 2008). This results in up to 20 times higher lipid production per unit area of land compared to terrestrial oilseed crops (Chisti, 2008, Rittmann, 2008, Sheehan et al., 1998).

#### 7. Algal lipid synthesis pathways

Until recently, details on the lipid synthesis pathways in algae were limited. Most information available was scattered within the literature. Chapter 2 provides a detailed description of the current state of knowledge of the lipid synthesis pathways in algae. Accordingly only a short summary will be provided here.

Due to their close evolutionary relationship of their plastids, it is assumed that the plastidial biochemical pathways in plants and algae are similar (Livne and Sukenik, 1990, Roessler, 1990, Roessler et al., 1994). In plants, the de novo synthesis of FAs and the synthesis of galactolipids are located in the plastids, while the desaturation and elongation of FAs, and the synthesis of TAGs and phospholipids are located in the smooth endoplasmic reticulum (ER). FAs up to C16 and C18 are synthesised in the plastid by fatty acid synthase from malonyl-CoA, which is in turn synthesised by acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACCase) from acetyl-CoA. Due to its location at the beginning of the de novo FA synthesis pathway, ACCase is considered a key enzyme in the production of FAs (Ohlrogge and Jaworski, 1997) and therefore provides an interesting target to investigate lipid synthesis in algae. In plants, ACCase occurs in two different locations: 1) in the cytosol, where it is involved in the elongation of FAs, and 2) in plastids, where it is involved in *de novo* FA synthesis (Nikolau et al., 2003). In addition to the two locations, there are two forms of ACCase: 1) heteromeric ACCase of prokaryotic origin, and 2) homomeric ACCase of eukaryotic origin. While the cytosolic ACCase of eukaryotes is always homomeric, algal plastids can potentially contain the heteromeric or homomeric form of ACCase, depending on the evolutionary history of the algae in question. While ACCase provides an interesting target for *de novo* FA synthesis in the plastid and FA elongation in the smooth ER, the enzyme is not involved in the desaturation of FAs. If an increase in VLC-PUFAs is desired, research should also investigate desaturases, which introduce double bonds at specific locations in FAs. In

general, questions about lipid synthesis, elongation and desaturation can be loosely divided into fundamental science and industrial applications.

#### 8. Fundamental science

Algae show great taxonomic diversity, with new species still being described (De Clerck et al., 2013). The presence of several endosymbiotic events, where a heterotrophic cell took up a cyanobacterium (primary) or phototrophic eukaryotic organism (secondary or tertiary), complicates the phylogenetic investigation of algae. In addition to endosymbiotic gene transfer, gene duplication and horizontal gene transfer events further confound phylogenetic analyses. As a result, algal phylogeny is still not completely resolved (Bodył et al., 2009, Keeling, 2010).

Eukaryotic life is currently divided into six major supergroups, Opisthokonta, Amoebozoa, Archaeplastida, Rhizaria, Chromalveolata and Excavata (Adl et al., 2005, Keeling et al., 2005), of which the last four contain photosynthetic members. The Archaeplastida include the Viridiplantae (land plants and green algae), the Rhodophyta (red algae) and the Glaucocystophyta (a small group of freshwater microalgae) (Ball et al., 2011). There is strong evidence that the plastids of these three groups evolved from a single primary endosymbiotic event involving a cyanobacterium (Archibald, 2012). The majority of algal diversity, however, appears to be a testament to secondary and tertiary endosymbiotic events. At least three secondary endosymbiotic events gave rise to a large number of highly diverse organisms with plastids derived either from a red or green alga. The red lineage, first proposed by Cavalier-Smith (1998; 1999), is composed of the Chromalveolata, joining the former supergroups Chromista (containing the Cryptophyta, Haptophyta and Stramenopiles) and Alveolata (comprising of Apicomplexa, Chromerida, Ciliophora and Dinoflagellata). The green lineage is comprised of the Chlorarachniophyta (Rhizaria) and Euglophyta (Excavata). Even though the phylogenetic relationships within these phyla are better resolved, the relationships on a broader evolutionary level are still contested.

As mentioned above, algae potentially contain heteromeric or homomeric ACCase in their plastid. However, the presence of either form in the plastids of algae has not been well documented and needs revision. Publications mentioning ACCase in algae often cite heteromeric ACCase to be present in the plastid (e.g. Guarnieri et al. (2013)). Unfortunately, a thorough investigation of the presence of heteromeric and homomeric ACCase in the plastids of algae has not been performed to date. Furthermore, the dual locations of ACCase (cytosolic and plastidial) and the possibility of various origins of the plastidial form may provide a way to further unravel the unresolved phylogeny of

algae. Lastly, even though studying the phylogeny of algae is mainly fundamental science, there are also industrial applications, as outlined below.

#### 9. Industrial applications

While the production of biodiesel from algae is technically feasible, it is not yet economically viable and an increase in lipid productivity is of importance for the industry (Griffiths and Harrison, 2009). Unfortunately, the high lipid content of algae does not necessarily equate to high lipid productivity. There is a strong negative linear relationship between lipid content and biomass productivity (Fig. 1.1). Algae with high lipid content tend to have slow growth rates and vice versa. The conditions under which algae accumulate lipids can provide an explanation to this observation. During logarithmic growth, most lipids are glycerol-based membrane lipids (polar lipids such as glycosylglycerides and phosphoglycerides) (Hu et al. 2008). In contrast, TAGs are used by microalgae to store energy and have no structural function (Harwood & Jones 1989, Hu et al. 2008). As cell division slows down or ceases, due to reaching stationary growth phase, nutrient starvation, or other stress factors, photosynthetic energy is diverted to lipid production, resulting in the accumulation of TAGs (Hu et al., 2008, Sheehan et al., 1998, Guschina and Harwood, 2006). However, this comes at the cost of decreased growth, which often offsets the higher lipid content, resulting in lower overall productivity (Rodolfi et al., 2009). It is therefore unrealistic to find an algal species that excels in both areas. Fortunately, the complex nature of algal evolution resulted in a wide variety of taxa, with high genetic diversity (Gimpel et al., 2013). This genetic diversity leaves room for improvement through appropriate species selection. Interestingly, species belonging to Stramenopiles and Haptophyta tend to have lower biomass productivity and higher lipid content, while species belonging to Chlorophyta and Rhodophyta are at the opposite end of the productivity spectrum (Fig. 1.1).

It is worthy to note that the Stramenopiles and Haptophyta contain a plastid derived from a secondary endosymbiotic event, while Chlorophyta and Rhodophyta derived their plastid through a primary endosymbiotic event. In addition, a review of 74 published microalgal FA-analysis profiles showed that the fatty acid composition is highly species dependent (Volkman *et al.* 1989, Volkman *et al.* 1991, Viso & Marty 1993, Renaud *et al.* 1999, Tonon *et al.* 2002, Martínez-Fernández *et al.* 2006, Natrah *et al.* 2007, Xu *et al.* 2008). FAs commonly found in algae range from the unsaturated FAs myristic acid (14:0) and palmitic acid (16:0), through the monounsaturated FAs palmitoleic acid (16:1 n-7) and oleic acid (18:1 n-9), to the polyunsaturated FAs eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA, 20:5 n-3) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA, 22:6 n-3).



**Fig. 1.1** Biomass productivity of different species belonging to the Chlorophyta (green diamonds), Haptophyta (yellow squares), Stramenopiles (blue triangles) and Rhodophyta (red circle) versus lipid content, showing a decrease in lipid content with increasing biomass productivity ( $R^2 = 0.5427$ ) (Based on data taken from Rodolfi et al. (2009))

It becomes apparent that there are distinct differences between the diverse algal species in terms of lipid productivity and FA composition. Since the biochemical pathways in algae are assumed to be conserved, differences in lipid productivity and FA composition are partially based on differences in gene expression patterns. It is therefore important to have a good understanding of algal phylogeny and taxa specific differences in biochemical pathways and gene expression, to facilitate species selection for the different applications (Knothe, 2005).

#### 10. Thesis aims and structure

The overarching goal of this thesis was to increase our knowledge and understanding of microalgal lipid biosynthesis in terms of phylogeny and gene expression patterns. Derived from this goal, the four aims of this thesis were: 1) to describe the fatty acid synthesis pathways in algae with a special focus on ACCase, 2) to investigate the phylogeny of homomeric ACCase and how it relates to current algal taxonomy, 3) to investigate changes in ACCase expression under nitrogen starvation and 4) to investigate changes in desaturase expression under nitrogen starvation. These four aims relate to four data chapters, outlined below. The last chapter comprises of a general synthesis and discussion of all topics covered in this thesis.

Chapter 2 provides the background on algal FA synthesis, with a focus on the key enzyme acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACCase). It describes the *de novo* FA synthesis pathway, followed by the pathways leading to triacylglycerides, phospholipids, and galactolipids. Furthermore, this chapter describes the different types (heteromeric and homomeric) and locations (cytosolic and plastidial) of ACCase and addresses the presence of either type in the plastid in terms of algal phylogeny.

Chapter 3 describes the phylogeny of the newly sequenced plastidial and cytosolic homomeric ACCases from the algae *Nannochloropsis oculata*, *Isochrysis* aff. *galbana* (TISO) and *Chromera velia*, compared to existing sequences from a variety of other algal species and plants. This phylogeny is discussed in view of past and current opinions on algal taxonomy. In addition, the phylogeny of the plastid-encoded  $\beta$ -carboxyltransferase is investigated.

In chapter 4, the expression of the ACCase genes of *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO) and *C. velia*, sequenced in Chapter 3, are investigated. Cultures were grown in nitrogen-replete and nitrogen-deplete conditions and samples were harvested during the logarithmic, late logarithmic and stationary growth phases. Gene expression data is correlated to lipid content data.

Chapter 5 reports on the expression of four important fatty acid desaturases in *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO). Samples from the same cultures grown for chapter 4 were further analysed for this chapter. Gene expression data of the four desaturases is correlated to FA composition data.

Lastly, chapter 6 presents a synopsis of the major research findings described in each of the previous chapters, outlines how the research presented in this thesis overall contributes to our understanding of microalgal lipid biosynthesis, and offers an outlook into further research.

Though research presented in this thesis is entirely my own, publications resulting from chapters 2 to 5 will be, or have been, published as co-authored manuscripts and a "statement of contribution" is given outlining the involvement of the co-authors.

Every reasonable effort has been made to gain permission and acknowledge the owners of copyright material. I would be pleased to hear from any copyright owner who has been omitted or incorrectly acknowledged.

## Chapter 2 - Comprehensive guide to acetyl-CoA carboxylases in algae

The following chapter is a collaborative effort of which each author's contribution is outlined below.

#### **Contribution:**

Roger Huerlimann: Conception and execution of project, writing and editing chapter. Kirsten Heimann: Supervision, editing.

**Published:** Huerlimann, R. and Heimann, K. (2012). "Comprehensive guide to acetylcarboxylases in algae." <u>Critical Reviews in Biotechnology</u> **33**(1): 49-65

#### 1. Abstract

Lipids from microalgae have become an important commodity in the last 20 years. Biodiesel and supplementing human diets with  $\omega$ -3 fatty acids are just two of the many applications. Acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACCase) is a key enzyme in the lipid synthesis pathway. In general, ACCases consist of four functional domains: the biotin carboxylase (BC), the biotin carboxyl binding protein (BCCP), and  $\alpha$ -and  $\beta$ carboxyltransferases ( $\alpha$ -and  $\beta$ -CT). In algae, like in plants, lipid synthesis is another function of the plastid. Despite being well researched in plants and animals, there is a distinct lack of information about this enzyme in the taxonomically diverse algae. In plastid-containing organism, ACCases are present in the cytosol and the plastid and two different forms exist, the heteromeric (prokaryotic) and homomeric (eukaryotic) form. Despite recognition of the existence of the two ACCase forms, generalised published statements still list the heteromeric form as the one present in algal plastids. Here it was show this is not the case for all algae. The presence of heteromeric or homomeric ACCase is dependent on the origin of the plastid. ACCase amino acid sequences were compared to show that green and red algae, with the exception of the green algal class Prasinophyceae, contain heteromeric ACCase in their plastids, which are of primary symbiotic origin and surrounded by two envelope membranes. In contrast, algae with plastids surrounded by three to four membranes which were derived through secondary endosymbiosis (Stramenopiles and Haptophyta), as well as apicoplast containing Apicomplexa, contain homomeric ACCase in their plastids. We discovered distinctive differences in the substrate binding regions of heteromeric and homometric  $\alpha$ -CT and  $\beta$ -CT, which can be used to distinguish between the two ACCase types. Furthermore, the acetyl-CoA binding region of homometric  $\alpha$ -CT can be used to distinguish between cytosolic and plastidial ACCase. The information provided here will be of fundamental importance in ACCase expression and activity research in order to unravel impacts of environmental and physicochemical parameters on lipid content and productivity.

#### 2. Introduction

#### 2.1 Why the interest in microalgal lipids?

Lipids from microalgae gained increased interest over the last 20 years because of a wide range of possible applications. Lipids, especially  $\omega$ -3 fatty acids (FAs), play a very important role as a fish oil replacement in aquaculture feeds (Brown et al., 1997, Martínez-Fernández et al., 2006) and human health foods (reviewed in Pulz and Gross (2004)). More recent applications are biodiesel (Chisti, 2007, Hu et al., 2008, Schenk et al., 2008) and bio-plastics (Ono and Cuello, 2006).

Ideally, due to the high costs associated with microalgal large-scale culturing and harvesting, all parts of the microalgal cell should be converted into products. Other valuable products are colouring substances (pigments: e.g. carotenoids), antioxidants (e.g.  $\beta$ -carotene, astaxanthin), poly-unsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), and cosmetics (proteins, polysaccharides and lipids) (reviewed in Spolaore et al. (2006)). The remaining biomass after lipid extraction can be used as animal feed additives, fertiliser (reviewed in Pulz and Gross (2004) and Spolaore et al. (2006)), or biochar (Grierson et al., 2009).

Next to proteins and carbohydrates, lipids are one of the three major classes of metabolites in all cells. Lipids are critical to cell function, including energy storage, cell membrane structure and fluidity, and as signalling molecules (Hannun and Obeid, 2008, Moreau et al., 1998). The complete lipid synthesis pathway contains many enzymes in different cellular compartments. Acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACCase) is located at the start of the lipid synthesis pathway. It is a key enzyme that diverts energy in the form of ATP and carbon in the form of carbon dioxide into the production of fatty acids (FAs) through the production of malonyl-CoA from acetyl-CoA. FAs are the building blocks for many structural (e.g. sphingo-, galacto- and phospholipids) and all storage lipids (e.g. triacylclycerides).

Applications that are based on lipids mainly depend on neutral lipids, in the form of triacylglycerides (TAGs), which are used for energy storage and have no structural function (Hu et al., 2008, Harwood and Jones, 1989). Other glycerol-based lipids are associated with the cell membrane and consist of polar lipids such as glycosylglycerides and phosphoglycerides (Hu et al., 2008).

As a key enzyme, the critical role of ACCase in lipid synthesis is a prerequisite to improve the production of microalgal lipid-derived bio-products (fuel, omega-3 fatty acids etc.). Furthermore, due to the occurrence of two different types of ACCase in the

chloroplast of different algal taxa, it provides a unique opportunity to examine the evolution of plastids in plants and algae.

This chapter will provide a brief overview of the lipid synthesis pathway, followed by a description of the different types of ACCase. The theory of serial endosymbiosis is then introduced, which is important to understand the presence of the two plastidial types of ACCase in different algal taxa. ACCase amino acid sequence comparisons of the different binding regions are used to identify the intracellular location of ACCases and the form present in the chloroplasts of algae and apicoplasts of apicomplexans (collectively referred to as plastids). This information is then related to algal phylogeny. The chapter ends in discussing the impact of ACCase overexpression on lipid yield.

#### 2.2 Brief overview of lipid synthesis pathways

For efficient functioning of the cell and regulatory purposes, biochemical pathways are compartmentalised into various locations within a cell. To understand the importance of different enzymes and their effect on lipid synthesis, it is necessary to have a basic knowledge of the different locations of lipid synthesis. Regardless of the eukaryotic organism (plants, algae, fungi or animals), there is a common basic biosynthetic pathway for the synthesis of FAs and lipids with similar key enzymes being used.

The synthesis of TAGs in eukaryotes can be divided into three major steps: 1) the synthesis of malonyl-CoA from acetyl-CoA by acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACCase, EC 6.4.1.2); 2) the elongation of the acyl chain by fatty acid synthase (FAS, EC 2.3.1.85); and 3) the formation of TAGs. However, the location of the different steps varies among organisms.

In organisms that do not contain plastids (such as animals, fungi and bacteria), the first two major steps of lipid synthesis, the de novo synthesis of FA up to C16 or C18 acetyl-CoA, occur in the cytosol (Wolfgang and Lane, 2006). In animal cells, mitochondria supply the acetyl-CoA used in this reaction. Conversely, in plastid-containing organisms (including plants, algae and apicoplasts-containing apicomplexan parasites) the first two major steps of lipid synthesis occur in the plastid, due to the immediate availability of the starter component acetyl-CoA. In photosynthesising plant cells, acetyl-CoA used for the production of malonyl-CoA originates from 3-phosphoglycerate in the Benson-Calvin, through the intermediates 2-phosphoglycerate and phosphoenolpyruvate, ending in the decarboxylation of the pyruvate to acetyl-CoA by the plastid pyruvate dehydrogenase complex (pIPDC) (Joyard et al., 2010) (Fig. 2.1). The third step of lipid synthesis, the formation of TAGs, as well as the elongation

(beyond C16 or C18) and desaturation of FAs, are associated within the smooth endoplasmic reticulum (ER) in all eukaryotes (Fig. 2.1).

The lipid synthesis pathway in algae, which occurs in plastids and the smooth ER membrane, is poorly researched compared to animals and plants, but is considered to be similar to plants. In plants, the first two steps are located in plastids, while the last step is located in the smooth ER. However, recent research showed that the green alga *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* has the ability to assemble TAGs in the plastid (Fan et al., 2011). In plants, ACCase is found in plastids and the cytosol. In plastids, malonyl-CoA is used for *de novo* fatty acid biosynthesis, while malonyl-CoA in the cytosol acts as a precursor for fatty acid elongation and synthesis of secondary metabolites (Nikolau et al., 2003). In animals, on the other hand, *de novo* FA synthesis occurs solely in the cytosol with cytosolic ACCase (ACC1) providing malonyl-CoA (Abu-Elheiga et al., 2000).

FAS produces FAs through condensation of malonyl-ACP with acetyl-ACP (first step of elongation) or acyl-ACP (consecutive steps) (Fig. 2.1). Different acyl-ACP thioesterases (AAT) terminate the chain elongation of FAs through FAS by hydrolysing acyl-ACP into free fatty acids (FFAs) (Joyard et al., 2010). This dictates the chain-length of the newly synthesised FAs, but has most likely no large impact on the FA synthesis rate. As the FAs leave the chloroplast, acetyl-CoA synthase (ACS) joins the FA with a cofactor A (CoA) to form acyl-CoA.

FAs of the acyl-CoA pool in the cytosol can be elongated and desaturated in the smooth ER (Fig. 2.1) (Cook 1996). Furthermore, the production of phospholipids and TAGs also occurs in the smooth ER (Fig. 2.1). One FA is transferred from acyl-CoA to the sn-1 position of glycerol-3-phosphate by acyl-CoA:glycerol-3-phosphate acyl-transferase (GPAT) to form lysophosphatidate (LPA). Lysophosphatidate acyl-transferase (LPAAT) then converts LPA into phosphatidate (PA) by adding another FA chain to the sn-2 position. Phosphatidic acid phosphatase (PAP) converts phosphatidate into diacylglycerol (DAG) by removing the phosphate at sn-3 position. Acyl-CoA:diacylglycerol acyl-transferase (DGAT) is unique to the TAG biosynthetic pathway and catalyses the formation of TAG from DAG and acyl-CoA (for more details see Ohlrogge and Jaworski (1997) and Joyard et al. (2010)).
SACPD, stearoyl-ACP desaturase. pyruvate dehydrogenase complex; ACCase, acetyl-CoA carboxylase; et al. (2010) and Khozin-Goldberg DGDG, digalactosyldiacylglycerol (1999), Awai et al. (2007), Courchesne et al. (2009), Joyard light dependent synthesis of fatty synthase; PAP, phosphatidic acic galactolipids in plants (Enzymes: Fig. 2.1 Biochemical pathway of ACS, acyl-CoA synthase; DGAT transferase; DGD, DGDG synthase; FAS, type II fatty acid synthase; GPAT, acyl-CoA:glycerol-3-phosphate acyl-Substrates and products: DAG, (Illustration based on Ohlrogge glycerides, phospholipids and monogalactosyldiacylglycerol; and Jaworski (1997), Murphy phosphatase; pIPDC, plastid AAT, acyl-ACP thioesterase; acids and synthesis of triacyl acyl-CoA:diacylglycerol acyltransferase; MGD, MGDG Triacylglycerol; MGDG, lysophosphatidate acyl-Diacylglycerol; TAG, transferase; LPAAT, and Cohen (2011))



Page 17 of 135

While there are other critical enzymes present in the lipid synthesis pathway, Acetyl-CoA carboxylase occupies a unique position as it is involved in diverting the flow of carbon and energy towards lipid production and away from other biochemical products in the cell (e.g. carbohydrates). However, the structure of ACCase differs significantly among different types of plants and algae and therefore ACCases can be used to determine differences in regulation and activity, as well as phylogenetic problems.

#### 2.3 Structure of ACCase

ACCase occurs in two different forms: 1) a heteromeric (or prokaryotic) form, where the four domains biotin carboxylase (BC), biotin carboxyl carrier protein (BCCP) and two carboxyltransferases ( $\alpha$ -CT and  $\beta$ -CT) are located on individual subunits, and 2) a homomeric (or eukaryotic) form, where the four domains are located on one long multifunctional polypeptide (Fig. 2.2).





The heteromeric form is found in prokaryotes and in the plastids of most plants (Table 2.1). The subunits are encoded by four genes, accA ( $\alpha$ -CT), accB (BCCP), accC (BC) and accD ( $\beta$ -CT) (Sasaki and Nagano, 2004). In plants, accA, accB and accC are located in the nuclear genome, while accD is plastid-encoded (Sasaki and Nagano, 2004). The high prevalence of accD genes found in the plastidial genomes of algae suggests this is also the case in the algal taxa containing heteromeric ACCase (Supplemental Table 1). However, Chan et al. (2012) found accA, accB and accD encoded in the plastidial genome of *Porphyra* sp., which could indicate that there are differences between Chlorophyta and Rhodophyta. This is supported by the

observation that other plastidial genomes of Rhodophyta analysed for this study often contained sequences for accA, accB and accD, but were lacking sequences of accC, which must be encoded on the nuclear genome (Supplemental Table 1). The homomeric form of ACCase is found in the cytosol of plants, animals, and yeast, as well as in the plastids of Poaceae (true grasses) (Table 2.1). All homomeric ACCases are encoded on the nuclear genome and share a high degree of sequence conservation of the functional domains: NH2-BC-BCCP-CT-COOH (Nikolau et al., 2003). Interestingly, analogous to the structure of ACCase, the type 2 fatty acid synthase (FAS) found in plants, is similar to the FAS found in prokaryotes and consists of a series of different enzymes, while type 1 FAS found fungi and animals consists of one large multifunctional enzyme complex (Joyard et al., 2010).

Organism	Heteromeric ACCase	Homomeric ACCase	Source
Animals	-	Cytosol/mitochondria	(Brownsey et al., 2006)
Plants (non-Poaceae)	Plastids	Cytosol	(Konishi et al., 1996)
Plants (Poaceae)	-	Cytosol/Plastids	(Konishi et al., 1996)
Yeast	-	Cytosol	(Al-Feel et al., 1992)
Bacteria	Cytosol	-	(Magnuson et al., 1993)
Archaea	Cytosol	-	(Chuakrut et al., 2003)

The main function of the BCCP domain is to provide an attachment point for the biotin molecule (Roessler and Ohlrogge, 1993). BC contains an ATP-binding motif, as well as a CO<sub>2</sub> fixation site (Kimura et al., 2000). Acetyl-CoA binds to a specific region on  $\alpha$ -CT, while  $\beta$ -CT contains a binding region for carboxybiotin (Roessler and Ohlrogge, 1993).

The production of malonyl-CoA by ACCase is divided into two partial reactions: 1) the BC domain carboxylates the biotin prosthetic group bound to the structural BCCP domain; 2) the CT domains transfer the carboxyl group to acetyl-coA (Nikolau et al., 2003).

1) BCCP + $HCO_3^-$ + $Mg^{2+}$ -ATP	$\rightarrow$	BCCP-CO <sub>2</sub> <sup>-</sup> + Mg <sup>2+</sup> -ADP +Pi
2) BCCP-CO2 <sup>-</sup> + acetyl-CoA	$\rightarrow$	BCCP + malonyl-CoA

The naming of homomeric ACCases is inconsistent between different kingdoms. In animals, the cytosolic ACCase is labelled ACC1, while ACC2 is located in mitochondria where malonyl-CoA is not used as a substrate, but is involved in the regulation of  $\beta$ -oxidation (Abu-Elheiga et al., 2000). In *Arabidopsis thaliana*, ACC1 is expressed in the cytosol, while ACC2 is targeted at the plastid (Bryant et al., 2011). However, the plastidial homomeric ACCase is expressed at low levels and cannot maintain viability in embryos in which the heteromeric ACCase was disabled (Bryant et al., 2011). In

*Cyclotella cryptica* (diatom) (Dunahay et al., 1995) and *Toxoplasma gondii* (apicomplexan parasite) (Zuther et al., 1999), on the other hand, ACC1 is located in the chloroplast and ACC2 in the cytosol. In *Chlorella* sp. (green alga), the gene that codes for the cytosolic homomeric ACCase is called *acc*1 (Wan et al., 2011). To avoid confusion we will use ACC1 for plastidial ACCase and ACC2 for cytosolic ACCase when talking about algae.

In algae, there is no clear information on the plastidial form of ACCase even though this is essential to investigate the regulation and expression of this key enzyme in FA synthesis. Riekhof et al. (2005) identified the presence of the heteromeric form of ACCase in chloroplasts of the green alga *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* (Chlorophyceae) based on similarities with known amino acid sequences from other species and the analysis of the targeting and signalling sequence. In contrast, plastidial ACCase has been reported to be homomeric for the haptophyte *Isochrysis galbana* (Livne and Sukenik, 1990) and the diatom *Cyclotella cryptica* (Roessler, 1990, Roessler and Ohlrogge, 1993). Even though the possible presence of heteromeric ACCase in *C. cryptica* cannot be completely excluded, no heteromeric ACCase was found (Roessler, 1990). Furthermore, ACCase from *C. cryptica* contained a specific signal peptide (Roessler and Ohlrogge, 1993), which exhibits similarities to the signal peptide targeting proteins to the chloroplast ER in the diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* (Bhaya and Grossman, 1991).

Even though the presence of the different forms of ACCase has been thoroughly investigated in plants and animals, there has been no thorough review on which form of ACCase is present in different algal taxa. First indications on the distribution of the two different ACCase forms can be derived from the recently published plastidial and full transcriptomes/genomes of different algal species. To elucidate the presence and cellular location of heteromeric or homomeric ACCase in four major algal taxa and an apicoplasts-containing apicomplexan, we reviewed the existing literature and published information on ACCase, and combined this with full genome searches of different algal species.

## 3. The theory of serial endosymbiosis

Like mitochondria, chloroplasts arose from an endosymbiotic event. In the case of primary plastids, a eukaryotic cell engulfed a cyanobacterium, which was reduced to an organelle over time. Interestingly, both mitochondria and chloroplasts are important to the energy supply of cells. Mitochondria are responsible for the conversion of energy by generating ATP through the metabolism of pyruvate, the product of glycolysis of

glucose; conversely, plastids use energy derived from light to build energy-rich biomolecules in the form of glucose and fatty acids. The  $\beta$ -oxidation of FAs occurs in peroxisomes in plants and in mitochondria in animals. While mitochondria, which are common to all eukaryotic cells, arose from one endosymbiotic event, the origin of plastids is more complex and included several different endosymbiotic events.

To fully understand the presence of the two types of ACCase in algal plastids, the evolution of the different algal taxa and the endosymbiotic origin of their chloroplasts need to be comprehended first. The endosymbiotic theory was reviewed by Archibald (2008) and Gould et al. (2008) and is summarised here.

The endosymbiotic theory states that chloroplasts with two envelope membranes, found in Chlorophyta (green algae), Rhodophyta (red algae) and Glaucocystophyta, arose through a primary endosymbiotic event where a heterotrophic eukaryote engulfed a cyanobacterium. This gave rise to photosynthetic eukaryotes containing first generation chloroplasts (Table 2.2, Fig. 2.3, Fig. 2.4). The change from an endosymbiont to an organelle required gene transfer from the genome of the cyanobacterium to the nucleus of the host, but also included the complete loss of certain plastid genes (Fig. 2.5).



**Fig. 2.3** A) algae with first generation chloroplast, B) algae with second generation chloroplast with 3 membranes, C) algae with second generation chloroplast with 4 membranes, two of which form the chloroplast endoplasmic reticulum D) algae with second generation chloroplast with 4 membranes, two of which form the chloroplast endoplasmic reticulum (CER) membrane, including a nucleomorph. 1. Chloroplast envelope derived from primary endosymbiotic event, 2. Bacterial chromosome, 3. Prokaryotic ribosomes, 4 Chloroplast envelope(s) derived from secondary endosymbiotic event, 5. CER outer membrane continuous with nuclear envelope and inner membrane compartmentalising the chloroplast from the ER, 6. Nucleomorph: remnant nucleus N<sub>1</sub> of eukaryotic symbiont (present only in Cryptophyta and Chlorarachniphyta), 7. eukaryotic ribosomes. N2 host nucleus.

Table 2.2 Taxonon events.	nic relationship betv	ween chloroplasts of plants and diffe	erent algal taxa, based by primary, se	condary and tertiary endosymbiotic
Organism	Cyanobacteria	Organisms with 1 <sup>st</sup> generation plastids (primary endosymbiosis)	Organisms with 2 <sup>nd</sup> generation plastids (secondary endosymbiosis)	Organisms with 2 <sup>nd</sup> or 3 <sup>rd</sup> generation plastids (tertiary endosymbiosis)
Envelope membranes	None	2 envelope membranes	3-4 envelope membranes	3-4 envelope membranes
Members		Viridiplantae	Chromalveolata	Chromalveolata
		<ul> <li>Plantae (Higher plants)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Stramenopiles</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Dinoflagellata</li> </ul>
		- Eudicots	- Bacillariophyceae (diatoms)	Rhizaria
		- Monodicots	- Phaeophyceae (brown algae)	<ul> <li>Cercozoa</li> </ul>
		- Pteridophyta (Ferns)	- Eustigmatophyceae	- Chlorarachniophyta
		- Bryophyta (Mosses)	- Chrysophyceae	
		<ul> <li>Chlorophyta (green algae)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Haptophyta</li> </ul>	
		<ul> <li>Rhodophyta (red algae)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Cryptophyta</li> </ul>	
		<ul> <li>Glaucocystophyta (algae)</li> </ul>	Euglenozoa	
			<ul> <li>Euglenoidea</li> </ul>	



Page 23 of 135



**Fig. 2.5** Gene transfer (arrows) from chloroplast (C) to nucleus (N) of host (H) after primary endosymbiotic event A) and from the nucleus of chloroplast  $(N_1)$  to host nucleus  $(N_2)$  after secondary endosymbiotic event B). The dashed arrow shows the unlikely but possible gene transfer directly from the plastidial genome to the host nucleus  $(N_2)$  after the secondary endosymbiotic event.

These first generation photosynthetic eukaryotes in turn were then taken up by other heterotrophic eukaryotes in a secondary endosymbiotic event (Table 2.2, Fig. 2.4). This resulted in second generation plastids after additional gene transfer from the eukaryotic endosymbiont to the nucleus of the new eukaryotic host (Fig. 2.5). Chloroplasts of second and third generation origin contain 3-4 membranes. Dinoflagellates are unique in that it is believed that some taxa took up photosynthetic eukaryotes of diverse taxonomic origin but also lost established plastids again (Howe et al., 2008). Some dinoflagellates even may have lost and taken up new symbiotic relationships again several times in sequence (Howe et al., 2008). Only approximately 50% of the dinoflagellates and euglenoids are photosynthetic; the majority of these have 3 membranes (Fig. 2.4, Fig. 2.3). Haptophytes, cryptophytes, chlorachaniophytes and stramenopiles contain 4 membranes and the outermost membrane is continuous with the rough ER of the secondary host (Fig. 2.3). The outermost two envelope membranes are therefore called the chloroplast ER (cER). Apicomplexans also contain 4 membranes around the plastid (apicoplasts), and even though they are not continuous with the ER, there is a close association between the apicoplast and the ER (Kalanon and McFadden, 2010).

Glaucocystophyta, Cryptophyta and Chlorarachniophyta represent three bridging organisms. The glaucocystophytes form a special case, where the bacterial peptidoglycan wall is still present between the inner and outer envelope membrane of the cyanelle (photosynthetic plastid). The unique feature of cryptophytes and chlorarachniophytes, on the other hand, is the presence of a nucleomorph, which is the remnant of the nucleus of the photosynthetic eukaryote taken up during the 2<sup>nd</sup> endosymbiotic event (Fig. 2.3).

# 4. ACCase structure in algae

#### 4.1 Genomic information on the type of ACCase present in algae

The evolution of algae by primary, secondary and tertiary endosymbiosis of different symbionts by a variety of hosts resulted in a large number of different algal taxa (Fig. 2.4). Concerning the important enzyme ACCase, there has been no review summarising the presence or absence of the homomeric and heteromeric ACCases. The number of full genome sequences is increasing, but at the time of this review, only 17 full genome sequences of algae were publically accessible (Table 3). Chloroplast genome sequences are an additional source to investigate the presence of heteromeric ACCase (Table 3). The presence of the  $\beta$ -CT subunit in chloroplast genomes shows that green algae containing heteromeric ACCase have the same gene distribution as eudicot plants. While the presence of the *acc*D gene coding for  $\beta$ -CT in the chloroplast is no absolute guarantee for the functional expression of heteromeric ACCase, this gene has thus far not been found in algae with homomeric ACCase in the chloroplast.

A desktop study using proteomic data was used to tabulate the presence and location of the respective ACCase types in algae (Table 3, Supplemental Table 1). Complete proteomes of 17 microalgal species from different taxa were obtained from the Joint Genome Institute (University of California, www.jgi.doe.gov, Aureococcus anophagefferens (Gobler et al., 2011), Chlamydomonas reinhardtii, (Merchant et al., 2007), Chlorella sp. (NC64A) (Blanc et al., 2010), Bigelowiella natans (Curtis et al., 2012), Fragilariopsis cylindrus (Mock et al., unpublished), Guillardia theta (Curtis et al., 2012), Micromonas pusilla (Worden et al., 2009), Micromonas sp. (RCC299) (Worden et al., 2009), Ostreococcus lucimarinus (Palenik et al., 2007), Ostreococcus sp. (RCC809) (unpublished, genome.jgi-psf.org/OstRCC809 2/OstRCC809 2.home.html), Phaeodactylum tricornutum (Bowler et al., 2008), Thalassiosira pseudonana (Armbrust et al., 2004), Volvox carteri (Prochnik et al., 2010), Emiliania huxleyi (unpublished, http://genome.jgi-psf.org/Emihu1/Emihu1.home.html)), an additional one from the Cyanidioschyzon merolae Genome Project (http://merolae.biol.s.u-tokyo.ac.jp/ (Matsuzaki et al., 2004)) and a further two (*Bathycoccus* sp. (Moreau and Vandepoele, unpublished) and Ectocarpus siliculosus (Cock et al., 2010)) from the Bioinformatics Online Genome Annotation System (http://bioinformatics.psb.ugent.be/webtools/ bogas/).

**Table 2.3** Summary of the presence and location of homomeric and heteromeric ACCase. N/A denotes no information available. (Details and source of the individual sequences are in Supplemental Table 1).

Species (Strain)	Phylum/Division	Class	Heteromeric	Homo	meric
			Plastid <sup>1</sup>	Cytosol	Plastid
Toxoplasma gondii	Apicomplexa	-	Absent	Present	Present
Chaetosphaeridium globosum	Charophyta	-	β-CT	N/A	N/A
Chara vulgaris	Charophyta	-	β-CT	N/A	N/A
Chlorokybus atmophyticus	Charophyta	-	β-CT	N/A	N/A
Staurastrum punctulatum	Charophyta	-	β-CT	N/A	N/A
Zygnema circumcarinatum	Charophyta	-	β-CT	N/A	N/A
Bigelowiella natans	Chlorarachniophyta	-	Absent	Present	Present
Auxenochlorella protothecoides	Chlorophyta	Trebouxiophyceae	β-CT	N/A	N/A
Helicosporidium sp.	Chlorophyta	Trebouxiophyceae	β-CT	N/A	N/A
Leptosira terrestris	Chlorophyta	Trebouxiophyceae	β-CT	N/A	N/A
Bryopsis hypnoides	Chlorophyta	Bryopsidophyceae	β-CT	N/A	N/A
Chlamydomonas reinhardtii	Chlorophyta	Chlorophyceae	BC, BCCP1, BCCP2, α-CT, β-CT	N/A	N/A
Chlorococcum humicola	Chlorophyta	Chlorophyceae	β-CT	N/A	N/A
Dunaliella salina	Chlorophyta	Chlorophyceae	β-CT	N/A	N/A
Haematococcus pluvialis	Chlorophyta	Chlorophyceae	BC	N/A	N/A
Polytomella parva	Chlorophyta	Chlorophyceae	BCCP	N/A	N/A
Volvox carteri f. nagariensis	Chlorophyta	Chlorophyceae	BC, BCCP1, BCCP2, α-CT, β-CT	Present	-
Pedinomonas minor	Chlorophyta	Pedinophyceae	β-CT	N/A	N/A
Bathycoccus prasinos	Chlorophyta	Prasinophyceae	Absent	Present	Present
Micromonas pusilla	Chlorophyta	Prasinophyceae	Absent	Present	Present
<i>Micromonas</i> sp.	Chlorophyta	Prasinophyceae	Absent	Present	Present
Nephroselmis olivacea	Chlorophyta	Prasinophyceae	β-CT	N/A	N/A
Ostreococcus lucimarinus	Chlorophyta	Prasinophyceae	Absent	Present	Present
Ostreococcus sp.	Chlorophyta	Prasinophyceae	Absent	Present	Present
Chlorella sp.	Chlorophyta	Trebouxiophyceae	BC, BCCP1, BCCP2, α-CT	Present	Absent
Coccomyxa sp.	Chlorophyta	Trebouxiophyceae	BC, BCCP, α-CT, β-CT	N/A	N/A
Muriella zofingiensis	Chlorophyta	Trebouxiophyceae	BC	N/A	N/A
Oocystis solitaria	Chlorophyta	Trebouxiophyceae	β-CT	N/A	N/A
Parachlorella kessleri	Chlorophyta	Trebouxiophyceae	β-CT	N/A	N/A
Trebouxia aggregata	Chlorophyta	Trebouxiophyceae	β-CT	N/A	N/A
Trebouxiophyceae sp.	Chlorophyta	Trebouxiophyceae	β-CT	N/A	N/A
Oltmannsiellopsis viridis	Chlorophyta	Ulvophyceae	β-CT	N/A	N/A
Pseudendoclonium akinetum	Chlorophyta	Ulvophyceae	β-CT	N/A	N/A
Guillardia theta	Cryptophyta	-	Absent	Present	Present
Microcystis aeruginosa	Cyanobacteria	Chroococcales	BC, BCCP, α-CT, β-CT	Absent	Absent
Anabaena variabilis	Cyanobacteria	Nostocales	BC, BCCP, α-CT, β-CT	Absent	Absent
Nostoc azollae	Cyanobacteria	Nostocales	BC, BCCP, α-CT, β-CT	Absent	Absent
Emiliana huxleyi	Haptophyta	-	Absent	Present	Present
lsochrysis galbana	Haptophyta	-	Absent	N/A	Present
Antithamnion sp.	Rhodophyta	-	α-CT	N/A	N/A
Cyanidioschyzon merolae	Rhodophyta	-	BC, BCCP, α-CT. β-CT	Present	Absent
Cyanidium caldarium	Rhodophyta	-	BCCP, α-CT, β-CT	N/A	N/A
Galdieria sulphuraria	Rhodophyta	-	BC, BCCP, a-CT B-CT	Present	Absent
<i>Gracilaria tenuistipitata</i> var. liui	Rhodophyta	-	BCCP, α-CT, β-CT	N/A	N/A

Species (Strain)	es (Strain) Phylum/Division Class		Heteromeric	Homo	meric	
			Plastid <sup>1</sup>	Cytosol	Plastid	
Porphyra purpurea	Rhodophyta	-	BCCP, α-CT, β-CT	N/A	N/A	
Porphyra umbilicalis	Rhodophyta	-	BCCP, α-CT, β-CT	N/A	N/A	
Porphyra yezoensis	Rhodophyta	-	BCCP, α-CT, β-CT	N/A	N/A	
Cyclotella cryptica	Stramenopile	Bacillariophyceae	Absent	Present	Present	
Fragilariopsis cylindrus	Stramenopile	Bacillariophyceae	Absent	Present	Present	
Phaeodactylum tricornutum	Stramenopile	Bacillariophyceae	Absent	Present	Present	
Thalassiosira pseudonana	Stramenopile	Bacillariophyceae	Absent	Present	Present	
Nannochloroposis gaditana	Stramenopile	Eustigmatophycea	Absent	N/A	Present	
Aureococcus anophagefferens	Stramenopile	Pelagophyceae	Absent	Present	Present	
Ectocarpus siliculosus	Stramenopile	Phaeophyceae	Absent	Present	Present	

<sup>1</sup> Cytosol for bacteria

These complete proteomes were used to generate individual databases in BioEdit (Hall, 2001), which were then searched with known amino acid (aa) sequences of homomeric ACCase and the four subunits of heteromeric ACCase from *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii, Arabidopsis thaliana, Cyclotella cryptica* and *Escherichia coli* obtained from GeneBank (Benson et al., 2009) (Supplemental Table 2), using a BLAST algorithm (Altschul et al., 1997). The resulting aa sequences with strong similarities to the known aa sequences where then manually annotated by BLASTing them on NCBI (www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov), using existing annotation, comparing length and the presence of active regions based on Roessler and Ohlrogge (1993). To complete the dataset, additional available sequences were obtained from NCBI (Supplemental Table 1). To interpret this dataset, it is important to include the taxonomic relationships of algae, based on the endosymbiotic origin of plastids as outlined in section 3.

#### 4.2 Synthesis of the endosymbiotic theory and ACCase type in algae

Combining the proteomic findings with information on algal taxonomy and the endosymbiotic theory a clear trend emerges. All investigated algae with first generation plastids belonging to the red algae (Rhodophyta) and the green algal (Chlorophyta) class Chlorophyceae contain heteromeric ACCase in their chloroplasts, while the ACCase type present in organelles of glaucocystophytes is still unknown (Table 3, Fig. 2.4). An exception to the above is the green algal class Prasinophyceae, which contain homomeric ACCase in their plastids (Table 3, Fig. 2.4). BC and  $\alpha$ -CT were found in the proteome of the prasinophyte *Bathyococcus*, in addition to two homomeric ACCases. However, closer inspection showed that these two sequences most likely are bacterial contamination. On the other hand, none of the investigated algal taxa with second generation chloroplasts contained heteromeric ACCase (Table 3, Fig. 2.4).

No complete proteomes or other published information on the type of ACCase present in dinoflagellates was found. However, inferences can be made by investigating apicomplexan parasites. Apicomplexan parasites are closely related to dinoflagellates, and together they are grouped into the superphylum Alveolata. The newly discovered photosynthetic microalgae *Chromera velia* of the phylum Chromerida has been shown to be the missing link between apicomplexans and dinoflagellates, exhibiting features of both (Moore et al., 2008). Apicomplexan parasites contain a chloroplast relict, called apicoplast, which lacks pigments and no longer carries out photosynthesis, but is entirely devoted to lipid synthesis (Moore et al., 2008). Like algae with second generation plastids, the apicoplast of the apicomplexan parasite *Toxoplasma gondii* also contained homomeric ACCase (Zuther et al., 1999). Furthermore, the homomeric ACCase found in the apicoplasts of *T. gondii* shows a large degree of sequence similarity to the homomeric ACCase found in the chloroplasts of the diatom *Cyclotella cryptica* (Zuther et al., 1999).

#### 4.3 Sequence alignment of binding regions of ACCase

Using the information of the collected sequences (Supplemental Table 1), the respective binding domains of BC, BCCP and  $\alpha$ -CT and  $\beta$ -CT of heteromeric and homomeric ACCase are being compared between selected sequences of different species and phyla. Binding domains are highly conserved and serve as a good basis for a comparison and identification of sequences (Kimura et al., 2000, Roessler and Ohlrogge, 1993). Sequences where binding domains could not be found were excluded from the comparison.

Complete sequences, including signalling peptides, may not always be available. Being able to distinguish between cytosolic and plastidial, as well as heteromeric and homomeric ACCase from partial fragments may be achieved by analysing aa sequences of the different binding regions, as discussed below. The aa G at position 7 of the  $\alpha$ -CT binding region has been conserved between the two forms of ACCase, but aa sequences at positions 1 to 3 reveal there is a clear difference between the heteromeric  $\alpha$ -CT subunit and the homomeric  $\alpha$ -CT domain (Fig. 2.6). The following unifying characteristics can be derived from the observations outlined below. Species with second generation endosymbionts contain homomeric ACCase in the plastids with the acetyl-CoA binding region of the homomeric  $\alpha$ -CT domain starting with the motif GKS. All cytosolic homomeric ACCases, irrespective of the origin of the plastid, start with an A, except for *A. anophagefferens*, *Guillardia theta* and five species belonging to the green algal class Prasinophycae, which start with a G instead.

Out of the 37 homomeric sequences, 17 start with the motif GKS (sequences in green, Fig. 2.6). This motif is always present in homomeric ACCases of algae that have been positively identified to be targeted to the chloroplast (algal species in green, ACC1 of Cyclotella cryptica and Toxoplasma gondii). It also appears to be applicable to other sequences, which are therefore presumed to be targeted to the chloroplast. Thirteen regions start with the aa A, while the second and third aa exhibit some variation (sequences in blue, Fig. 2.6). Of these 13 regions, the sequences of all five species which are known to only contain cytosolic ACCase (species in blue: yeast, rat, ACC2 of Toxoplasma gondii and ACC1 of Arabidopsis thaliana) start with an A (Fig. 2.6). The plastidial ACCase of A. thaliana (ACC2) also starts with an A. This is an indication that the plastidial ACCase in plants is of a different origin than the plastidial ACCase in algae, which will be discussed further in chapter 3. The remaining seven sequences belong to the green algal class Prasinophyceae (Ostreococcus, Micromonas and Bathyococcus), the Cryptophyta (Guillardia theta) and the Stramenopile class Pelagophyceae (Aureococcus anophagefferens). They all contain two homomeric ACCases. One region starts with the normal GSK motif as predicted, presumably identifying it as plastidial ACCase. However, in the second region the starting A seems to have been replaced with a G (yellow, Fig. 2.6).

As with the acetyl-CoA binding region, the heteromeric  $\beta$ -CT subunit and homomeric  $\beta$ -CT domain exhibit distinct differences and conserved sequences in the carboxybiotin binding domain (Fig. 2.7 and Fig. 2.8). The most distinctive feature is the conserved motif GAR at the end of all sequences and a G in position 16 (Fig. 2.7). There are no distinctive features that could be used to distinguish between the cytosolic and plastidial form of the homomeric ACCase (Fig. 2.7). The sequences of the binding region of the heteromeric  $\beta$ -CT subunit show a higher homology with each other, compared to the sequences within the homomeric  $\beta$ -CT domain, especially the presence of a cassette from aa 13 to 25, which is highly conserved within the heteromeric  $\beta$ -CT domain carboxylbiotin binding regions start with GR and the third aa is variable, while no strictly conserved aa sequence is observable at the start of the binding domain of the heteromeric  $\beta$ -CT subunit (Fig. 2.7).

α-CT (heteromeric)			
E. coli	Bacteria	(98-117)	DKAIVGGIARLDGRPVMIIG [1]
A. variabilis	Cyanobacteria	(100-119)	D P A L I G G V A R L G G K P V V M L G N-Q3MA36
N. azollae	Cyanobacteria	(100-119)	D P A L V G G V G R L G G Q P V V M L G N-ZP_03763675
A. thaliana	Brassicaceae	(187-206)	D P A I V T G I G T I D G K R Y M F I G N-Q9LD43
C. reinhardtii	Chlorophyta	(162-181)	D P A I V C G I G S I N G T P F M M I G J-184945
Chlorella sp.	Chlorophyta	(190-209)	D P A M V C G L A S M D G I S F M F I G J-36222
V. carteri	Chlorophyta	(287-306)	D P A I V C G I G S I N G T P F M M I G J-120546
Antithamnion sp.	Rhodophyta	(98-117)	DPALIGGLGKINNRTVVCIG N-P46316
C. caldarium	Rhodophyta	(100-119)	D P A I I T G I G R I G R R S V V V L G N-019903
C. merolae	Rhodophyta	(87-106)	DQALITGIAQVEDETIVFLA CMV056C
G. tenuistipitata	Rhodophyta	(98-117)	D P A L V G G I G K L N N Y T V I F V G N-Q6B8M3
P. purpurea	Rhodophyta	(100-119)	DPALVGGIGKIDGHSIVFIG N-P51371
P. yezoensis	Rhodophyta	(100-119)	D P A L V G G I G K I N G R N I V F I G N-Q1XDB6
ACC (homomeric)		. ,	
Yeast (Cytosolic)	Ascomycota	(1878-1897)	AKGVVVGRARLGGIPLGVIG [1]
Rat (Cvtosolic)	Chordata	(1967-1986)	AQTVVVGRARLGGIPVGVVA [1]
A. thaliana (Plastidial)	Brassicaceae	(1984-2003)	ARTVVTGRAKLGGIPIGVVA N-NP 174850
A. thaliana (Cytosolic)	Brassicaceae	(1882-1901)	A R T V V T G R A K L G G L P V G V V A N-NP 174849
T gondii (Plastidial)	Anicomplexa	(2264-2283)	GKSVVVGBABLGGLPEGALA N-AAF04493
T gondii (GT1)	Apicomplexa	(1915-1934)	GKSVVVGBABLGGLPEGALA N-FFF20751
T gondii (ME49) (Plastidial)	Anicomplexa	(2262-2281)	GKSVVVGBABLGGLPEGALA N-XP 002369961
T. gondii (ME49) (Cytosolic)	Anicomplexa	(2995-3014)	A R S V L L G R A R L G G L P V G V V A N-XP 002370640
T. gondii (VEG) (Plastidial)	Anicomplexa	(2262-2281)	
T. gondii (VEG) (Cytosolic)	Anicomplexa	(2006-3015)	
C crovtica (Plastidial)	Bacillarionhyceae	(1758-1777)	
E cylindrus	Bacillariophyceae	(1715_1734)	
F. cylindrus	Bacillariophyceae	(10/2-1061)	
P. tricornutum	Bacillariophyceae	(13+2-1301) (1750-1778)	CKSVVLCRCRCRLCCLPMCALA L54926
P. tricornutum	Bacillariophyceae	(1001 1020)	
F. Inconnutum T. pseudopapa	Bacillariophyceae	(1901-1920) (1757-1776)	CKSVVLCPCPLCCLPMCALS L6770
	Bacillariophyceae	(1904 1012)	
P. pseudonana	Chlororochniophyte	(1602 1711)	
D. natans	Chlorarachniophyta	(1092-1/11)	AKTVLCCDABLCCMBVCVLA
D. Halaris	Chlorophyta	(1707 - 1000)	
Bathycoccus sp.	Chlorophyta	(1703-1002)	GRSVVVGRARLGGIPWGVIS B-Balliyoog01030
Bathycoccus sp.	Chlorophyta	(1884-1903)	GRIVVCCDARLCCLPMCVLA
M. pusilla	Chlorophyta	(1010-1029)	C D S V V T C D A D L C C L A V C A V A L 46404
Micromonoo on	Chlorophyta	(1/0/-1000)	CKSVVCCDABLCCLBMCVLA 1412282
Micromonas sp.	Chlorophyta	(1004-1023)	
Micromonas sp.	Chlorophyta	(1888-1907)	GRSVVIGRARLGGLPIGATA J-104872
O. lucimarinus	Chlorophyta	(1677-1696)	GKSVVIGRARLGGIPCGVIA J-44400
O. lucimarinus	Chlorophyta	(1/42-1/61)	GRIVIIGRARLGGVPIGAVA J-11
Ostreococcus sp.	Chlorophyta	(1678-1697)	G K S V V I G R A R L G G I P C G V I A J-61393
Ostreococcus sp.	Chlorophyta	(1/68-1/8/)	GRIVVIGRARLGGVPIGATA J-36970
V. carteri (Cytosolic)	Chlorophyta	(2163-2182)	ARTVVIGRARLGGLAVGVIA J-106840
G. theta	Cryptophyta	(1714-1733)	GKSVVIGRARLGGIPMGVIA J-68771
G. theta	Cryptophyta	(1918-1997)	GMTTTCGRARLGGTPVGVVL J-72035
E. huxleyi	Haptophyta	(1232-1241)	GKSVVVGRARLGGVPMGVIA J-455280
E. huxleyi	Haptophyta	(1714-1733)	A K I V I V G R G R I G G M P L G V I V J-449545
A. anophagefferens	Pelagophyceae	(1471-1490)	GKSVVVGRGRLGGIAMGAIA J-38836
A. anophagefferens	Pelagophyceae	(1843-1862)	G K T V V A G R A K L G G I P F G V I S J-65524
C. merolae (Cytosolic)	Rhodophyta	(2263-2282)	AKSVVVGRARLGGIPVGVIA CMM188C

**Fig. 2.6** Acetyl-CoA binding region of α-carboxyl transferase (Roessler and Ohlrogge, 1993). Grey highlights the most conservative regions within the heteromeric and homomeric forms. Blue and green species names denote homomeric ACCase positively identified to be found in the cytosol and chloroplast, respectively. Blue and green coloured amino acids highlight different motifs that can be used to distinguish between cytosolic and chloroplastic ACCase. Yellow amino acids denote motifs that deviate from the general hypothesis. Solid lines identify conserved regions in both heteromeric and homomeric ACCase. Details on genera can be found in Supplementary Material 1. (References: [1] Roessler and Ohlrogge (1993), J: Joint Genome Institute, N: NCBI, B: BOGAS, CM: *Cyanidioschyzon merolae* Genome Project).

β-CT (heteromeric)																									
E. coli	Bacteria	(117-142)	C	6 M	Ρ	V١	/ A	A A	A	F	ΕI	FΑ	F	М	G	G	s I	ΛĢ	s s	٧	V	GΑ	R	F	[1]
A. variabilis	Cyanobacteria	(133-158)	5	ss	Ρ	VA	۱L	. A	V	М	D	FR	R F	М	G	G	s I	ΛG	ss	V	V	GΕ	к	1	N-YP_320706
N. azollae	Cyanobacteria	(134-159)	C	ιL	Ρ	I A	۱L	. G	V	М	D	FR	R F	М	G	G	s I	ΛG	ss	٧	v	ЗE	ĸ	L	N-ZP_03766652
A. thaliana	Brassicaceae	(319-344)	Ģ	6 1	Ρ	VA	۱L	. G	V	М	D	FR	RF	М	G	G	s I	ΛĢ	s s	٧	v	GΕ	к	Т	N-P56765
B. hypnoides	Chlorophyta	(121-146)	C	5 1	Ρ	VA	۱L	. G	V	М	D	FΝ	I F	М	G	G	s I	ΛĢ	s s	٧	v	GΕ	ĸ	1	N-YP_003227083
C. humicola	Chlorophyta	(126-151)	Ċ	5 1	Ρ	I A	۱L	. G	V	М	D	FΗ	ł F	М	G	G	s I	ΛĢ	s s	٧	v	GΕ	ĸ	Т	N-ADZ15145
C. reinhardtii	Chlorophyta	(182-207)	Ģ	5 1	Ρ	VA	۱L	. G	V	М	D	FΤ	Y	М	G	G	s I	ΛĢ	ss	٧	v	ЗE	ĸ	L	J-133238
Coccomyxa sp.	Chlorophyta	(126-151)	Ģ	5 1	Ρ	I A	۱L	. G	V	М	D	FΗ	F	М	G	G	s I	ΛG	ss	٧	v	ЗE	к	Т	N-YP_004222027
N. olivacea	Chlorophyta	(125-150)	k	1	Ρ	I A	۱L	. G	V	М	ΕI	FG	۲	М	G	G	s I	ΛG	ss	٧	v	ЗE	ĸ	L	N-NP_050834
O. solitaria	Chlorophyta	(126-151)	C	5 1	Ρ	VA	۱L	. G	V	М	D	FΝ	I F	М	G	G	s I	ΛĢ	ss	V	v	ЗE	к	1	N-ACQ90742
O. viridis	Chlorophyta	(148-173)	Ģ	5 1	Ρ	VA	۱L	. G	V	М	D	FΝ	F	М	G	G	s I	ΛG	ss	V	v	GΕ	к	1	N-YP_635822
P. akinetum	Chlorophyta	(130-155)	Ģ	5 1	Ρ	I A	۱L	. G	1	М	D	FΗ	ł F	М	G	G	s I	ΛĢ	ss	V	v	GΕ	ĸ	1	N-YP_636254
P. kessleri	Chlorophyta	(126-151)	Ģ	5 1	Ρ	I A	λL	. G	V	М	D	FΝ	F	М	G	G	s I	ΛG	ss	V	v	ЗE	к	Т	N-YP_003058286
P. minor	Chlorophyta	(126-151)	Ģ	5 1	Ρ	VA	λL	. G	V	М	D	FΝ	I F	М	G	G	s I	ΛG	ss	V	v	ЗE	к	1	N-ACQ90825
V. carteri	Chlorophyta	(181-206)	Ģ	3 1	Ρ	VA	λL	. G	V	М	DI	FТ	۰Y	М	G	G	s I	ΛG	ss	v	v	ЗE	к	L	J-82311
C. caldarium	Rhodophyta	(106-131)	Ν	11	s	AS	sν	/ A	v	м	D	FΝ	F	М	G	G	s I	ΛG	ss	А	v	ЗE	к	1	N-Q9TLW3
C. merolae	Rhodophyta	(107-132)	E	) Q	ĸ	VA	λL	. G	V	М	D	FΕ	F	М	G	G	s i	л G	ss	A	v	ЗE	к	1	CMV207C
G tenuistinitata	Rhodophyta	(130-155)	Г		Р	1.4	× 1	G	1	м	- р	F R	2 F	м	G	G	s I	л с	s	V	v	G F	ĸ	1	N-YP 063517
P nurnurea	Rhodophyta	(124-149)	c	; ·	K	vc	2 1	G	Ŀ.	м	ום	F R	2 F	м	G	G	5 I	л с	s	v	v	3 E	ĸ	-	N-P51198
P vozoonsis	Phodophyta	(124-140)	0	2 K	ĸ	vc		. 0	Ľ.	M	ים			M			21	10		v	v		. K		
C atmontivitious	Streptophyta	(124-143)	0	2 1	D	V		. 0	V	M	ים			M			51	10		v	v	3 6	. K	1	
C. autopriyucus	Streptophyta	(120-151)			г		ι.		v								5 I 6 I	10		v	v (	э с о с	K K	L	NND 602012
C. globosum	Streptopriyta	(120-151)	0		-		ч L	. 6	v		יט						5 I 0 I			v	v (	9 E 2 F	: K	L .	N-NP_003012
S. punctulatum	Streptopnyta	(126-151)	e e	)   	P	V /	ι.	. G	v				2 -	IVI	G		51	10	. 5	v	v (	9 E	K	L	N-YP_636397
Z. circumcarinatum	Streptopnyta	(126-151)	Ċ	i I	Ρ	1 4	ΥL	. G	V	M	D	FG	₹ F	M	G	G	SI	ΛG	; 5	V	V	έE	: K	L	N-YP_636510
ACC (nomomeric)		(1570 1001)			~				•	• •	-				Л		~ .			~			-	-	
Yeast (Cytosolic)	Ascomycota	(1579-1604)	) (	i R	Q		/ \	/ V	A	N	D -		F	ĸ	1	G	51	- (-	i P	Q	E I	DE	: F	-	[1]
Rat (Cytosolic)	Chordata	(1672-1697)	) (	i R	D	V		/ 1	G	N	D		Y	R	ľ	G	SI	- (	i P	Q	Εl		. L	-	[1]
A. thaliana (Plastidial)	Brassicaceae	(1694-1719)	) (	i R	ĸ	LL	- 1	V	A	N	D '	VI	F	ĸ	A	G	5 1	- (-	iΡ	к	Εl	D A		F	N-NP_174850
A. thaliana (Cytosolic)	Brassicaceae	(1592-1617)	) (	R R	K	LL	- \	/ 1	A	N	D '	νт	F	K	Α	G	SI	- 6	P	R	EI	DA	F	F	N-NP_174849
T. gondii (Plastidial)	Apicomplexa	(1968-1993)	) 🤆	6 R	Q	V١	/ L	. L	G	Ν	D	IT	F	Q	G	G	SI	= G	; V	Р	Eł	ΗL	F	F	N-AAF04493
T. gondii (GT1)	Apicomplexa	(1619-1644)	) (	R R	Q	VI	/ L	. L	G	N	D	IT	F	Q	G	G	SI	- 6	5 V	Ρ	Eł	HL	. F	F	N-EEE20751
T. gondii (ME49) (Plastidial)	Apicomplexa	(1966-1991)	) (	R	Q	V١	/ L	. L	G	Ν	D	ΙТ	F	Q	G	G	S I	= G	γ	Ρ	Eł	ΗL	F	F	N-XP_002369961
T. gondii (ME49) (Cytosolic)	Apicomplexa	(2700-2725)	) (	R	R	V	L	. 1	G	Ν	D	νт	F	Q	M	G	ΤI	= 0	s v	Т	Εſ	DL	L	F	N-XP_002370640
T. gondii (VEG) (Plastidial)	Apicomplexa	(1966-1991)	) (	R	Q	V١	/ L	. L	G	Ν	D	IT	F	Q	G	G	S I	= G	γ	Ρ	Eł	ΗL	F	F	N-EEE30125
T. gondii (VEG) (Cytosolic)	Apicomplexa	(2701-2726)	) (	R	R	VI	L	. I	G	Ν	D	νт	F	Q	M	G	ТΙ	= 0	s v	Т	Εſ	DL	. L	F	N-EEE28725
C. crpytica (Plastidial)	Bacillariophyceae	(1476-1501)	) (	R	Q	٧١	/ \	/ 1	V	Ν	D	VТ	V	Q	S	G	S I	= 0	s V	Е	Εſ	DE	V	F	N-AAA81471
F. cylindrus	Bacillariophyceae	(1645-1670)	) (	R	Q	V١	/ L	. I	A	Ν	D	IT	н	К	A	G	S I	= 0	Τ	R	Εſ	ע כ	V	F	J-145710
F. cylindrus	Bacillariophyceae	(1433-1458)	) (	R	Е	1 /	/ L	. 1	S	Ν	D	νт	V	Q	s	G	s I	= 0	s v	Е	Εſ	DE	F	F	J-274583
P. tricornutum	Bacillariophyceae	(1477-1502)	) (	R	Е	٧١	/ \	/ 1	A	Ν	D	νт	V	Q	S	G	S I	= 0	s V	Е	Εſ	DE	L	Υ	J-54926
P. tricornutum	Bacillariophyceae	(1604-1629)	) (	R	Е	1 \	/ L	. L	S	Ν	D	IT	н	Κ	A	G	s I	= 0	ЪT	R	Εſ	D V	v	F	J-55209
T. pseudonana	Bacillariophyceae	(1597-1622)	) (	R	Q	V١	/ L	. 1	A	Ν	D	ΙT	н	К	A	G	s I	= 0	Τ	R	Εſ	ע כ	V	F	J-12234
T. pseudonana	Bacillariophyceae	(1475-1500)	) (	R	Е	V١	/ F	- 1	s	Ν	D	ΙT	V	Q	s	G	s I	= 0	s V	А	Εſ	DE	V	F	J-6770
B. natans	Chlorarachniophyta	(1399-1424)	) (	R	Е	I V	/ L	. I	A	Ν	D	ΙT	Ľ	Q	s	G	s I	= 0	γ	Ν	Εſ	D D	) F	F	J-92488
B. natans	Chlorarachniophyta	(1492-1517)	) (	R	Е	LI	L	. 1	S	Ν	D	I S	S V	A	A	G	s I	= 0	s V	L	Εſ	ע כ	' L	F	J-18464
Bathycoccus sp.	Chlorophyta	(1491-1516)	) (	R	Е	V١	/ F	V	G	Ν	D	с т	V	М	s	G	s I	- 0	γ	к	Εſ	D D	F	Y	B-Bathy08g01850
Bathycoccus sp.	Chlorophyta	(1595-1620)	) (	R	D	I I	L	. v	S	Ν	D	ΙT	н	М	s	G	S I	_ 8	P	Ρ	Εſ	D A	V	Υ	B-Bathy11g03860
M. pusilla	Chlorophyta	(1486-1511)	) (	R	Е		L	. V	A	Ν	D	ΙT	н	М	s	G	sι	- 5	P	к	Εſ	D A	V	Y	J-16401
M. pusilla	Chlorophyta	(1519-1544)	) (	R	Е	ΙV	/ L	. v	G	Ν	D	СТ	F	М	s	G	s I	= 0	γ	к	Εſ	D D	F	Υ	J-31755
Micromonas sp.	Chlorophyta	(1604-1629)	) (	R	D	I I	L	. v	A	Ν	D	ΙT	н	М	s	G	s I	= 5	P	R	Εſ	D A	V	Υ	J-104872
Micromonas sp.	Chlorophyta	(1513-1538)	) (	R	Е	ΙV	/ L	. v	G	Ν	D	с т	F	М	s	G	s I	= 0	γ	к	Εĺ	D D	F	Υ	J-113382
O. lucimarinus	Chlorophyta	(1464-1489)	) (	R	Е	I I	L	. v	А	Ν	D	ΙT	н	М	s	G	sι	. 8	P	Ρ	Εſ	D S	v	Υ	J-11
O. lucimarinus	Chlorophyta	(1387-1412)	) (	R	Е	ΙV	/ 1	V	G	Ν	D	с т	Y	М	s	G	s I	= 0	γ	к	Εſ	D D	v	Υ	J-44400
Ostreococcus sp.	Chlorophyta	(1490-1515)	) (	R	D	1		V	А	Ν	D	ΙT	н	L	s	G	sι	. 8	P	Р	Εĺ	D N	v	Y	J-36970
Ostreococcus sp.	Chlorophyta	(1388-1413)	) (	R	Е	M١	/ 1	V	G	Ν	D	с т	F	М	s	G	s I	= 0	γ	к	Εſ	D D	v	Y	J-61393
V. carteri (Cytosolic)	Chlorophyta	(1916-1941)	) (	R	s	V	Ā	٧	А	Ν	D	ΙТ	w	G	s	G	s I	- 5	P	А	Εĺ	D A	v	F	J-106840
G. theta	Cryptophyta	(1422-1447)	) (	R	Е	v١	/ L	. 1	А	Ν	D	VТ	v	Q	s	G	s I	= 0	γ	Е	Εĺ	DQ	F	Υ	J-68771
G. theta	Cryptophyta	(1618-1643)	) (	R	Е	FI	L	. 1	v	Ν	D	νт	Ľ	Q	N	G	S I	= G	s v	R	Εſ	DQ	٧	F	J-72035
E. huxleyi	Haptophyta	(1409-1434)	) (	R	т	1.1	١V	/ 1	А	Ν	D	ΙT	F	М	Q	G	T I	= 0	P	L	Εſ	DL	V	F	J-449545
E. huxleyi	Haptophyta	(940-965)	c	R	Р	LN	/ 1	V	А	Ν	D	ст	v	Q	s	G	s I	= 0	s v	А	E	D D	F	F	J-455280
A. anophage fferens	Pelagophyceae	(1185-1210)	) (	R	Е	LV	/ \	/ 1	А	Ν	D	νт	F	Q	s	G	S I	= c	s v	Р	EI	ם כ	v	Y	J-38836
A. anophage fferens	Pelagophyceae	(1555-1580)	) (	R	E	v١	/ 1	V	A	N	D	νт	Y	Q	s	G	s i	= (	s v	s	EI	ם ס	) F	F	J-65524
C. merolae (Cytosolic)	Rhodophyta	(1605-1630)	) (	R	D	AI	١V	/ 1	A	Ν	D	ΙT	Y	L	s	G	s i	= 0	P	R	E	D R	Ł	F	CMM188C

**Fig. 2.7** First 26 amino acids of the 51 amino acid carboxylbiotin binding region of β-carboxyl transferase (Roessler and Ohlrogge 1993). Grey highlights the most conservative regions within the heteromeric and homomeric forms. Blue and green species names denote homomeric ACCase positively identified to be found in the cytosol and chloroplast, respectively. Solid lines identify conserved regions in both heteromeric and homomeric ACCase. Details on genera can be found in Supplementary Material 1. (References: [1] Roessler and Ohlrogge (1993), J: Joint Genome Institute, N: NCBI, B: BOGAS, CM: *Cyanidioschyzon merolae* Genome Project).

β-CT (heteromeric)																					
E. coli	Bacteria	(143-167)	,	V R A	٩V	E	Q A	L	ΕC	D N	I C	ΡI	LI	С	F	S A	SG	G	AF	M	[1]
A. variabilis	Cyanobacteria	(159-183)		TRL	. 1	E	Q A	т	QF	R R	łΥ	P١	νv	1	1	ст	SG	G	AF	м	N-YP_320706
N. azollae	Cyanobacteria	(160-184)		TRL	. 1	E	Q A	т	QF	R R	łΥ	P١	νv	1	1	ст	SG	G	AF	м	N-ZP 03766652
A. thaliana	Brassicaceae	(345-369)		TRL	. 1	E '	ΥA	т	N C	2 C	L	ΡI	LI	L	V	c s	S G	G	AF	м	N-P56765
B. hypnoides	Chlorophyta	(147-171)		V R L	- V	E '	ΥA	т	QE	EG	ιL	1.1	LI	L	1	СА	S G	G	AF	м	N-YP_003227083
C. humicola	Chlorophyta	(152-176)		TRL	. 1	E `	ΥA	т	QE	ΞG	εL	P١	v i	L	V	СА	SG	G	AF	м	N-ADZ15145
C. reinhardtii	Chlorophyta	(208-232)		TRL	. 1	E '	ΥA	т	QE	ΞG	м	P١	v i	Т	v	ст	SG	G	AF	м	J-133238
Coccomyxa sp.	Chlorophyta	(152-176)		TRL	. 1	E '	ΥA	А	QE	ΞG	εL	Т	Lν	/ L	v	СА	SG	G	AF	м	N-YP 004222027
N. olivacea	Chlorophyta	(151-175)		TRL	. 1	E	s a	т	1.8	G G	э I	А	ιv	1	v	са	S G	G	AF	м	– N-NP 050834
O. solitaria	Chlorophyta	(152-176)		TRL		E `	ΥA	т	QE	EG	εL	т	LI	L.	1.	СА	SG	G	AF	м	
O. viridis	Chlorophyta	(174-198)		TRI		E '	ΥA	т	VE	EG	зL	т	LL	1	v	C A	S G	G	AR	м	N-YP 635822
P. akinetum	Chlorophyta	(156-180)		TRI		E '	ΥA	т	ĸ	k G	3 L	т	L I	1	1.3	S A	SG	G	AR	м	N-YP 636254
P kessleri	Chlorophyta	(152-176)		TRI	- ·	E '	Υ Δ	т	OF	- 6		т	- · 	Γ.	v	с. А	SG	G	AR	м	N-YP 003058286
P minor	Chlorophyta	(152-176)		TRI	- ·	E '	Υ Δ	т	0 6			т	- · 	-	v	с A	SG	G	AR	м	N-AC090825
V carteri	Chlorophyta	(207-231)		TRI		E,	v 🗛	Ť	0.6		. м	P 1		-	v	ол ~ т	50	G		м	L-82311
v. calderium	Bhadaphyta	(122,156)		- IN 1 T D I				÷				F I					00				J-02311
C. calualium	Rhodophyta	(132-150)		 	- V	E 1	гэ те	÷	R 0				1 V 1 I		1.1	5 A	00				
C. merulatinitata	Rhodophyta	(155-157)		 	- !		13	т Т		2 M - V	· -			5		5 A	30				
G. tenuistipitata	Rhodophyla	(100-100)						+				P	V L		1		56	G			N-TP_003517
P. purpurea	Rhodopnyta	(150-174)			- L	E	KA	1 -	QE	= K		P /	A 1		- 1		56	G	А н • п		N-P51198
P. yezoensis	Rhodophyta	(150-174)		1 K I 7 D J		E	ΚA	 	QE	= K	. L	P /				C A	SG	G	А н • п		N-Q1XD19
C. atmophyticus	Streptopnyta	(152-176)		IRI	- !	E	НА		Nr	N L	. L	P	V I	1	V (	S A	SG	G	А н 		N-YP_001019128
C. globosum	Streptophyta	(152-176)	ł	ARL	- 1	E	ΥA	Т	DI	V S	S L	ΡI	LI	I	V	CA	SG	G	AF	M	N-NP_683812
S. punctulatum	Streptophyta	(152-176)		TRL	- 1	E	ΗA	Т	Q	١F	Ľ	ΡI	LI	1	V	CA	SG	G	AF	M	N-YP_636397
Z. circumcarinatum	Streptophyta	(152-176)		TRL	- 1	E	ΗA	Т	RN	N R	R L	ΡI	LV	1	V	C A	SG	G	AF	RM	N-YP_636510
ACC (homomeric)							_							_							
Yeast (Cytosolic)	Ascomycota	(1605-1629)	)	NK	/Т	E '	YA	R	ΚF	R G	5 1	ΡI	RI	Y	L	A A	N S	G	AF	21	[1]
Rat (Cytosolic)	Chordata	(1698-1722)	)	LRA	۹S	Е	LA	R	ΑE	G	6 1	PI	RI	Y	V	A A	N S	G	AF	R 1	[1]
A. thaliana (Plastidial)	Brassicaceae	(1720-1744)	)	LAV	/ Т	Е	LA	С	Τŀ	ΚK	Ĺ	ΡI	LI	Y	L	A A	NS	G	AF	L	N-NP_174850
A. thaliana (Cytosolic)	Brassicaceae	(1618-1642)	)	LAN	/ Т	Е	LA	С	A۲	K	Ĺ	ΡI	LI	Υ	L	A A	N S	G	AF	L	N-NP_174849
T. gondii (Plastidial)	Apicomplexa	(1994-2018)	)	ΤQN	/ S	R	FS	R	ΕC	ק G	βL	ΡI	RV	ΥY	L	A C	N S	G	AF	R 1	N-AAF04493
T. gondii (GT1)	Apicomplexa	(1645-1669)	)	ΤQN	/ S	R	FS	R	ΕC	ק G	βL	ΡI	RV	ΥY	L	A C	N S	G	AF	R 1	N-EEE20751
T. gondii (ME49) (Plastidial)	Apicomplexa	(1992-2016)	)	ΤQ	/ S	R	LS	R	ΕC	ק G	βL	ΡI	RV	ΥY	L	A C	N S	G	AF	21	N-XP_002369961
T. gondii (ME49) (Cytosolic)	Apicomplexa	(2726-2750)	) (	QR/	۹S	Е	I A	R	ΚĒ	EG	6 I	ΡI	RI	Υ	L	٩V	N S	G	AF	M	N-XP_002370640
T. gondii (VEG) (Plastidial)	Apicomplexa	(1992-2016)	)	ΤQN	/ S	R	FS	R	ΕC	ק G	βL	ΡI	Rν	′ Y	L	A C	N S	G	AF	е I	N-EEE30125
T. gondii (VEG) (Cytosolic)	Apicomplexa	(2727-2751)	) (	QR/	۹S	Е	I A	R	ΚĒ	E G	6 1	ΡI	RI	Υ	L	٩V	N S	G	AF	M	N-EEE28725
C. crpytica (Plastidial)	Bacillariophyceae	(1502-1526)	)	FΚΑ	٩S	K '	ΥA	R	E١	ΝK	L	ΡI	R٧	′ Y	L	A C	N S	G	AF	2 1	N-AAA81471
F. cylindrus	Bacillariophyceae	(1671-1695)	)	K L A	٩S	ΕI	FA	R	ΗМ	ΛR	21	ΡI	R L	. Y	V.	AΑ	N S	G	AF	2 1	J-145710
F. cylindrus	Bacillariophyceae	(1459-1483)	) '	YAA	۹S	K '	ΥA	R	E١	N G	6 I	ΡI	R L	Y	1	s c	ΝA	G	AF	e i	J-274583
P. tricornutum	Bacillariophyceae	(1503-1527)	) '	ΥKA	۹S	V	ΥA	R	ΕF	R K	Ĺ	ΡI	RV	ΥY	L	A C	ΝA	G	AF	e i	J-54926
P. tricornutum	Bacillariophyceae	(1630-1654)	)	кми	٩S	E `	ΥA	R	QF	R Q	2 1	ΡI	RL	Υ	V	ΑA	ΝA	G	AF	2 1	J-55209
T. pseudonana	Bacillariophyceae	(1623-1647)	)	кми	۹ s	V	FΑ	R	ΕF	R R	٧	ΡI	R L	Y	L	ΑA	N S	G	AF	2 1	J-12234
T. pseudonana	Bacillariophyceae	(1501-1525)	)	FKA	۹ s	K '	ΥA	R	Еŀ	łк	L	ΡI	R V	ΥY	1	s c	N S	G	AF	e i	J-6770
B. natans	Chlorarachniophyta	(1425-1449)	)	FKA	۹ s	Е	LA	R	κe	G	ι	ΡI	RI	F	1	sΑ	N S	G	AF	e i	J-92488
B. natans	Chlorarachniophyta	(1518-1542)	)	DLA	۹s	κı	R A	R	ΑI	G	ι	ΡI	R F	Y	F.	ΑV	N S	G	AF	e i	J-18464
Bathycoccus sp.	Chlorophyta	(1517-1541)	)	FA	/ s	Q	ΥA	R	E١	N N	11	ΡI	Rν	F	L	A C	N S	G	AF	2 1	B-Bathy08g01850
Bathycoccus sp.	Chlorophyta	(1621-1645)	)	RAA	A M	D	LA	V	ΕI	_ A	( I	P	c v	Υ	v	s a	N S	G	AF	2 1	B-Bathy11g03860
M. pusilla	Chlorophyta	(1512-1536)	)	RAA	٩F	Е	LS	v	ΤE	G	εL	P	c v	ΥY	1	sΑ	N S	G	AF	2 1	J-16401
M. pusilla	Chlorophyta	(1545-1569)	, ) '	YAN	/ S	Q	ΥA	R	R١	k G	γ	ΡI	Rν	ΥY	1.	A S	N S	G	AF	2 1	J-31755
Micromonas sp.	Chlorophyta	(1630-1654)	)	RAA	١F	D	LA	v	AE	E G	εL	P	сv	ΥY	1	s s	N S	G	AF	2 1	J-104872
Micromonas sp.	Chlorophyta	(1539-1563)	)	FAN	/ s	Q	ΥA	R	QF	ς G	÷ι	PI	R V	/ Y	1	A S	N S	G	AF	2 1	J-113382
O. lucimarinus	Chlorophyta	(1490-1514)	, )	RAA	١F	D	LA	v	AE	E G	εL	P	c v	/ Y	1	s s	N S	G	AR	2 1	J-11
O. lucimarinus	Chlorophyta	(1413-1437)	, )	DAN	/ s	K '	ΥA	R	ΝI	G	εL	PI	RV	/ Y	1	A S	N S	G	AR	2 1	J-44400
Ostreococcus sp.	Chlorophyta	(1516-1540)	, )	RAA	λF	D	LA	v	E۲	< G	зL	P	c v	/ Y	1	s s	N S	G	AR	2	J-36970
Ostreococcus sp.	Chlorophyta	(1414-1438)	)   )	DA	IS	K '	YA	R	N 1	G	÷ L	PI	RV	Y		A S	NS	G	AF		J-61393
V. carteri (Cvtosolic)	Chlorophyta	(1942-1966)	)   )	RA	4 V	F ·	TS	1	FF	= P	21	. г Р 1	LI	Y	i i	4 Δ	N A	G	AF	v	J-106840
G theta	Cryptophyta	(1448-1472)	/ ' )	F K 4	1 5	E '	ΥΔ	R	KF	יי ארי	. L	P	RI	Y	- 1 - 1		NS	G	AF		.1-68771
G theta	Cryptophyta	(1644_1668)	/ ' )	ні	. с	S		0	F		 	P	RI	F	v	Δ Δ	NT	G			J-72035
	Hantonhyta	(1435, 1450)	/ ' \		2 6	0		P	 	- 0			R I	v	M			G		F	1-440545
	Hantophyta	(1400-1408)	/	אזי <u>-</u> י א ר	10	N N					, v	P	R I	T L	IVI I	 4 - 0	NE	C			1.455290
	Delegenburge	(900-990)	, i		10	к V		R			, L		к L р i	. п v	1 A	~ ~	NO	G			J-4J020U
A. anophagemerens		(1211-1235)	) ∣ \ .	л А <i>А</i>	1 S	v P		R	AF	K G	1		rt I	Y	V	4 C	NS	G			J-38836
A. anophage lierens	Peragophyceae	(1001-1005)	) \	т К \ л и и	/ I	R		A	3 F 	x G			rt L	. Y	1	55	NS	6			J-00024
C. meroiae (Cytosolic)	клоцорпута	(1001-1655)	, ,	n K A	1 5	Q (	Q A	R	r l	_ G	1	۲ł	rt I	Y	1.1	чA	N S	G	AH	11	CIVINIT88C

**Fig. 2.8** Last 25 amino acids of the 51 amino acid carboxylbiotin binding region of  $\beta$ -carboxyl transferase (Roessler and Ohlrogge 1993). Grey highlights the most conservative regions within the heteromeric and homomeric forms. Blue and green species names denote homomeric ACCase positively identified to be found in the cytosol and chloroplast, respectively. Solid lines identify conserved regions in both heteromeric and homomeric ACCase. Details on genera can be found in Supplementary Material 1. (References: [1] Roessler and Ohlrogge (1993), J: Joint Genome Institute, N: NCBI, B: BOGAS, CM: *Cyanidioschyzon merolae* Genome Project).

In contrast to the two CT regions, the ATP binding region of the heteromeric BC subunits and homomeric BC domains show a high degree of sequence conservation (Fig. 2.9). Especially noteworthy is the region with a high accumulation of the amino acid glycine, with a motif of four G interrupted by a single aa before terminating in another G. This motif conforms to the findings of Matte and Delbaere (2001), who state that a high density of glycine is important in the binding of ATP. The intervening aa is completely conserved as R in the heteromeric binding domain and K in the homomeric binding domain (Fig. 2.9). The sixth and seventh aa (KA) are also completely conserved in both types of ACCase (Fig. 2.9).

Another noteworthy point is the motif ENGI at the beginning of the BC sequence of the diatoms (Bacillariophyceae) *Cyclotella cryptica, Fragilariopsis cylindrus* and *Thalassiosira pseudonana*, and the motif EEGL in the sequence of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* (shown in yellow, Fig. 2.9). This could be an distinguishing feature of plastidial ACCase in diatoms, since the second homomeric ACCase sequence of the other three diatoms exhibits the standard GFP motif (Fig. 2.9) and the identity of the presumable plastidial and cytosolic ACCases is consistent with the findings for  $\alpha$ -CT as discussed above.

Compared to the homomeric BC domain, the heteromeric BC subunits show an insertion of four additional amino acids, 20 positions after the end of the presented sequences (data not shown). Furthermore, all presented sequences contain the highly conserved carbon dioxide fixation site RDCS (Kimura et al., 2000) 48 and 52 amino acids after the ATP binding regions of the heteromeric and homomeric forms, respectively (data not shown).

There is a clear difference between the homomeric and heteromeric biotin binding site BCCP (data not shown). Most homomeric ACCase contain an MKM motif in their BCCP binding site. The only exceptions are the presumably cytosolic ACCases of the green algal class prasinophyceae (*Ostreococus* sp., *Ostreococcus lucimarinus, Micromonas* sp. and *Micromonas pusilla*), identified through their α-CT binding region sequences, which contain an MKT motif (data not shown). All investigated heteromeric BCCP subunits contain an MKL motif (data not shown). The only exception is the BCCP subunit of *Cyanidioschyzon merolae*, which also contains an MKT motif like the homomeric ACCase of the Prasinophyceae (data not shown). The motif MKL is also found in certain cyanobacteria (Gornicki et al., 1993), and therefore could be unique to cyanobacteria, in contrast to other bacteria like *Escherichia coli*, which contain the standard MKM motif. This difference in the biotin binding region of the different types of

ACCase could be the result of a missense point mutation that does not have an impact on the binding of biotin.

BC (heteromeric)								-						_				_	
E. coli	Bacteria	(153-172)	GΥ	ΡV	1	Т	ΚA	S	G	G	GG	G	R	G	М	R	V	V	[1]
A. variabilis	Cyanobacteria	(153-172)	GΥ	ΡV	Μ	Т	ΚA	Т	А	G	G G	G	R	G	М	R	L	V	N-YP_321035
N. azollae	Cyanobacteria	(153-172)	GΥ	ΡV	М	Т	ΚA	Т	А	G	G G	G	R	G	м	R	L	V	N-ZP_03762854
A. thaliana	Brassicaceae	(225-244)	G F	ΡV	Μ	Т	ΚA	Т	А	G	G G	G	R	G	М	R	L	А	N-O04983
C. reinhardtii	Chlorophyta	(171-290)	G F	ΡV	М	Т	ΚA	Т	А	G	G G	G	R	G	М	R	L	С	J-122970
Chlorella sp.	Chlorophyta	(238-257)	GΕ	ΡI	М	Т	ΚA	Т	А	G	G G	G	R	G	м	R	L	A	J-140567
V. carteri	Chlorophyta	(194-213)	GΥ	ΡI	М	Т	ΚA	Т	А	G	G G	G	R	G	м	R	L	С	J-77540
C. merolae	Rhodophyta	(226-245)	GΥ	ΡV	М	L	ΚA	Т	А	G	G G	G	R	G	T	R	L	V	CMS299C
ACC (homomeric)																			
Yeast (Cytosolic)	Ascomycota	(246-265)	GΕ	ΡV	М	Т	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	R	Q	V	[1]
Rat (Cytosolic)	Chordata	(304-323)	GΥ	ΡV	М	Т	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	R	ĸ	V	[1]
A. thaliana (Plastidial)	Brassicaceae	(321-340)	GΥ	ΡA	М	Т	ΚA	s	w	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	R	ĸ	V	N-NP_174850
A. thaliana (Cytosolic)	Brassicaceae	(219-238)	GΥ	ΡA	М	Т	ΚA	s	w	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	R	ĸ	V	N-NP_174849
T. gondii (Plastidial)	Apicomplexa	(521-540)	GΥ	ΡM	М	Т	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	RI	М	V	N-AAF04493
T. gondii (Cytosolic)	Apicomplexa	(409-428)	GΥ	ΡV	М	Т	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	R	R	V	N-AAF04494
T. gondii (GT1)	Apicomplexa	(172-191)	GΥ	ΡM	М	Т	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	RI	М	V	N-EEE20751
T. gondii (ME49) (Plastidial)	Apicomplexa	(521-540)	GΥ	ΡM	М	Т	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	RI	М	V	N-XP_002369961
T. gondii (ME49) (Cytosolic)	Apicomplexa	(384-403)	GΥ	ΡV	М	Т	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	R	R	V	N-XP_002370640
T. gondii (VEG) (Plastidial)	Apicomplexa	(521-540)	GΥ	ΡM	М	Т	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	RI	М	V	N-EEE30125
T. gondii (VEG) (Cytosolic)	Apicomplexa	(385-404)	GΥ	ΡV	М	Т	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	R	R	V	N-EEE28725
C. crpytica (Plastidial)	Bacillariophyceae	(287-307)	ΕN	GΙ	М	Т	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	R	F	V	N-AAA81471
F. cylindrus	Bacillariophyceae	(272-291)	ΕN	GΙ	М	V	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	R	F	V	J-274583
F. cylindrus	Bacillariophyceae	(186-205)	G F	ΡI	М	Т	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	RI	М	С	J-145710
P. tricornutum	Bacillariophyceae	(280-299)	ΕE	GL	М	Т	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	R	F	V	J-54926
P. tricornutum	Bacillariophyceae	(221-240)	G F	ΡV	М	Т	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	R	к	V	J-55209
T. pseudonan a	Bacillariophyceae	(286-305)	ΕN	GΙ	М	Т	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	R	F	V	J-6770
T. pseudonan a	Bacillariophyceae	(186-205)	G F	ΡI	М	Т	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	RI	М	V	J-12234
B. natans	Chlorarachniophyta	(244-263)	G F	ΡV	М	L	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	RI	Μ	S	J-92488
B. natans	Chlorarachniophyta	(205-224)	G F	ΡV	М	Т	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	RI	М	С	J-18464
Bathycoccus sp.	Chlorophyta	(281-300)	G F	ΡV	М	L	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	RI	М	S	B-Bathy08g01850
Bathycoccus sp.	Chlorophyta	(203-222)	GΥ	ΡV	М	Т	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	RI	М	V	B-Bathy11g03860
Chlorella sp. (Cytosolic)	Chlorophyta	(235-254)	GΥ	ΡV	М	L	ΚA	s	w	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	R	ĸ	V	J-56737
M. pusilla	Chlorophyta	(190-209)	G F	ΡL	М	V	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	RI	М	V	J-16401
M. pusilla	Chlorophyta	(291-210)	GΥ	ΡV	М	L	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	RI	Μ	S	J-31755
Micromonas sp.	Chlorophyta	(192-211)	GΕ	ΡL	М	Т	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	RI	М	V	J-104872
Micromonas sp.	Chlorophyta	(286-305)	GΥ	ΡV	М	L	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	RI	Μ	S	J-113382
O. lucimarinus	Chlorophyta	(189-208)	G F	ΡV	М	Т	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	R	ĸ	V	J-11
O. lucimarinus	Chlorophyta	(172-191)	G F	ΡV	М	L	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	RI	М	S	J-44400
Ostreococcus sp.	Chlorophyta	(211-230)	G F	ΡV	М	V	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	R	ĸ	V	J-36970
Ostreococcus sp.	Chlorophyta	(172-191)	G F	ΡV	М	L	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	RI	М	S	J-61393
V. carteri (Cytosolic)	Chlorophyta	(288-307)	GΥ	ΡV	М	L	ΚA	s	w	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	R	K	V	J-106840
G. theta	Cryptophyta	(219-238)	GΥ	ΡV	М	L	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	RI	М	S	J-68771
G. theta	Cryptophyta	(224-243)	GΥ	ΡL	М	V	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	Т	R	ĸ	V	J-72035
E. huxleyi	Haptophyta	(206-225)	GΥ	ΡI	М	T	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	К	G	V	RI	М	A	J-449545
A. anophage fferens	Pelagophyceae	(229-248)	GΥ	ΡV	М	L	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	К	G	I	RI	M	S	J-38836
A. anophage fferens	Pelagophyceae	(239-258)	GΥ	ΡV	М	L	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	К	G	I	RI	M	Ν	J-65524
C. merolae (Cytosolic)	Rhodophyta	(213-232)	GΥ	ΡV	M	1	ΚA	s	Е	G	G G	G	к	G	T	R	L	С	CMM188C

**Fig. 2.9** ATP binding region biotin carboxylase (Roessler and Ohlrogge 1993). Grey highlights the most conservative regions within the heteromeric and homomeric forms. Blue and green species names denote homomeric ACCase positively identified to be found in the cytosol and chloroplast, respectively. Yellow highlights a deviation of the general pattern occurring in diatoms. Solid lines identify conserved regions in both heteromeric and homomeric ACCase. Details on genera can be found in Supplementary Material 1. (References: [1] Roessler and Ohlrogge (1993), J: Joint Genome Institute, N: NCBI, B: BOGAS, CM: *Cyanidioschyzon merolae* Genome Project).

## 5. Impact of enzymes involved in lipid synthesis on lipid yield in algae

Here we briefly discuss the biochemical properties of acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACCase) and the impact of different enzymes that are part of the lipid synthesis pathway on lipid yield.

As a key enzyme, ACCase is highly regulated on a genetic and biochemical level (Sasaki and Nagano, 2004). This can also be seen in the levels of the substrate acetyl-CoA being higher compared to the theoretical thermodynamic equilibrium relative to the measured concentrations, which is typical for regulated enzymes (Ohlrogge and Jaworski, 1997). It has been shown, that the supply of acetyl-CoA is not rate limiting since levels of acetyl-CoA do not change considerably under different levels of fatty acid (FA) synthesis (Ohlrogge and Jaworski, 1997).

In plants with heteromeric plastidial ACCase, light-induced changes in pH und Mg<sup>2+</sup> concentration in the plastid stroma activate the ACCase (Sasaki and Nagano, 2004). Light induces a change from approximately pH 7 to 8 (Werdan et al., 1975) and an increase in Mg<sup>2+</sup> concentration in the stroma (Portis and Heldt, 1976). The pH optimum for ACCase activity lies between 7.5 and 8.5 (Charles and Cherry, 1986, Egin-Buhler and Ebel, 1983, Mohan and Kekwick, 1980, Nikolau and Hawke, 1984, Slabas and Hellyer, 1985). Furthermore, Mg<sup>2+</sup> is essential for the function of ACCase due to the requirement of Mg<sup>2+</sup>-ATP for the reaction (Finlayson and Dennis, 1983, Mohan and Kekwick, 1980, Nielsen et al., 1979, Sauer and Heise, 1984). Therefore, conditions in chloroplasts exposed to light provide optimal conditions for maximal ACCase activity. Additionally, the synthesis of FAs requires a large amount of energy (in the form of Mg<sup>2+</sup>-ATP) and reductive potential (in the form of NADPH), which are the products of photosynthesis. ACCase has been purified and characterised in several plants, including avocado (Mohan and Kekwick, 1980), maize (Nikolau and Hawke, 1984), parsley (Egin-Buhler and Ebel, 1983), spinach (Kannangara and Stumpf, 1972), and wheat (Egin-Buhler et al., 1980), but only in two microalgae: Cyclotella cryptica (Bacillariophyceae) (Roessler, 1990) and Isochrysis galbana (Haptophyta) (Livne and Sukenik, 1990).

Several studies have been conducted on genetically modified organisms in which ACCase has been overexpressed. Genetically modified rape (*Brassica napus*) and potato plants (*Solanum tuberosum*), showed that an overexpression of homomeric ACCase increased ACCase activity, which resulted in a significantly higher lipid content in rape seeds (Roesler et al., 1997) and potato tubers (Klaus et al., 2004). In contrast, a similar overexpression of the nuclear encoded *acc1* gene (cloned from *Cyclotella*)

*cryptica*), which is targeted to the plastid, resulted in an increase of ACCase gene expression and activity in *C. cryptica* and *Navicula saprophila*, but no significant increase in lipid content was observed (Dunahay et al., 1996, Dunahay et al., 1995, Sheehan et al., 1998). This result could be explained by a feedback inhibition mechanism countering the increased ACCase activity downstream of ACCase (Sheehan et al., 1998). However, the targeting of the enzyme to the chloroplast has not been confirmed and therefore increased enzyme activity could be located in the cytosol. So far, only one study investigated the gene expression of ACCase in algae. The expression of plastidial heteromeric ß-CT and cytosolic homomeric ACCase has been investigated in *Chlorella sorokiniana (Wan et al., 2011)*. The study showed that while ß-CT was upregulated during stationary phase, along with an increase in lipid content, the expression of cytosolic ACCase was not increased. This confirms that cytosolic ACCase is not involved in *de novo* FA synthesis.

It has been shown in yeast (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*) that the gene encoding for ACCase and the two unlinked genes (FAS1 and FAS2), which make up the fatty acid synthase (FAS) complex, are regulated by coordinated expression (Chirala, 1992, Schüller et al., 1992). A similar coordinated expression of the different subunits of type 2 FAS seems to occur in plants (Ohlrogge and Jaworski, 1997). However, expression levels appear to be below the theoretical maximum, leaving room for higher expression (Ohlrogge and Jaworski, 1997). Unfortunately, the multipart nature of type 2 FAS complicates genetic engineering, as overexpression of individual subunits results in non-viable organisms, reduced growth or reduced lipid synthesis (Courchesne et al., 2009).

Manipulation of the different acyl-ACP thioesterases (AATs) present in the chloroplast changes the length of the FA produced by FAS (reviewed in Thelen and Ohlrogge (2002)). Theoretically, this does not change the total amount of FA produced, just the length. However, it was shown that the production of FAs with unnatural length in plants triggers degradation of these FAs rather than incorporation into lipids (Thelen and Ohlrogge, 2002). Interestingly, overexpression of AATs did not significantly reduce lipid productivity, suggesting up-regulation of ACCase and FAS to compensate for the loss of foreign FA to  $\beta$ -oxidation (Thelen and Ohlrogge, 2002).

Overexpression of lysophosphatidate acyl-transferase (LPAAT) in rape resulted in an overall increase in triacylglycerides (TAGs) in oilseeds, along with an increase in long-chained FAs in the TAGs (Zou et al., 1997). The overexpression of acyl-CoA:diacylglycerol acyl-transferase (DGAT), also resulted in an increase in TAG

accumulation in yeast (Bouvier-Navé et al., 2000), tobacco (Bouvier-Navé et al., 2000) and *Arabidopsis* (Jako et al., 2001). This increase in TAG content suggests that overexpressing LPAAT or DGAT directs the usage of phosphatidate and diacylglycerol (DAG), which are precursors for the synthesis of phospholipids and TAGs (Fig. 2.1), for TAG rather than phospholipid production (Courchesne et al., 2009). Unfortunately, potential changes in phospholipid content were not quantified, neither was ACCase activity, which hypothetically should have been upregulated to provide the FAs required, unless a large FA pool exists.

The outcomes of overexpression studies conducted to date suggest that overexpression of enzymes involved in the endoplasmic reticulum localised part of the pathway draws on a transient FA pool. Diminishing FA pools would then exert a positive feedback control for ACCase and potentially stimulating FA synthesis (Courchesne et al., 2009). Whether overexpression of LPAAT and DGAT results in maximal activity of ACCase and FAS, which under normal circumstances do not operate at maximum capacity, or whether it leads to increased expression of the coregulated ACCase and FAS genes remains to be investigated. In summary, overexpression of ACCase alone would not likely result in increased TAG content, unless the draw on the transient FA pool, by other processes located further down the pathway, is increased simultaneously.

## 6. Conclusions

We have shown that the general belief that most algae contain heteromeric ACCase in their plastids is incorrect. Only red and green algal plastids derived from a primary endosymbiotic event, except for the green algal class Prasinophyceae, contain heteromeric plastidial ACCase. In contrast, investigated phyla with plastids derived from a secondary endosymbiotic event with a red alga (Cryptophyta, Stramenopiles, Haptophyta and Apicomplexa) and a green alga (Chlorarachniophyta) contain homomeric plastidial ACCase. In addition, the absence of the *accD* gene in the plastid genome of the non-photosynthetic euglenoid flagellate *Astasia longa* (Gockel and Hachtel, 2000) indicates that the second phylum of the green lineage of secondary endosymbiosis follows a same pattern. It will be interesting to see whether the current phylogenetic plastidial ACCase pattern will be confirmed, once sequences of species belonging to the missing taxa (namely the Glaucocystophyta and Euglenophyta) become available and more species of the taxa investigated in this chapter are sequenced.

The distinctive difference in the substrate binding regions of heteromeric and homomeric  $\alpha$ -CT and  $\beta$ -CT will be useful for a preliminary differentiation between the two ACCase types in sequences derived from Next Generation Sequencing. Furthermore, the acetyl-CoA binding region of homomeric  $\alpha$ -CT can be used to distinguish between cytosolic and plastidial ACCase.

Previous research showed that that overexpression of homomeric ACCase does not necessarily increase lipid content in algae, but it is unclear whether it was indeed targeted to the plastid, the only site of *de novo* FA synthesis. In addition, the existence of negative feedback regulation via the FA pool, as well as enzymatic bottlenecks further down the lipid synthesis pathway could have prevented a detectable increase in TAG content, which requires further investigation. Overexpression studies carried out in algae appear to suggest that overexpression of ACCase should at least be accompanied by overexpression of enzymes operating in the ER localised part of the lipid synthesis pathway in order to simultaneously increase the removal of FAs from the transient FA pool. Additionally, impacts of environmental and physicochemical parameters on enzyme regulation need to be unravelled.

It is also unknown if the type of ACCase present in the chloroplast affects lipid productivity. Other factors including growth rate, culture age, nutrient availability, temperature and light all affect lipid content and therefore lipid productivity. It therefore is difficult to isolate the effect of ACCase type on lipid content and further research in this direction is required. Chapter 3 - Resolving conflicting phylogenetic views on algal taxonomy using cytosolic and plastidial acetyl-CoA carboxylase

The following chapter is a collaborative effort of which each author's contribution is outlined below.

## Contribution

Roger Huerlimann: Conception and execution of project, writing and editing chapter Kyall R. Zenger: Supervision, editing Dean R. Jerry: Supervision, editing Kirsten Heimann: Supervision, editing

This chapter is currently in preparation as a publication in *PLOS ONE* with the following authors: Roger Huerlimann, Kyall R. Zenger, Dean R. Jerry and Kirsten Heimann

# 1. Abstract

Algal evolution is still hotly debated and our understanding is being impeded by an unknown number of endosymbiotic events that gave rise to plastids and the acquisition of genes through horizontal gene transfer (HGT). The Alveolata (Dinoflagellata and Apicomplexa) and Chromista (Stramenopiles, Haptophyta and Cryptophyta) have traditionally been grouped together as Chromalveolata, forming the red lineage. However, recent genetic evidence supports grouping the Stramenopiles, Alveolata and the green plastid containing Rhizaria as SAR, to the exclusion of Haptophyta and Cryptophyta. Multiple endosymbiotic events are suggested to explain the observed genetic diversity. However, additional genetic evidence is required to resolve these conflicting views. The unique properties of acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACCase) provide a potential solution. In algae, ACCase exists in two locations (cytosol and plastid) and in two forms (homomeric and heteromeric). ACCase can therefore inform on the phylogenetic relationships of hosts and their plastids, allowing different theories of endosymbiotic events to be tested. Plastidial and cytosolic homomeric ACCase sequences were isolated from I. aff. galbana (TISO), Chromera velia and Nannochloropsis oculata, representing three taxonomic groups for which ACCase sequences were lacking. Phylogenetic analyses show that cytosolic ACCase strongly supports the SAR to the exclusion of all other taxa. Conversely, plastidial ACCase groups the SAR with the Haptophyta, Cryptophyta and Prasinophyceae (Chlorophyta). These two ACCase based, phylogenetic relationships suggest that the plastidial homomeric ACCase was acquired by the Haptophyta, Cryptophyta and SAR, before the photosynthetic Rhizaria acquired their green plastid. Additionally, plastidial ACCase was not derived from a duplication of the cytosolic ACCase, but by HGT from an ancestor or relative of Prasinophyceae.

## 2. Introduction

Entering into an endosymbiotic relationship, in the form of an internal mutualist, offers the evolutionary advantage of gaining access to new biochemical pathways, resulting in increased competitiveness (Wernegreen, 2012). These endosymbiotic relationships provide many advantages and have shaped the world we know to a high degree. For example, the endosymbiosis between cnidarians and dinoflagellates has allowed corals to use the photosynthetic capacity of the endosymbiont to obtain additional energy. Of even greater importance were the more permanent endosymbiotic events which led to the evolution of mitochondria and chloroplasts (plastids) as organelles, enabling eukaryotes to prosper in an oxygen enriched atmosphere and to assimilate inorganic carbon through oxygenic photosynthesis (Wernegreen, 2012).

Eukaryotic life is currently divided into six major supergroups, comprising Opisthokonta, Amoebozoa, Archaeplastida, Rhizaria, Chromalveolata and Excavata (Adl et al., 2005, Keeling et al., 2005), of which the last four contain photosynthetic members. Endosymbiotic events were a driving factor in the evolution and diversification of photosynthetic organisms, especially algae (Bhattacharya et al., 2004). From a parsimonious point of view, endosymbiotic events are considered to be rare due to their complexity (Archibald, 2012). However, the observed algal diversity is difficult to explain in the most parsimonious way, and plastid diversity points to at least five endosymbiotic events, not including possible multiple endosymbiotic events in Dinoflagellata.

## 2.1 Traditional view on algal phylogeny

The Archaeplastida include the Viridiplantae (land plants and green algae), the Rhodophyta (red algae) and the Glaucocystophyta (a small group of freshwater microalgae) (Ball et al., 2011), all containing plastids surrounded by two envelope membranes. There is strong evidence that the plastids of these three groups evolved from a single primary endosymbiotic event involving a cyanobacterium (Archibald, 2012). Even though the primary endosymbiosis of a cyanobacterium is considered to only have occurred once, there is an euglyphid testate amoeba which has recently (in an evolutionary sense) taken up a cyanobacterium in what seems to be an independent primary endosymbiotic event (reviewed in Keeling (2010)). The majority of algal diversity, however, appears to be a testament of secondary and tertiary endosymbiotic events. In secondary endosymbiosis, a heterotrophic eukaryote took up a photosynthetic eukaryote containing a plastid derived from primary endosymbiosis. At least three secondary endosymbiotic events gave rise to a large number of highly diverse organisms with plastids derived either from a red or green alga. The red lineage, first proposed by Cavalier-Smith (1998, 1999), is composed of the Chromalveolata, joining the former supergroups Chromista (containing the Cryptophyta, Haptophyta and Stramenopiles ) and Alveolata (comprising Apicomplexa, Chromerida, Ciliophora and Dinoflagellata). The green lineage is comprised of the Chlorarachniophyta (Rhizaria) and Euglophyta (Excavata), which have taken up their plastids in two independent endosymbiotic events from an ancestral core Chlorophyta (Ulvophyceae-Trebuxiophyceae-Chlorophyceae) and a Prasinophyceae, respectively (Rogers et al., 2007, Turmel et al., 2009). This is supported by the former host organisms of Rhizaria and Excavata not being closely related, while traditionally a close phylogenetic relationship between all Chromalveolata has been reported (Keeling, 2010, Archibald, 2009a).

#### 2.2 Advances in algal taxonomy

Recently, the support for the Chromalveolata grouping has been waning (Archibald, 2012). While there is strong evidence that all Chromalveolates contain a red plastid from a secondary endosymbiotic event with a red alga, it is still controversial how many endosymbiotic events occurred (Keeling, 2010, Bodył et al., 2009). Newer phylogenetic analyses group the Stramenopiles and Alveolata together with the Rhizaria (abbreviated as SAR), with Haptophyta as a sister group and the Cryptophyta being more closely related to the Viridiplantae (Burki et al., 2012). This provides additional evidence against the monophyly of the Chromalveolata.

To further complicate matters, genes that are phylogenetically related to green algae have been found in diatoms (Stramenopile) (Moustafa et al., 2009), *Chromera velia* (Chromerida) (Woehle et al., 2011) and numerous species of Stramenopile, Haptophyta and Cryptophyta (Frommolt et al., 2008, Petersen et al., 2006). However, a hypothesis that the red lineage contained an ancestral cryptic plastid of green origin has largely been refuted (Archibald, 2009a, Deschamps and Moreira, 2012). The presence of green algal genes in the Chromalveolata is mostly explained by either sample bias (Deschamps and Moreira, 2012, Dagan and Martin, 2009) or horizontal gene transfer (Archibald, 2012) and their presence cannot be taken as proof for endosymbiotic gene transfer. Nevertheless, the single origin of Chromalveolata cannot explain all the findings of recent phylogenetic studies and less parsimonious solutions, including secondary and tertiary endosymbiosis, are invoked to explain the inconsistencies. For example, a single secondary endosymbiotic event was proposed, where an ancestral Cryptophyte took up a red alga, followed by a tertiary event that led to the Haptophytes, Stramenopiles and Alveolata (Archibald 2012). This hypothesis also offers an explanation for the occurrence of heterotrophic members in the Chromalveolata, which share a common ancestor with the Haptophytes, Stramenopiles and Alveolata, avoiding assumptions of multiple plastid losses (Bodył et al., 2009). Overall, algal phylogeny is a complicated topic and many questions still go unanswered, awaiting more genetic data to become available.

Acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACCase) is involved in the highly conserved fatty acid synthesis pathway. Two forms of ACCase exist, the multi-subunit, prokaryotic, heteromeric form and the multi-domain, eukaryotic, homomeric form. While all eukaryotes contain the homomeric form of ACCase in their cytosol, the type of the plastidial form can differ between taxa (see Huerlimann and Heimann (2013) for detail). All Archaeaplastida contain heteromeric ACCase in their plastids, with the exception of the green algal group Prasinophyceae and certain plants (mainly the true grasses Poaceae). All investigated organisms with a plastid derived through secondary or tertiary endosymbiosis, conversely, contain homomeric ACCase in their plastids (Huerlimann and Heimann, 2013).

While single gene analyses generally lack potential to provide irrefutable evidence for the evolution of plastids (Archibald 2012), the use of an enzyme that occurs in two different cellular compartments: the plastid (including the apicoplast, a plastid that no longer carries out photosynthetic function, but is essential for fatty acid, isoprenoid and haeme synthesis (McFadden and Waller, 1997, Waller and McFadden, 2005), of the Apicomplexa) and the cytosol, could be useful for dissecting evolutionary relationships. The homomeric form of ACCase is always encoded in the nucleus and can be targeted at the cytosol and the plastids of some photosynthetic organisms. In contrast, only the genes for three subunits of the heteromeric form of ACCase, if present, are encoded in the nucleus, while the gene for the fourth subunit,  $\beta$ -carboxyltransferase, is encoded in the plastidial genome. The heteromeric plastidial form of ACCase is derived from the original cyanobacterial endosymbiont, while the homomeric plastidial form can be either derived from the cytosolic ACCase of the endosymbiont, the host or horizontal gene transfer. However, the complexity of identifying whether horizontal and endosymbiotic gene transfers have occurred makes it difficult to resolve the question of algal taxonomy (Archibald 2012). The dual nature of ACCase (cytosolic and plastidial) and the possibility of various origins of the plastidial form may provide a way to further

unravel the unresolved phylogeny of algae. Therefore, ACCase could serve as a powerful tool to show the relationship between hosts (cytosolic ACCase) and help distinguishing between the various possibilities of the origin of the genes whose products are targeted at the plastid (plastidial heteromeric ACCase for primary endosymbiosis and plastidial homomeric ACCase for secondary/tertiary endosymbiosis).

In the present study, ACCase sequences were isolated from *Isochrysis*. aff. *galbana* (TISO; Haptophyta), *Chromera velia* (Chromerida) and *Nannochloropsis oculata* (Eustigmatophyceae), representing three taxonomic groups for which ACCase sequences were not yet well represented. These new sequences were incorporated with publicly available ACCase sequences to exhaustively examine the phylogeny of the plastidial and cytosolic form of homomeric ACCase and to integrate these findings with our current taxonomic understanding of algae. Phylogenetic analyses based on cytosolic ACCase were used to add information to the relationship of the hosts, while information of the plastidial ACCase aids to further unravel the origin of genes targeted at plastids derived from secondary/tertiary endosymbiosis. Furthermore, we investigate the relationship of the plastidial encoded  $\beta$ -carboxyltransferase subunit in Archaeaplastida and Cyanobacteria.

#### 3. Material and Methods

#### 3.1 Algal culture

*Isochrysis* sp. (CS-177) was obtained from CSIRO, *Chromera velia* was isolated from Sydney Harbour, New South Wales, Australia (Moore et al., 2008) and *Nannochloropsis oculata* was isolated from the Great Barrier Reef. All species were kept in the culture collection of the North Queensland Algal Identification / Culturing Facility (NQAIF) at James Cook University (JCU) in Townsville, Australia.

Algae were cultured in unpolluted ocean seawater (Orpheus Island, Great Barrier Reef, Queensland, Australia), that was filtered through a membrane (pore size 0.2  $\mu$ m), autoclaved and enriched with L1 medium (Andersen et al., 2005). Cultures were maintained in 1 L L1-medium in 2 L Erlenmeyer flasks at 24 °C, an L:D cycle of 12:12 h, and a photon flux intensity of 138  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> provided by cool white fluorescent lights. For harvest, an aliquot was taken and cell density determined. The cells were then centrifuged at 3,000 xg for 20 min and frozen in liquid nitrogen for use in total RNA extraction.

### 3.2 Total RNA extraction

Microalgal cells were homogenised with a liquid nitrogen cooled mortar and pestle. Total RNA was extracted from the homogenised cells with Ultra Spec RNA Isolation Reagent (Fisher Biotec, Wembley, Australia). Samples were DNase treated with the Turbo DNA-free<sup>™</sup> kit (Applied Biosystems, Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA), followed by a NH<sub>4</sub> precipitation. RNA quality and DNA contamination were confirmed by 1% agarose gel electrophoresis with post-gel staining. RNA concentration and purity were checked on a NanoDrop spectrophotometer using 230/260 and 260/280 nm wavelengths, as well as on an Agilent bioanalyser.

#### 3.3 Illumina sequencing

The library construction, duplex-specific thermostable nuclease (DSN) normalisation, sequencing and de-multiplexing were performed by the BioMedical Genomics Center of the University of Minnesota. The samples were multiplexed on one lane, together with two species not presented in this publication. The TruSeq RNA libraries were created with 100 ng of poly-A selected/enriched total RNA. The samples were added to the TruSeq RNA workflow at step 11 of "Make RFP" and were processed as written in the manual.

The DSN treatment was carried out as per manual. The resulting libraries underwent quality control by Agilent HS, PicoGreen, and Kapa qPCR. Of each library, 250 ng was pooled and cut using a Pippin Prep (Sage Science) for a target size of 320 +/- 5%. The final library pool was run on an Agilent HS at 1:10 and quantified by PicoGreen before flow cell clustering. Size selected and pooled libraries for all samples were clustered at 10pM on a v1.5 Illumina flow cell. Libraries were sequenced on a paired end 100bp multiplexed sequencing run. Primary analysis and de-multiplexing of the flow cell were performed using CASAVA 1.7.

## 3.4 *De novo* transcriptome assembly

A preliminary assembly, created in Velvet (version 1.1.07;

https://github.com/dzerbino/velvet; Zerbino and Birney (2008)) and Oases (version 0.1.23; https://github.com/dzerbino/oases; Schulz et al. (2012)), was used to determine insert sizes in Bowtie (version 0.12.7; http://bowtie-bio.sf.net; Langmead et al. (2009)). The statistical program R (version 2.13.1; http://www.r-project.org/) was then used to find the mean and standard deviation values for the insert sizes created in Bowtie.

*Isochrysis* aff. *galbana* (TISO) was assembled in Velvet (version 1.1.07) and Oases (version 0.1.23), using k-mer lengths of 51, 53, 55 and 57, the results of which were then concatenated. *Chromera velia* and *Nannochloropsis oculata* were assembled in Velvet (version 1.1.07) and Oases (version 0.2.01), using the merge pipeline with a k-mer range of 51, 53, 55, 57 and 59. The pipeline automatically concatenated the outputs of the different k-mer lengths, but there was no noticeable reduction in number of transcripts, making a collapsing step necessary.

The program CD-HIT-EST (http://www.bioinformatics.org/cd-hit/; Li and Godzik (2006)) was used to remove redundant transcripts in the concatenated transcriptomes, with a sequence identity threshold of 0.99, a word size of 10, the "accurate but slow" mode of the algorithm and comparing both strands and the length of throw\_away\_sequences set to 20.

#### 3.5 Functional annotation

Automated putative annotations for candidate genes were performed in Blast2GO (version 2.5.0; *www.blast2go.org;* Conesa et al. (2005)) based on sequence similarity searches (BLASTX) against the NCBI Blast database (E-value  $\leq 10^{-3}$ ). Annotated transcripts were then screened for genes of interest and imported into Geneious Pro (version 5.6.6; www.geneious.com; Drummond et al. (2011)) for further manual annotation and assembly. Final nucleotide (nt) assemblies were translated into amino acid (aa) sequences in Geneious Pro and visually checked for the correct reading frame with the help of sequences from related species obtained from BLASTX results. Identified ACCase nt and aa sequences were deposited on NCBI under the following access numbers: KF673905 to KF673101.

## 3.6 Phylogenetic analysis

Phylogenetic analysis was performed on amino acid sequences. Sequences not produced in this study were obtained from NCBI (www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov) and JGI (genome.jgi-psf.org). Several partial ACCase sequences of short length were excluded from the alignment (notably plastidial ACCase from *Emiliania huxleyi* and *Symbiodinium* Clade C and all sequences from *Ectocarpus siliculosus*). The  $\beta$ -carboxyltransferase dataset includes all known algal sequences of  $\beta$ -CT by March 2013, together with selected sequences of cyanobacteria and land plants.

Sequences were aligned with MUSCLE (version 3.6; Edgar (2004)) in Geneious Pro. GBlocks (version 0.91b; molevol.cmima.csic.es/castresana/Gblocks.html; Castresana (2000) and Talavera and Castresana (2007)) was used to eliminate divergent regions

and poorly aligned positions using standard settings. The resulting dimensions (number of taxa x number of amino acid positions) for the two alignments were as follows:  $\beta$ -CT, 38 x 213 and ACCase 55 x 564. The amino acid alignments are available request. Models were tested and chosen with ProtTest (version 3.2; darwin.uvigo.es/software/prottest3; Darriba et al. (2011)) to find the best fitting model with AIC, using a maximum-likelihood (ML) starting tree. The most suitable models were CpREV +G and LG+G+F for the  $\beta$ -CT and ACCase datasets, respectively. Bayesian inference (BI) and Maximum Likelihood (ML) analyses were performed on both datasets. BI trees were used for the publication.

ML trees were performed in PhyML (version 3.0; www.atgc-montpellier.fr/phyml; Guindon and Gascuel (2003)), using the models mentioned above with 4 rate categories, gamma estimated from the data and 2000 bootstraps. Bayesian trees were performed in MrBayes (version 3.2; available from mrbayes.sourceforge.net; Ronquist and Huelsenbeck (2003)) for 2 x 10<sup>6</sup> generations (ACCase) and 3 x 10<sup>6</sup> generations ( $\beta$ -CT), running 4 chains in parallel (3 heated) with a sampling frequency of 2,500 and a diagnostic frequency of 25,000. A four-category gamma model was used, as suggested by ProtTest, with the alpha parameter being estimated from the data during the run. The aa models were set to "mixed" to let Mr. Bayes determine the most suitable model, which was Cprev+G for  $\beta$ -CT and WAG+G for ACCase. The average standard deviation of split frequencies was used to evaluate the convergence of the sampled chains and a 25% burn-in fraction was chosen for each analysis.

FigTree (version 1.3.1; tree.bio.ed.ac.uk/software/figtree) was used to display finished trees. The  $\beta$ -CT trees were rooted using *Escherichia coli*, while the ACCase trees were midpoint rooted.

## 4. Results and Discussion

## 4.1 Homomeric acetyl-CoA carboxylase characterisation

We identified five previously unsequenced homomeric ACCase transcripts from *Nannochloropsis oculata* (two), *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO) (one) and *Chromera velia* (two). The identification through BLASTX searches of the transcripts showed close relationships with other existing homomeric ACCase transcripts (Table 3.1). The length ranged from 2,082 to 2,362 amino acids and is comparable to that of other transcripts of algal ACCase. One transcript of *N. oculata* is complete with start and stop codon, while the other transcripts either contain a stop codon only (*N. oculata* and *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO)), or are missing the start and stop codon (*C. velia*). One of the

transcripts for *C. velia* could not be assembled completely and consisted of three fragments (Table 3.2).

**Table 3.1** BLASTX results of putative ACCase nt sequences of *N. oculata* (2 sequences), *I. aff. galbana* (TISO) (1 sequence) and *C. velia* (2 sequences)

Species	NCBI accession #	Closest identifiable match on Genbank (% identity)	E-value	NCBI accession # of closest match	Defined function
N. aquilata	KF673100	ACCase, Thalassiosira pseudonana (57.5)	0	XP_002296083	ACCase
N. OCUIAIA	KF673101	ACCase, (putative) Phytophthora infestans (46.9)	0	XP_002997355	ACCase
<i>I.</i> aff. galbana (TISO)	KF673099	ACCase, Rhizopus delemar (40.6)	0	EIE80272	ACCase
	KF673098	ACCase, Thalassiosira pseudonana (51.9)	0	XP_002296083	ACCase
Curolia	KF673096	ACCase, Toxoplasma gondii (51.2)	0	EPR63797	ACCase
C. Vella	KF673097	ACC2, Toxoplasma gondii (58.1)	2.6E-102	AAK16498	ACCase
	KF673095	ACCase, Toxoplasma gondii (63.3)	0	EPR63797	ACCase

**Table 3.2** Final transcripts after assembly and identification. Plastidial ACCase (ACC1) and cytoplasmic ACCase (ACC2). Abbreviations of regions: Start codon (start), ATP binding (BC), biotin binding (BCCP), carboxyl binding ( $\beta$ -CT), acetyl-CoA binding ( $\alpha$ -CT), stop codon (stop).

Species	NCBI accession #	Gene	Localisation	nt Length	aa Length	Regions included
N. occulata	KF673100	ACC1	Plastid	6,414	2,317	start, BC, BCCP, β-CT, α-CT, stop
N. OCCUIAIA	KF673101	ACC2	Cytosol	7,089	2,362	BC, BCCP, β-CT, α-CT, stop
<i>I.</i> aff. galbana (TISO)	KF673099	ACC1	Plastid	6,402	2,133	BC, BCCP, β-CT, α-CT, stop
	KF673098	ACC1	Plastid	6,246	2,082	ΒC, BCCP, β-CT, α-CT
C valia	KF673096	ACC2	Cytosol	3,345	1,115	BC, BCCP
C. Vella	KF673097	ACC2	Cytosol	858	286	β-CT
	KF673095	ACC2	Cytosol	1,260	420	α-CT

Further manual identification was undertaken by using the four binding sites, biotin carboxylase (BC), biotin carboxyl carrier protein (BCCP),  $\beta$ - and  $\alpha$ -carboxyltransferase ( $\beta$ -CT and  $\alpha$ -CT), (described in detail in Huerlimann and Heimann (2013)), which were found in all transcripts (Table 3.2). The first three amino acids of the acetyl-CoA binding site of the  $\alpha$ -CT region were used to identify the cytosolic or plastidial localisation of the transcripts (see Huerlimann and Heimann (2013)). One transcript each of *C. velia* and *N. oculata* contained an AKS motif and were therefore identified as cytosolic ACCase (*ACC2*) (Fig. 3.1). Another two transcripts from *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO) and *N. oculata* exhibited the motif GKS, indicating their plastidial localisation (*ACC1*). The  $\alpha$ -CT region of *ACC1* from *C. velia* contained the amino acid motif GKG, which deviates from the usually very conserved plastidial motif (Fig. 3.1). The transcript was still putatively identified as being targeted to the plastid, based on the cytosolic nature of the first transcript of *C. velia*.



Fig. 3.1 Acetyl-CoA binding site of the  $\alpha$ -CT region. First three amino acids were used to distinguish between cytosolic (AKS or AKT) and plastidial (GKS or GKG) ACCase.

#### 4.2 Homomeric acetyl-CoA carboxylase phylogenetics

The Chromalveolate theory is still hotly debated (Baurain et al., 2010, Archibald, 2012). The traditional view fails to explain recent genetic evidence (e.g. the relationship of the SAR species to the exclusion of the Haptophyta and Cryptophyta), and the latest phylogenetic explanations invoke additional endosymbiotic events to explain inconsistencies (Archibald 2012). In order to unravel the phylogenetic relationship of acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACCase) between the different taxa, phylogenetic consensus trees for plastidial and cytosolic ACCase were constructed using Bayesian Inference (BI) and Maximum Likelihood (ML) methods (Fig. 3.2). This dataset included all algal sequences of ACCase found on Genbank and JGI (accessed March 2013), to the exclusion of all the sequences of *Ectocarpus siliculosus*, the plastidial sequence of Emiliania huxleyi and the cytosolic sequence of one Toxoplasma gondii strain, which were incomplete and missed important binding regions. The sequence for the cytosolic ACCase of Chromera velia was also in three fragments, but included all four important binding regions (Table 3.2). Of the five major nodes (A to E), nodes B to E were strongly supported (BI = 100%, ML  $\geq$  99%), while node A was strongly supported by BI (BI = 100%, ML > 50%) (Fig. 3.2). Node A, B, C and D contain cytosolic ACCase only, with the exception of the plastidial ACCase from plants. Conversely, node E, contains mainly plastidial ACCase. Therefore, nodes A through D show the relationship of the hosts, while node E provides information on the origin of the plastidial ACCase.

	100/100 Chromera velia (cytosolic)	Chromerida	Cytosolic
100/84	100/100 Toxoplasma gondii (GT1) (cytosolic)	Apicomplexa	Stramenopiles
400/64	- roxoprasma gonali (vec) (cytosolic)	Chlorarachniophyta (Rhizaria)	Alveolata
	100/100 Phytophthora infestans (cytosolic)	Oomycetes (Stramenopile)	and Knizaria (SAR)
100/100	Anneo T Anneo	Eustigmatophyceae (Stramenopile)	
]	100/100 Phaeodact/lum tricomutum (cytosolic)	Bacillarionhvoaae (Stramenonile)	
	661- Fragilariopsis cylindrus (cytosolic)		
	100/100 — Physcomitrella patens patens (sequence A) — Physcomitrella patens patens (sequence B)		
	100/100 100/100 Aegilops tauschii (plastidial)		
	100/1001 Aegilops tauschii (cytosolic)	Land plants	
100/1	1/100 100/89 Triticum urartu (cytosolic)		
-/00	Arabidopsis thaliana (cytosolic)		
	10096	Chlorophyceae (Chlorophyta)	
100/99		Rhodophyta	
	Cyanidioschyzon merolae (cytosolic)	Bildopoint	
10004	941- Bathycoccus sp. (cytosolic)		Cytosolic
	100/100 - Ustraococcus tauri (cytosolic)		Chlorophyta
	100/100 677- Ostreococcus sp. (vytosolic)	Prasinophyceae (Chlorophyta)	
	U 100/100 Micromonas sp. (cytosolic)		
		Cruntonhuta	
		Unpropriy a	
		парторлуга	
		Dinoflacellata	
	100/100 Symbiodinium Clade C (cytosolic?) — Symbiodinium Clade A (cytosolic?)	Dirioragenara	
l	100I- r Toxoplasma gondii (VEG) (plastidial)		Plastidial
	100/100 Toxoplasma gondii (plastidial)	Anicomplexe	Stramenoniles
	100/73 Toxoplasma gondii (GT1) (plastidial)		Alveolata
90/-	Chromoso volis ( loxopiasma gondii (ME49) (plastidial)	Chromotido	and Rhizaria
		Chlorarachnionhvta (Rhizaria)	(SAR)
			ø
	100/100 Cyclotella cryytica (plasticial)	Decilerication (Ctramonalic)	Cryptophyta
100/-		paciliariopriyceae (orranierioprie)	
20		Delaconhycese (Stramenonile)	
	59/50 Guillardia theta (lossificial documentation of the construction of the construct	Cryptophyta	
91/-	100/100 Mannochloroposis oculata (plastidial)	Elistiomatophyceae (Stramenopile)	
	- Nannochloroposis gaditana (plastidial)		
80/	0/50		Plastidial
100/54 100/100	n 100/98 - Ostreococcus lucimarinus (plastidial)	Drasinonhyreaa (Chloronhyta)	Chlorophyta
	100/80—Ostreococcus sp. (plastidial)		
100/100	100/100 Micromonas pusulla (plastidial)		
<b>H</b>	Aureococcus anophagefferens (cytosolic)	Pelagophyceae (Stramenopile)	
		Haptophyta	
	commits that (MrDanian WAAA) (A honey on EE AAAaaiina and E64 aming	coide socitions Ottoolio	oibitoolo boo
FIG. 3.2 Phylogenetic const	Sensus tree (Mirbayes, vvAບ+ບ) based on ວວ A∪ບase sequences and ວວ4 annin	) acids positions. Cytosonic	and plasting

ACCase are indicated. Sequences produced in this study are shown in bold. Statistical support for internal nodes was determined by Bayesian inference posterior probabilities (first, shown as % values) and bootstrap analysis for ML (second, Model LG+G+F). Only support values 250% are shown.

Node A represents a major clade consisting of cytosolic ACCase of the Chromerida, Apicomplexa and Stramenopiles and a Chlorarachniophyte (Rhizaria) (Fig. 3.2). The other two Chromalveolate taxa, *Guillardia theta* (Cryptophyta) and *Emiliana huxleyi* (Haptophyta), form an exception and are located outside of the five nodes. Within the SAR cluster, the relationship between the Chromerid *Chromera velia* and the Apicomplexan *Toxoplasma gondii* is well supported, and the more distant relationship with the Rhizarian *Bigelowiella natans* is identified, while the Stramenopiles form their own sub-clade. Based on these results, the proposed inclusion of the Stramenopiles, Alveolata and Rhizaria as SAR is supported, while the Cryptophyte and the Haptophyte are more distantly related (Burki et al., 2007, Burki et al., 2008). However, ACCasebased phylogenies do not recover the close relationship of the Cryptophyte with the Archaeaplastida.

Node E contains all plastidial sequences of ACCase, with the exception of the land plants. Here G. theta (Cryptophyta) is nested strongly within the SAR species. In contrast to the phylogeny of plastidial glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) (Harper and Keeling, 2003), plastidial ACCase of the haptophyte Isochrysis aff. galbana (TISO) is more basal to the SAR species, which agrees with a recent multigene study based on genomic DNA (Burki et al., 2012). Surprisingly, the Prasinophyceae, which contain a plastid derived from a primary endosymbiotic event, are clustering strongly with the Chromalveolates, which contain a plastid derived from either a secondary or tertiary endosymbiotic event (Fig. 3.2). This relationship was also identified using multi-gene analyses in Stramenopiles, Cryptophyta, and Haptophyta (Frommolt et al., 2008, Moustafa et al., 2009), where a strong association of certain genes with the Prasinophyceae has been found. This is in contrast to the true grasses, where an ancestral gene duplication event resulted in the functional expression of a homomeric, plastidial ACCase, coupled with a loss of heteromeric ACCase (Bryant et al., 2011). A separate gene duplication event, similar to the true grasses, occurred in the ancestor of Arabidopsis thaliana, resulting in a plastid-targeted copy of homomeric ACCase, which is expressed alongside the heteromeric ACCase, although at very low levels (Bryant et al., 2011).

The close relationship between plastidial ACCases from SAR, Cryptophyta and Prasinophyceae shown here can either be explained by horizontal or endosymbiotic gene transfer, while gene duplication can be excluded as an explanation (Fig. 3.2). This is in contrast to the replacement of the bacterial GAPDH gene found in the plastids of Archaeplastida with a eukaryotic GAPDH gene during the secondary endosymbiotic event that lead to the Apicomplexa, Cryptophyta, Dinoflagellata,

Stramenopiles, and Haptophyta (Fast et al., 2001). The replacement occurred through duplication of the cytosolic GAPDH, as is evident from the close phylogenetic relationship between the cytosolic and plastidial GAPDH in these taxa (Fast et al., 2001). The presence of a cryptic green endosymbiont in the red lineage has been refuted (Archibald, 2009a, Deschamps and Moreira, 2012), which makes an endosymbiotic gene transfer of ACCase unlikely. The strong relationship of the plastidial ACCase between the SAR species and the Prasinophyceae can therefore be explained by horizontal gene transfer from an unidentified organism, which could either be a Prasinophyte or an unsequenced alga related to the Prasinophyceae. The distant relationship of the cytosolic ACCase sequences of the SAR and Prasinophytes, in contrast, indicates that the ancestral hosts were only distantly related (Fig. 3.2). The phylogenetic analysis of ACCase provides additional support for a serial secondary endosymbiotic event that gave rise to the green plastid-containing Chlorarachniophyta (Rhizaria) within the SAR, This requires the loss of the red algal plastid and regain of a green plastid in the Chlorarachniophyta (see Archibald (2009a; 2012)). Even though this is less parsimonious, having acquired a plastid once could make subsequent acquisitions of plastids easier, similar to the case of the dinoflagellates (Gould et al., 2008).

A further point of interest in Node E is the clustering of the plastidial ACCases of C. velia and T. gondii and the ACCases of Symbiodinium (Fig. 3.2). This supports the close relationship of C. velia with the Dinoflagellata and Apicomplexa (Moore et al., 2008). Based on the  $\alpha$ -CT binding motif, the Symbiodinium sequences were identified as cytosolic; however, they cluster strongly with the plastidial sequences of the SAR. Dinoflagellates are known to have complicated nuclear genomes, which could make it difficult to determine the localisation of the ACCase. Given the close relationship of C. velia and apicomplexan parasites, plastidial ACCase could be a potential target for drug development. Chromera velia could therefore be used as a substitute to screen compounds for the treatment of apicomplexan parasites, since it is easier to cultivate as is not dependent on a host (Moore et al., 2008). ACCase inhibitors, often based on commercial herbicides acting on plastidial ACCase in the true grasses, have been investigated as potential drugs to treat apicomplexan infections and have shown promise in the reduction of the parasite load (Gornicki, 2003, Zuther et al., 1999). However, not all inhibitors showed the same activity (Louie et al., 2010). The latter could be due to differences in the presence, localisation and expression of ACCase between different species of apicomplexan parasites making a "one-size-fits-all" solution unlikely (MacRae et al., 2012). Furthermore, apicomplexan parasites are only
dependent on *de novo* synthesis of FAs during their liver life stage (schizonts), while trophozoites (blood life cycle stage) are able to access plasma TAGs to supplement their FA needs (MacRae et al., 2012, Bazzani et al., 2012), therefore limiting FA synthesis-based treatments to the liver life stage.

Node B is well supported and consists of the cytosolic and plastidial ACCase sequences of land plants and the cytosolic sequences of green algae (Fig. 3.2). Within the land plants, the two sequences of the moss *Physcomitrella patens patens* form a close relationship. Furthermore, the plastidial and cytosolic ACCases of *Arabidopsis thaliana* form their own sub-clade, while the plastidial and cytosolic ACCaces of the true grasses (*Triticum urartu* and *Aegilops tauschii*) are clearly separated from each other, as well as from the sequences of *A. thaliana*. This demonstrates that the plastidial and cytosolic ACCases in land plants are paralogous within the true grasses and also within *A. thaliana*. Finally, the well supported node C consists of the cytosolic sequences of the two red algal species, while node D shows a single clade consisting of the cytosolic ACCase of the more ancient marine green Prasinophyceae (Fig. 3.2).

## 4.3 Heteromeric acetyl-CoA carboxylase

To investigate the phylogenetic relationship of  $\beta$  -carboxyltransferase ( $\beta$ -CT) between different taxa, a phylogenetic consensus tree was reconstructed using Bayesian Inference and Maximum Likelihood methods (Fig. 3.3). The general topology of both trees was the same, showing three major nodes (A, B and C), split into four clades (1 to 4). The three major nodes (A to C) were well supported through BI and ML (Fig. 3.3). Clade 3 showed the strongest support for all internal nodes, followed by clades 2 and 4. Clade 1 was not as strongly supported and shows generally poor resolution, with the exception of three species that cluster well together (*Dunaliella salina, Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* and *Volvox carteri*).

The most interesting finding is the strong support for clade 4, made up of cyanobacteria and the Rhizaria *Paulinella chromatophora* (Fig. 3.3), providing additional support for a second independent and more recent primary endosymbiotic event (Marin et al., 2005, Nakayama and Ishida, 2009). Until recently, the primary endosymbiosis of a cyanobacterium was considered to only have occurred once, leading to the primary endosymbiotic plastid containing land plants, Glaucocystophytes and red and green algae. The fact that all four subunits of the heteromeric ACCase are found in the chromatophore (plastid) genome of *P. chromatophora* (Nowack et al., 2008), while the plastid genome of all other heteromeric ACCase containing photosynthetic eukaryotes only encodes for the  $\beta$ -CT subunit further supports this hypothesis. Clade 2 provides good statistical support for the close relationship between the ancestral Charophyta and derived embryophytes, providing additional evidence for the existence of a common ancestor of the Charophyta and land plants (Timme et al., 2012). The Charophyta/land plant clade branches with the sister clade 1, containing the core Chlorophyta (Chlorophyceae, Ulvophyceae, Trebouxiophyceae). However, the core Chlorophyta clade was not well resolved in this analysis, showing a mixture of branching. This might be an indication that the close relationship within the core Chlorophyta cannot be easily resolved using amino acid sequences and would need the analysis of nucleotide sequences.





The Prasinophytes are a paraphyletic group of algae consisting of the

Nephroselmidophyceae and Mamiellales, among others (Becker and Marin, 2009). The group Mamiellales, of which the genomes of *Osterococcus* spp., *Micromonas* spp. and

Bathycoccus sp. are fully sequenced, are more basal to the remaining algae and contain homomeric ACCase in their plastid. In contrast, the Nephroselmidophyceae *Nephroselmis olivacea* is closer related to the core Chlorophyta and contains heteromeric ACCase in its plastid. The closer relationship is also evident in the clustering of the  $\beta$ -CT subunit sequence with the sequences of the core Chlorophytes in clade 1 (Fig. 3.3).

Lastly, clade 3 consists of the Rhodophytes, showing two nested clades consisting of the Rhodophyceae and the more ancestral Cyanidiophyceae. This nesting is supported by ultra-structural and ecological data, showing the divergence of the Cyanidiophyceae before the endosymbiosis of a heterotrophic eukaryote with a red algae, leading to the red lineage of secondary or tertiary acquired plastids (De Clerck et al., 2012).

## 4.4 Conclusions

ACCase-based phylogenies can be used to investigate phylogenetic relationships in the highly diverse algae. Expanding on the findings of chapter 2 (Huerlimann and Heimann, 2013), it is demonstrated here that the plastidial homomeric ACCase in the Chromalveolata and Rhizaria was derived from an ancestor or unsequenced relative of the green Prasinophyceae. Why the homomeric ACCase is preferred over the heteromeric ACCase in algae containing a plastid derived from secondary endosymbiosis is unclear. The case of *P. chromatophora* shows that in a primary endosymbiotic event, the heteromeric ACCase is preferred. However, during secondary symbiosis, targeting a single protein (i.e. homomeric ACCase) rather than several subunit peptides (i.e. heteromeric ACCase) to the plastid may be preferred. Alternatively, there could be a general preference of replacing plastid targeted genes present in the ancestor of the endosymbiont during secondary endosymbiosis, if other alternatives to the genes are available. This can be seen in the cases of ACCase (present study), glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (Fast et al., 2001) and fructose-1,6-bisphosphate aldolase (Patron et al., 2004) in the investigated SAR species, Haptophyta and Cryptophyta. In the case of ACCase, the plastidial ACCase sequence phylogenies cluster the Prasinophyceae with the SAR group, Haptophyta and Cryptophyta to the exclusion of the cytosolic ACCase, suggesting horizontal gene transfer. Why a new gene was acquired through HGT gene transfer, rather than gene duplication within the host remains to be elucidated.

The distinct lack of genomic data for many Phyla impedes the determination of the origin of genes that have been acquired through horizontal gene transfer. For example, the paraphyletic class Prasinophyceae, which are consistently associated with

Chromalveolates, are currently only represented by the order Mamiellales (*Micromonas* sp., *Ostreococcus* sp. and *Bathyoccus* sp.). Information from the intervening green lineages may reveal that any seemingly unique ancestral acquisition of genes in the Chromalveolata are actually independently derived from multiple HGT events in different Chromalveolate lineages from intervening green lineages which have not yet been sequenced (Elias and Archibald, 2009). As more complete genome sequences become available, the complex picture of algal endosymbiosis will become clearer and the uncertainty about horizontal versus endosymbiotic gene transfer will be resolved for more genes.

# 5. Acknowledgements

The ACCase sequence of Symbiodinium clade A was kindly supplied by Christian R. Voolstra, King Abdullah University of Science and Technology (KAUST), Saudi Arabia (Baumgarten et al., 2013), while the sequences for clade B were supplied by Bill Leggat, James Cook University, Townsville, Australia.

# Chapter 4 - The effect of nitrogen starvation on acetyl-CoA carboxylase expression and fatty acid content in *Chromera velia* and *Isochrysis* aff. *galbana* (TISO)

The following chapter is a collaborative effort of which each author's contribution is outlined below.

# **Contribution:**

Roger Huerlimann: Conception and main execution of project, writing and editing chapter Eike J. Steinig: Dry weight determination, nutrient analysis Heather Loxton: Cell counts Kyall R. Zenger: Supervision, editing Dean R. Jerry: Supervision, editing Kirsten Heimann: Supervision, editing

This chapter has been accepted by *Gene* with the following authors: Roger Huerlimann, Eike J. Steinig, Heather Loxton, Kyall R. Zenger, Dean R. Jerry and Kirsten Heimann

# 1. Abstract

Lipids from microalgae have become a valuable product with applications ranging from biofuels to human nutrition. While changes in fatty acid (FA) content and composition under nitrogen starvation are well documented, the molecular mechanisms are poorly understood. Acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACCase) is a key enzyme in the FA synthesis and elongation pathway. Plastidial and cytosolic ACCases provide malonyl-CoA for de novo FA synthesis in the plastid and FA elongation in the endoplasmic reticulum, respectively. The present study aimed at investigating the expression of plastidial and cytosolic ACCase in Chromera velia and Isochrysis aff. galbana (TISO) and their impact on FA content and elongation level when grown under nitrogen-deplete conditions. In C. velia, plastidial ACCase was significantly upregulated during nitrogen starvation and with culture age, strongly correlating with increased FA content. Conversely, plastidial ACCase of I. aff. galbana (TISO) was not differentially expressed in nitrogen-deplete cultures, but upregulated during the logarithmic phase of nitrogenreplete cultures. In contrast to plastidial ACCase, the cytosolic ACCase of C. velia was downregulated with culture age and nitrogen-starvation, strongly correlating with an increase in short-chain FAs. In conclusion, the expression of plastidial and cytosolic ACCase changed with growth phase and nutrient status in a species-specific manner and nitrogen starvation did not always result in FA accumulation.

# 2. Introduction

Photosynthetic microalgae present a natural source for a variety of fatty acids (FAs). Over the last 10 years, there has been an increased interest in microalgal lipids. Many microalgal species are high in lipids, which can be turned into several types of biofuels (Kröger and Müller-Langer, 2012). Furthermore, microalgae are renowned to contain very long-chained polyunsaturated fatty acids (VLC-PUFAs, ≥C20), which are more abundant in algae than in plants (Cagliari et al., 2011, Harwood and Guschina, 2009). VLC-PUFAs are mainly associated with membrane lipids (Hulbert et al., 2013), while short-chain FAs (SC-FAs, C14 to C18) are accumulated as triacylglycerides (TAGs) for storage (Fidalgo et al., 1998). Depending on the intended application, different aspects of microalgal lipids are desired. Low value biofuels depend on high lipid productivities to become economically viable (Chisti, 2013) and short-chain saturated or monounsaturated FAs are preferred (Islam et al., 2013, Stansell et al., 2012). Conversely, VLC-PUFAs are of special interest as essential food additives in the form of  $\omega$ -3 FAs for human health (Milledge, 2011), and many aquaculture species (Guedes and Malcata, 2012, Hemaiswarya et al., 2011). In contrast to biofuels, these high-value essential food additives are less dependent on high lipid productivity, but on the ratio in abundance of ω-3 VLC-PUFAs like eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA), compared to  $\omega$ -6 FAs, e.g. linoleic acid (LA) and arachidonic acid (ARA) (Ryckebosch et al., 2012, Simopoulos, 2006).

Algae growing under stress conditions, such as high intensity light (Van Wagenen et al., 2012), high temperature (Van Wagenen et al., 2012), high salinity (Renaud and Parry, 1994) and phosphate or nitrogen starvation (Breuer et al., 2012, Fidalgo et al., 1998, Liang et al., 2012), often exhibit an increase in FA content, which potentially can be applied to improve lipid productivities for commercial applications (Chisti, 2013). Conversely, stress conditions are typically negatively correlated with biomass productivities, as energy and carbon use is diverted to storage products and possibly production of molecules for stress protection (Courchesne et al., 2009, Hu et al., 2008). Increases in lipid content, however, typically result in reduced VLC-PUFA content, with FAs decreasing in length and desaturation level, and an increase in SC-FAs associated with TAGs (Dunstan et al., 1993, Fidalgo et al., 1998, Grima et al., 1992, Huerlimann et al., 2010). While these biochemical changes in algae are well documented, molecular mechanisms driving lipid accumulation and the decrease in VLC-PUFAs are poorly understood and data on the expression of genes involved in lipid synthesis is lacking (Hu et al., 2008).

The lipid synthesis pathway in algae is thought to be closely related to that of plants (Cagliari et al., 2011, Huerlimann and Heimann, 2013). Acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACCase, EC 6.4.1.2) is a key enzyme in the lipid synthesis pathway and catalyses the formation of malonyl-CoA from acetyl-CoA in the plastid (chloroplast) and the cytosol of plants and algae (Huerlimann and Heimann, 2013). Plastidial-derived malonyl-CoA is then used by fatty acid synthase (FAS) for the *de novo* synthesis of FAs, while cytosolderived malonyl-CoA is used for elongation of FAs in the endoplasmic reticulum (Huerlimann and Heimann, 2013). This ultimately yields VLC-PUFAs generated by desaturases and elongases in the endoplasmic reticulum (Baud et al., 2003). Since plastidial ACCase provides malonyl-CoA for de novo FA synthesis, we expect its expression to be upregulated during lipid accumulation caused by nitrogen starvation. Conversely, we expect cytosolic ACCase to be upregulated during nitrogen-replete conditions, providing malonyl-CoA for the elongation of VLC-PUFAs, which are highly abundant in actively growing cultures. Therefore, it is important to distinguish between the two possible localisations of ACCase, since they are expected to behave differently at different culture stages (culture age).

There are two forms of plastidial ACCase, depending on the origin of the plastid. Most algal groups with a plastid derived from primary endosymbiosis contain nuclearencoded, heteromeric plastidial ACCase, consisting of four separate subunits (biotin carboxylase (BC), biotin carboxyl carrier protein (BCCP) and  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ carboxyltransferase ( $\alpha$  -CT and  $\beta$  -CT)), while algae with plastids derived from a secondary or tertiary endosymbiotic event contain homomeric plastidial ACCase consisting of one long, multifunctional enzyme (see chapter 2 and Huerlimann and Heimann (2013) for details). Measuring the expression of a single subunit of the heteromeric ACCase might not reflect the expression of the remaining three subunits and therefore the activity of the enzyme. In contrast, gene expression analyses of homomeric ACCase directly measure the abundance of the only transcript needed for the production of functional ACCase.

One of the earliest series of experiments on homomeric ACCase demonstrated a strong correlation between ACCase content, activity and FA synthesis rate in *Isochrysis galbana* (Sukenik and Livne, 1991). However, this study did not differentiate between cytosolic and plastidial ACCase. Knowledge of plastidial and cytosolic ACCase expression patterns in different species at various growth phases and/or under varying growth conditions is important for manipulating microalgal cultures for either improved lipid productivity for biofuel production or improving yields of  $\omega$ -3 VLC-PUFAs for nutritional supplements. In the last 10 years, several studies investigated

the expression of ACCase in algae. Two studies measured gene expression of different forms of ACCase directly through real-time quantitative PCR (Lei et al., 2012, Wan et al., 2011), while three transcriptome studies explored genes generally involved in lipid synthesis, including heteromeric or homomeric ACCase (Cheng et al., 2013, Liang and Jiang, 2013, Rismani-Yazdi et al., 2012). While all studies showed a stress-related upregulation of the heteromeric ACCase subunit or homomeric ACCase, respectively, four studies also showed a positive correlation between gene expression and FA content (Lei et al., 2012, Liang and Jiang, 2013, Rismani-Yazdi et al., 2012, Wan et al., 2011), and one study did not measure FA content (Cheng et al., 2013). Furthermore, two studies also reported a decrease in expression of cytosolic ACCase under stress conditions (Rismani-Yazdi et al., 2012, Wan et al., 2011).

These studies demonstrated that ACCase gene expression in algae changes with culture age and nutrient status, but the interaction between the two was not investigated. Investigating the combination of nutrient stress and growth phases will provide a better understanding on how algae react to nutrient starvation over time, critical knowledge required for improved industrial biofuel and/or nutrient supplement production. Furthermore, algae comprise a wide variety of different phyla with different biochemical properties, and the regulation of the FA synthesis pathway might vary considerably between organisms. Therefore more research is required to cover more taxonomic groups.

The aim of the present study was to investigate the gene expression of plastidial ACCase in *Isochrysis* aff. *galbana* (TISO), an important aquaculture species, and *Chromera velia* (a new marine species of a new order bridging the evolutionary gap between the obligate apicomplexan parasites and dinoflagellates (Moore et al., 2008)) during logarithmic, late logarithmic and stationary growth phases under nitrogen-deplete and nitrogen-replete conditions. Gene expression was then correlated with FA accumulation in the different growth phases. Furthermore, we also correlated the expression of cytosolic ACCase with FA elongation in *C. velia*.

# 3. Materials and Methods

## 3.1 Algal culture

*Isochrysis* aff. *galbana* (CS-177, TISO strain, NQAIF001) was obtained from the CSIRO Marine Laboratories in Hobart, Tasmania, Australia, and *Chromera velia* (NQAIF136) was isolated from Sydney Harbour, New South Wales, Australia (Moore et al., 2008). All species are kept in the culture collection of the North Queensland Algal Identification / Culturing Facility (NQAIF) at James Cook University, Townsville, Australia. The algae were cultured in outer reef ocean seawater (Orpheus Island, Great Barrier Reef, Queensland, Australia), that was filtered through a membrane (Millipore, Durapore PVDF 0.45 µm, WH PL 47mm) and autoclaved.

# 3.2 Experimental culture set-up

Four cultures per species were first grown under nitrogen- and phosphate-replete conditions until a cell concentration of approximately  $1.0 \times 10^7$  to  $1.2 \times 10^7$  cells mL<sup>-1</sup>, coinciding with the depletion of nitrate and nitrite in the culture medium. The four replicate cultures were pooled and divided into eight 2 L culture flasks at an inoculation density of  $4 \times 10^6$  cells mL<sup>-1</sup>. All cultures were supplied with standard L1-medium (Andersen et al., 2005), with the following exceptions: 1) all cultures contained twice the amount of NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> H<sub>2</sub>O (0.725 x 10<sup>-4</sup> M) to prevent phosphate limitation and cultures were supplied with additional phosphate as appropriate; 2) only the four replicate N+ cultures (nitrogen-replete) were supplied with NaNO<sub>3</sub> (8.82 x 10<sup>-4</sup> M), while the four replicate N- cultures (nitrogen-deplete) where not supplemented with any nitrogen.

Cultures were maintained at 28 °C, a light-dark cycle of 12:12 h, and an average photon flux intensity of 138 µmol  $m^{-2} s^{-1}$  provided by cool white fluorescent lights. Cultures were aerated individually with air filtered through a 0.45 µm filter (Durapore; Millipore). Replicate cultures were placed in two rows of four bottles, with alternating N-and N+ treatments, and rotated clockwise by three positions on a daily basis. Cell density and nutrient samples were taken every day at 8 am at the onset of the light phase. Samples for dry weight, total lipid and gene expression were taken during the logarithmic (LL) and stationary phase (S).

# 3.3 Cell density and ash-free dry weight determination

Cell density was determined in quadruplicates with a Neubauer-improved haemocytometer. Dry weight concentration was determined as described by Lamers et al. (2010). Ammonium formate (0.5 M, pH 8) was used as washing buffer. Samples were dried to constant weight in 10 mL beakers over 48 hours at 100 °C for dry biomass weight determinations. This was followed by 12 hours at 500 °C to determine the weight of the ash component. Ash-free dry weight (AFDW) was calculated as the difference between dry biomass weight and the weight of the ash component.

# 3.4 Harvesting method for total lipids and fatty acid profiles

The following volumes were harvested in the respective phases by centrifugation at 3,000 x g for 20 min at 20 °C (Beckman Coulter, Avanti J-26 XPI): *Isochrysis*: L: 500 mL, LL 2: 400 mL, S 200 mL. *Chromera velia*: L 400 mL, LL 400 mL, S 400 mL. The pellets were resuspended in 30 mL ammonium formate (0.5 M, pH 8), transferred into a 50 mL tube and centrifuged at 3,000 × g for 20 min at 20 °C (Eppendorf, 5810R). After the supernatant was removed, the pellets were frozen at -80°C, freeze-dried for 24 h (VirTis benchtop 2K, VWR) and stored at -80°C.

# 3.5 Total lipids

Total lipids were determined gravimetrically following a direct extraction and transesterification method adapted from Bligh and Dyer (1959) by using lyophilised biomass. The method was adapted by changing the solvent system to less toxic solvents; benzene, toluene and chloroform have been replaced with hexane (Cohen et al., 1988, Lewis et al., 2000, Rodríguez-Ruiz et al., 1998, von Alvensleben et al., 2013). Total lipid values were corrected for ash content and are expressed in mg g<sup>-1</sup> AFDW or % of AFDW throughout this manuscript.

# 3.6 Fatty acid profile

Fatty acids were extracted and directly transesterificated in situ using methanol:acetylchloride (95:5 (v:v)), as described in Gosch et al. (2012) following the method adapted from Cohen et al. (1988) and Rodríguez-Ruiz et al. (1998). The fatty acid methyl esters (FAME) were separated and quantified by gas chromatography – mass spectrophotometry (GC/MS) (Agilent 7890 GC with FID – Agilent 5975C EI/TurboMS, Agilent Technologies Australia Pty Ltd). The GC temperature parameter was programmed following David et al. (2002), with a gradient from 50 to 250 °C. FAME peaks were identified by comparison of relative retention time data with a FAME

reference standard (FAME mix C4-C24; Sigma Aldrich, Australia) and further confirmed using mass-spectrometry data together with the NIST08 Mass Spectral Library. A comparison of peak areas with authentic external standards (Sigma Aldrich) was used to quantify the FAMEs. Recovery was calculated using nonadecanoic acid (C19:0) as the internal standard. Individual FAME results were corrected for ash content and are expressed in [mg g-1 AFDW] or [% of AFDW]. Total fatty acid content was determined as the sum of all FAMEs.

## 3.7 Total RNA extraction

At harvest, a 10 mL sample was taken for each replicate and centrifuged at 3,000 x g for 10 min at 20 °C (Beckman Coulter, Allegra X12R). The cell densities of all samples were adjusted to a total of 5 x  $10^6$  cells for the extraction in sterile RNase-free tubes and centrifuged a second time at 3,000 x g for 10 min at 20 °C (Beckman Coulter, Microfuge 22R). First, 100 µL of 0.8 mm Zirconium Oxide beads (Next Advance, Lomb Scientific, Taren Point NSW, Australia) and then 200 µL of Ultraspec RNA extraction reagent (Fisher Biotec, Wembley WA, Australia) were added to the samples. The samples were then homogenised for 5 min at intensity 9 in a BBX24B-CE Bullet Blender Blue (Next Advance, Lomb Scientific). Another 300 µL of Ultraspec reagent was added to all samples, bringing the volume up to 500 µL. RNA extractions were carried out with the Direct-zol™ RNA MiniPrep Kit (Zymo Research, Irvine CA, USA.) according to the manufacturer's recommendations with a total volume of 500 µL of Ultraspec reagent and 500 µL ethanol. The DNase treatment was carried out with 80 µL of DNase I cocktail and 50 µL of RNase-free water was used to elute. The quality of the RNA was confirmed with a post-gel stained 1% agarose gel and spectrophotometry (NanoDrop spectrophotometer, BIOLAB Analytical Technologies) was used to determine concentration, 230 nm/260 nm and 260 nm/280 nm ratios. Samples were stored at -80 °C until cDNA synthesis.

## 3.8 Quantitative real-time PCR

First strand synthesis was carried out from total RNA (1 µg for *l.* aff. *galbana* (TISO) and 0.5 µg for *C. velia*) using iScript Reverse Transcription Supermix for RT-qPCR (Order # 1708841, Bio-Rad) in 20 µL total volume. Primers (Table 4.1) were designed using PRIMER3 (Rozen and Skaletsky, 1999) in Geneious (V6.0, Drummond et al. (2011)) with a fragment length between 75 and 200 base pairs, and synthesised by GeneWorks (http://www.geneworks.com.au). The quality of the primers was assessed using PerlPrimer (V1.1.21, Marshall (2004)) and Net Primer (http://www.premierbiosoft.com/netprimer/). Primers were chosen to contain the least

amount of extensible and non-extensible primer dimer, hair-pins, repeats and palindromes. ACCase primers designed based on sequences presented in chapter 3. Reference genes were identified specifically for this study from the same transcriptome, as has been described for the ACCase sequences in chapter 3 (Table 4.2).

Species	Gene	Purpose	Primer Sequence (5' to 3')		Tm [°C]	Fragment length [bp]	
	1001	Torget	C04-F	CACTGAAGAAGACGCAAAGGG	54	101	
	ACCT	Target	C04-R	GGTTCTCCACTCCGATAGACAG	57	131	
	1000	Target	C09-F	GCCACGAACGATACAGCACTCAA	57	127	
Cualia	ACC2		C09-R	ACACCGCACCCTCAGACAGAAC	58		
C. Vella	GAPDH	Reference	C13-F	GGTCGTCTCCAACGCTTCTT	54	163	
			C13-R	TCTCCAGTCCTTGCCTCCCT	56		
	TUB	Reference	C18-F	CATCAAGTCCTCTGTCTGCG	54	185	
			C18-R	CTGTGAACTCCATCTCGTCC	54		
<i>I.</i> aff. galbana (TISO)	ACC1	Target	B02-F	CCAATACGAACAACTACGCCAAC	55	78	
			B02-R	CGACAAAGACGGCATCCACA	54		
	GAPDH	Reference	B11-F	AGGGCGGTGCTAAGAAGGTC	56	111	
			B11-R	AGGCGTTGGAGAGGATGTTGA	54	114	
	TUA	Reference	B14-F	AAGCGTGCCTTCGTCCACTG	56	107	
			B14-R	CCAACCTCCTCGTAGTCCTTCTC	59		
	TUB	Reference	B16-F	TGTTGTCCGTAAGGAGGCTG	54	110	
			B16-R	TCTTGGAGATGAGAAGGGTGC	54	110	

**Table 4.1** Primer sequences, melting temperature (Tm) and amplified fragment length of target and reference gene of *C. velia* and *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO). Plastidial ACCase is abbreviated ACC1, while cytosolic ACCase is abbreviated ACC2.

The best reference genes for the conditions in the present experiment (C. velia: glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) and beta-tubulin (TUB), I. aff. galbana (TISO): GAPDH, alpha-tubulin and TUB) were determined using GeNorm (Vandesompele et al., 2002) in the gBASE program (Version: 2.5, Hellemans et al. (2007)). Sequence data from this article can be found in the GenBank data libraries under accession numbers: ACCase KF673095 to KF673099, reference genes KF953487 to KF953491. qPCR was carried out using a CAS-1200 Automated Sample Setup system (Corbett Robotics) with a Rotor-Gene 6000 (Corbet Robotics) thermocycler in a 100-well disk format (Qiagen) using SsoFast EvaGreen supermix (Bio-Rad) for detection. Reactions contained 5 µL sample (equals 1.25 ng template based on initial RNA concentration), 0.6 µL of each primer (final concentration 400 nM), 1.3  $\mu$ L dH<sub>2</sub>0 and 7.5  $\mu$ L supermix for a total reaction volume of 15  $\mu$ L. Cycle parameters were 30 s at 95 °C for denaturation and 25 s at 55 °C for annealing/elongation. Melting curves were routinely checked for abnormalities. Ct values and amplification efficiencies were calculated in LinRegPCR (version 2013.0, Ruijter et al. (2009)). Three biological and three technical replicates were performed for each sample and relative expression was determined based on multiple reference genes using qBase. The results presented in this report are normalised to the condition with the lowest expression level, which was set at 1.

Species	NCBI accession #	Closest match on Genbank, % identity	E- value	NCBI accession #	Defined function
C velia	KF953487	glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase C. velia (100%)	0	ACF48281	GAPDH
O. Vella	KF953488	beta-tubulin Moneuplotes crassus (97.4%)	0	P20365	TUB
I. aff.	KF953489	glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase <i>I. galbana</i> (91.4%)	0	AAQ63753	GAPDH
galbana	KF953490	alpha-tubulin Chloromonas sp. ANT3 (89.1%)	0	AAB86648	TUA
(TISO)	KF953491	beta-tubulin Emiliania huxleyi CCMP1516 (99.3%)	0	EOD11672	TUB

#### Table 4.2 Identification of reference genes

## 4. Results

#### 4.1 Nutrient analysis

Nitrogen-containing culture media of *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO) and *C. velia* were nitrogendeplete on day 7 and on day 3, respectively. *Chromera velia* consumed phosphate at a much higher rate than *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO), but adequate levels of phosphate were maintained for both species at all times and phosphate concentrations were never below 1 mg L<sup>-1</sup> PO<sub>4</sub><sup>3-</sup>, preventing the possibility of phosphate limitation. Build-up of media nitrite through incomplete reduction of nitrate and secretion was negligible for both species (below 1 mg L<sup>-1</sup> NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>).

## 4.2 Growth and lipid content

*Isochrysis* aff. *galbana* (TISO) generally showed slower growth and reached an overall lower cell density and ash-free dry weight (AFDW) (N-:  $7.02 \times 10^6$  cells mL<sup>-1</sup>, 0.400 g L<sup>-1</sup>; N+:  $1.13 \times 10^7$  cells mL<sup>-1</sup>, 0.574 g L<sup>-1</sup>) than *Chromera velia* (N-:  $1.14 \times 10^7$  cells mL<sup>-1</sup>, 0.876 g L<sup>-1</sup>; N+:  $1.76 \times 10^7$  cells mL<sup>-1</sup>, 0.960 g L<sup>-1</sup>) (Fig. 4.1). *Chromera velia* exhibited similar growth under nitrogen-replete and nitrogen–deplete conditions until day 4 for cell densities and until day 8 for biomass (AFDW). In contrast, cell densities and biomass differed between nitrogen-replete and nitrogen–deplete conditions for *I*. aff. *galbana* (TISO) from day 1 (Fig. 4.1).

Overall, *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO) displayed no change in FA and total lipid contents with growth phase and between nitrogen treatments (Fig. 4.1). In contrast, *C. velia* exhibited a 2.8-fold increase in FA content and a 1.9-fold increase in total lipid content between the logarithmic phase of nitrogen-replete cultures and the stationary phase of nutrient-deplete cultures. The FA content of *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO) showed a significant interaction between growth phases and nitrogen treatment ( $F_{2,12}$ : 7, P=0.0111) and differences between growth phases were close to being significant (mean values: L 11.1 %, LL 11.7 % S 11.2 %;  $F_{2,12}$ : 4, P=0.0623), but there was no significant difference between nitrogen treatments (mean values: N- 11.2 %, N+ 11.5 %;  $F_{1,6}$ : 1, P=0.3400). However, observed differences in FA content of *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO) between treatments were too small to be significant at a biological level, and can thus be

considered constant. Conversely, the FA content of *C. velia* ranged from 8.3 % (N+, L) to 23.6 % (N-, S) and was significantly higher in nitrogen-deplete cultures than in the nitrogen-replete cultures (mean values: N- 18.0 %, N+ 11.0%;  $F_{1,6}$ : 1891, P<0.0001) and in later growth phases (mean values: L 10.6 %, LL 13.6 % S 19.2%;  $F_{2,12}$ : 994, P<0.0001). Additionally, there was a significant interaction between nitrogen treatment and growth phase ( $F_{2,12}$ : 66, P<0.0001).



**Fig. 4.1** Left: Cell density (circles) and ash-free dry weight (diamonds) of nitrogen-deplete (closed) and nitrogen-replete (open) cultures of *Isochrysis* aff. *galbana* (TISO) and *Chromera velia*. Mean  $\pm$  SE is shown, n = 4. Arrows indicate where cultures were harvested (L = logarithmic phase, LL = late logarithmic phase, S = stationary phase). Right: FAME (grey), non-FAME lipids (white) and total lipids (sum of grey and white) content of ash-free dry biomass for nitrogen-deplete and -replete cultures at different harvesting times. Mean  $\pm$  SE is shown, n = 4.

Total lipid content of *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO) did not differ significantly between nitrogen treatments and growth phases, and contained on average 19 % of AFDW non-FA lipids (Fig. 4.1). In contrast, the total lipid content of *C. velia* increased significantly in later growth phases (mean values: L 17.7 %, LL 18.0 %, S 25.5 %;  $F_{2,12}$ =66, P<0.0001), and was significantly higher in nitrogen-deplete cultures compared to nitrogen-replete cultures (mean values: N- 24.2 %, N+ 16.5 %;  $F_{1,6}$ =149, P<0.0001) and there was a significant interaction between growth and nitrogen treatment ( $F_{2,12}$ =6.6, P=0.0114). In contrast to *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO), the non-FA fraction was much smaller for *C. velia* (on

average 6 % of AFDW) and the observed increase in total lipid content was mainly attributable to an increase in the FAME fraction.

AFDWs differed considerably more in *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO), but less in *C. velia* (Fig. 4.1). This is especially the case during the stationary phase (difference in AFDW: *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO) 43.5 %, *C. velia* 9.6 %), whereas the difference in cell density of *C. velia* is similar to *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO). The smaller difference in AFDWs in *C. velia* can be explained by the increased accumulation of lipids in nitrogen-deplete cultures in stationary phase, leading to larger cells. Based on these data, we expect an upregulation of plastidial ACC1 in *C. velia* in the later growth phases and with nitrogen-starvation, while there should be no upregulation in *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO).

## 4.3 Plastidial ACCase

*Chromera velia* showed a 4-fold upregulation of expression of plastidial ACCase in nitrogen-deplete cultures during late logarithmic and stationary growth phases, while the corresponding upregulation was only approximately 2-fold in nitrogen-replete cultures (Fig. 4.2). There was a significant difference among treatment ( $F_{1,4}$ =125, P=0.0004), growth phase ( $F_{2,8}$ =117, P<0.0001) and the interaction between both ( $F_{2,8}$ =25, P=0.0003). Furthermore, the expression of plastidial ACCase showed a significant positive correlation with FAME content (r = 0.83, t<sub>(2)16</sub> = 5.99, P < 0.001). This indicates an important role for plastidial ACCase in the production of FAs during the later growth phases of nitrogen-stressed cultures of *C. velia*.

Expression of plastidial ACCase in *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO) was strongly upregulated during logarithmic (4-fold) and stationary (5.5-fold) growth phases in nitrogen-replete cultures (Fig. 4.2). Conversely, in nitrogen-deplete cultures there was no significant effect of growth phase on expression. Statistically, there was a significant difference with treatment ( $F_{1,4}$ =33, P=0.0046), growth phase ( $F_{2,8}$ =74, P<0.0001) and an interaction between both ( $F_{2,8}$ =28, P=0.0002). In contrast to *C. velia*, the expression of plastidial ACCase in *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO) showed no significant correlation with FA content (r = -0.25, t<sub>(2)16</sub> = 1.03, P = 0.3165). Upregulation of plastidial ACCase in the logarithmic phase of *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO) in nitrogen-replete cultures is contrary to FA-based predictions of expression, but can be explained by having to maintain a FA content of approximately 10% during this period of highest growth, which is effectively halved at each cell division.



**Fig. 4.2** Relative gene expression of plastidial ACCase in nitrogen-deplete (closed) and nitrogen-replete (open) cultures of *C. velia* (left) and *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO) (right). Mean  $\pm$  SE is shown, n = 3. Letters indicate significant differences based on Tukey's post-hoc test.

# 4.4 Cytosolic ACCase and fatty acid composition in Chromera velia

In *C. velia*, the average amount of short chain fatty acids (SC-FA, length  $\leq$  C18) was significantly higher in later growth phases (mean values: L 61.2 mg g<sup>-1</sup>, LL 92.9 mg g<sup>-1</sup>, S 146.4 mg g<sup>-1</sup>; F<sub>2,12</sub>=1627, P<0.0001) and in nitrogen-deplete cultures (mean values: N- 131.6 mg g<sup>-1</sup>, N+ 68.8 mg g<sup>-1</sup>; F<sub>1,6</sub>=1909, P<0.0001), and there was a significant interaction between growth phase and nitrogen treatment (F<sub>2,12</sub>=58, P<0.0001) (Fig. 4.3). The amount of very long-chain fatty acids (VLC-FA, length  $\geq$  C20) differed significantly between nitrogen treatment (mean values: N- 48.0 mg g<sup>-1</sup>, N+ 40.9 mg g<sup>-1</sup>; F<sub>1,6</sub>=138, P<0.0001), increasing slightly in nitrogen-deplete cultures (from L: 44.5 mg g<sup>-1</sup> to S: 52.0 mg g<sup>-1</sup>), while it decreased slightly in nitrogen-replete cultures (from L: 44.4 mg g<sup>-1</sup> to S: 39.4 mg g<sup>-1</sup>) (Fig. 4.3). There was also a significant difference with growth phase (mean values: L 44.5 mg g<sup>-1</sup>, LL 43.1 mg g<sup>-1</sup>, S 45.7 mg g<sup>-1</sup>; F<sub>2,12</sub>=6, P=0.0142) and a significant interaction between growth phase and nitrogen treatment (F<sub>2,12</sub>=37, P<0.0001) was also observed. Changes in VLC-FA content, however, were minor compared to those observed for SC-FA content.

Since cytosolic ACCase provides malonyl-CoA for the elongation of fatty acids, we expected gene expression of cytosolic ACCase to decrease with culture age and be lower in the nitrogen-deplete cultures. As expected, the relative expression of cytosolic ACCase decreased 2- to 4-fold with progressing culture age and was lower in nitrogen-deplete cultures. Statistically, there was a significant difference with nitrogen treatment ( $F_{1,4}$ =9.6, P=0.0364), growth phase ( $F_{2,8}$ =117, P=0.0009), but no interaction between the two ( $F_{2,8}$ =25, P=0.6303) was observed. The expression of cytosolic ACCase

showed a significant negative correlation with short chain fatty acid ( $\leq$  C18) content (r = -0.78, t<sub>(2)16</sub> = -5.02, P<0.0001), while correlations with VLC-FA content were not significant ( $\geq$  C20) (r = -0.37, t<sub>(2)16</sub> = -1.62, P=0.1258). Even though a slight increase in VLC-FAs was observed in nitrogen-deplete compared to nitrogen–replete cultures, gene expression of cytosolic ACCase was not significantly different in logarithmic and late logarithmic growth phases (Fig. 4.3). Thus, the observed slight increase in VLC-FA is most likely explained by an overall increase in FA content in nitrogen-deplete cultures, especially FAs of  $\leq$  C18 and extending to FAs of length  $\geq$  C20. The lack of a significant correlation between the expression of cytosolic ACCase and VLC-FAs mirrors the behaviour of plastidial ACCase in *I*. aff. *galbana* (TISO). During logarithmic growth, *de novo* FA synthesis produces FAs with a length of C18, which in turn are elongated in the ER to FAs of a length  $\geq$  C20. This allows maintenance of a required level of VLC-FAs require less replenishment and the expression of cytosolic ACCase is downregulated, thereby possibly allowing SC-FAs ( $\leq$  C18) to accumulate.



**Fig. 4.3** Left: FAME content divided into FA of  $\leq$ C18 length (black) and  $\geq$ C20 length (grey) for *Chromera velia*. Mean ± SE is shown, n = 4. Right: Relative gene expression of cytosolic ACCase in nitrogen-deplete (closed) and nitrogen-replete (open) cultures of *C. velia*. Mean ± SE is shown with n = 4 for FAME content and n = 3 for gene expression. Statistically significant differences are indicated by different letters. Prime letters are used for FA of  $\geq$ C20 length (grey).

## 5. Discussion

Many algae accumulate fatty acids (FAs) in the form of triacylglycerides (TAGs) when cell division slows due to certain stress conditions such as high light-intensity (Van Wagenen et al., 2012), high temperature (Van Wagenen et al., 2012), high salinity (Renaud and Parry, 1994) and phosphate or nitrogen starvation (Breuer et al., 2012, Fidalgo et al., 1998, Liang et al., 2012). This increase in FA content is a desirable outcome for commercial FA-based product development. Despite the importance to improve FA or TAG yields, the relationship between the expression of genes involved in FA synthesis and effects on FA content are still poorly understood. Investigating the combination of nutrient stress and growth phase (culture age) provides a better understanding on how algae react to nutrient starvation with culture age, which is important information for the nascent microalgal industry. The present study investigated the gene expression of plastidial and cytosolic homomeric ACCase in the haptophyte *Isochrysis* aff. *galbana* (TISO) and the Chromerida *Chromera velia* to fill this knowledge gap. We demonstrated that the two species reacted different to nitrogen starvation and culture age in terms of ACCase expression and FAME content.

In *C. velia*, the increased expression of plastidial ACCase correlated positively with increasing FAME content over time, which agrees with the findings of other studies (Lei et al., 2012, Liang and Jiang, 2013). Furthermore, there was a strong interaction between nitrogen status and growth phase, where nitrogen-deplete cultures responded to nitrogen starvation with an increased expression of plastidial ACCase. Culture nitrogen status was also important, as nitrogen-replete cultures showed a weaker response with regards to lipid and FAME accumulation than cultures set up under nitrogen-deplete conditions. The interaction between growth phase and nutrient status has important implications for industrial production of this species and others that exhibit similar response patterns, since nitrogen status at the beginning of the culture period influences expression levels of genes involved in FA synthesis and therefore accumulation.

Previous studies demonstrated that the amount of long-chain fatty acids (VLC-FAs, length  $\geq$  C20) decreases under nutrient starvation and increasing culture age while the amount of short-chain fatty acids (SC-FAs, length  $\leq$  C18) increases (Dunstan et al., 1993, Grima et al., 1992, Huerlimann et al., 2010). Here I demonstrated that cytosolic ACCase was downregulated with culture age, explaining the mechanisms of observed increases in SC-FAs, as cytosolic ACCase provides malonyl-CoA for the elongation of existing SC-FAs, which are the building blocks for the formation of VLC-FAs in the inter-membrane space of the endoplasmic reticulum. Consequently, starving algal cultures of nitrogen or cultivation to stationary phase will potentially reduce the yield of valuable VLC-PUFAs. Thus for the production of VLC-FAs, like EPA and DHA, nitrogen status and growth phase are important considerations for industries targeting these markets.

To overcome shortages of VLC-PUFAs production for human consumption, the genetic modification of higher biomass yielding organisms, such as oleaginous fungi, yeast and plants has been proposed (Cao et al., 2012, Certik and Shimizu, 1999, Graham et al., 2007). Unfortunately, VLC-FA productivity in plants is still low, with elongase substrates being one of the potential bottlenecks (Graham et al., 2007). In this context, available pools of malonyl-CoA for FA elongation could be an additional bottleneck, explaining the low yields in these studies. It might therefore be necessary to overexpress cytosolic ACCase alongside with appropriate elongases and desaturases to produce higher quantities of VLC-PUFAs.

Interestingly, not all algae react to nitrogen starvation with accumulation of FAs. The FAME content of *I*. aff. *galbana* (TISO), a commercial DHA producer, did not vary significantly between growth phases nor between nitrogen-replete and nitrogen-deplete cultures, which differs from results presented by Fidalgo *et al.* (1998). The seemingly contradictory results, however, can be explained by strain-specific responses, as they used *I. galbana* Parke, whereas this study investigated the strain *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO). While both strains contain high levels of DHA, only the Parke strain contains high levels of EPA and differences in optimal growth temperatures have also been reported (Liu and Lin, 2001).

Gene expression of plastidial ACCase in *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO) was generally significantly lower in nitrogen-deplete cultures and was not upregulated between growth phases, in contrast to responses observed in logarithmic and stationary phase in nitrogen-replete cultures. The low ACCase expression in nitrogen-deplete cultures is consistent with results from the earliest experiments on ACCase content and activity in *I. galbana*, where nitrogen refertilisation of nitrogen-deplete cultures resulted in an increase in ACCase content and activity (Livne and Sukenik, 1992). Given the nitrogen-induced differences in growth patterns between nitrogen-replete and nitrogen-deplete cultures, a significant difference in FAME or lipid content would be expected, considering actively growing cultures halve their FAME and lipid content with each division. The increase in plastidial ACCase expression in nitrogen-replete cultures of *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO) during the logarithmic growth phase is a response to the increased

growth demand of VLC-PUFAs for maintaining membrane integrity of the actively dividing cultures, allowing the cells to maintain adequate levels of membrane FAs. It is thus not surprising that the increased expression of plastidial ACCase during the logarithmic growth phase was not observed in the nitrogen-limited cultures, which grew considerably slower. In addition, the  $\Delta 4$ -,  $\Delta 5$ - and  $\Delta 8$ - desaturases of *I*. aff. *galbana* (TISO) were upregulated in logarithmic phase of cultures grown in nitrogen-replete conditions as presented in chapter 5 of this thesis. This upregulation of expression corresponded to an increase in PUFAs in actively growing cells. Together, this shows that actively dividing cultures of *I*. aff. *galbana* (TISO) upregulate ACCase and desaturases to facilitate the production of membrane lipids, maintaining high levels of PUFAs.

In contrast, the increase in expression of plastidial ACCase during the stationary phase of nitrogen-replete cultures is not as easily explained. A similar upregulation was observed in stationary phase of nitrogen-replete cultures for  $\Delta 4$ -,  $\Delta 5$ - and  $\Delta 8$ desaturases of *I.* aff. galbana (TISO), which also did not correlate with an increase PUFAs as discussed in chapter 5. Diversion of malonyl-CoA for production of carotenoids or sterols appears to be unlikely for two reasons: 1) carotenoids and steroids are made from isoprenoids, which are not made from malonyl-CoA and 2) carotenoids and steroids are generally lipid-soluble and would therefore be a constituent of the total lipid fraction, leading to an expected increase of the total lipid content in stationary phase. A more likely explanation for the observed increase in plastidial ACCase without concomitant increase in FAME and FAs would be that malonyl-CoA may be used as a substrate for polyketide synthesis. In plants, chalcone synthase uses paracoumaroyl-CoA and malonyl-CoA to produce chalcones and flavonoids, which function in protection from UV exposure (Paiva, 2000). Similar compounds could potentially also function in algae in response to environmental stress. Unfortunately, polyketide synthesis pathways are not well studied in algae (Cardozo et al., 2007). Another possible explanation for the observed stationary phase results would be immediate recycling of produced FAs through  $\beta$ -oxidation, to build other compounds, not resulting in enhanced growth, counteracting the nitrogen starvation and utilisation of the photosynthetically-acquired carbon.

In summary, we demonstrated that expression of plastidial and cytosolic ACCase and FAME accumulation and composition are species-dependent, changing with growth phase and nitrogen status, but affecting the investigated species in different ways. Considering the close phylogenetic relationship of *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO) and *I. galbana* Parke, and their varied responses to nitrogen starvation, future research should

compare the effects of nitrogen starvation on plastidial and cytosolic ACCase expression and downstream effects on FAME content and composition of the two species. Additionally, as demonstrated by the species-specific responses in plastidial and cytosolic ACCase expression, studies should be expanded to investigate responses of different algal phyla of commercial importance, as responses can greatly affect development of cultivation conditions (e.g. fertilisation regime and harvest alignment with growth phase) for improved end-product development. Lastly, further research should aim at measuring FA content and composition in different types of lipids (e.g. storage TAG and membrane phospho- and glycolipids) to assess the compartmentalisation of FAs. Chapter 5 - Effects of growth phase and nitrogen starvation on expression of fatty acid desaturases and fatty acid composition of *Isochrysis* aff. *galbana* (TISO)

The following chapter is a collaborative effort of which each author's contribution is outlined below.

## **Contribution:**

Roger Huerlimann: Conception and execution of project, writing and editing chapter Eike J. Steinig: Dry weight determination, nutrient analysis Heather Loxton: Cell counts, support with culturing Kyall R. Zenger: Supervision, editing Dean R. Jerry: Supervision, editing Kirsten Heimann: Supervision, editing

This chapter has been prepared as a publication and is under review at *Gene* with the authors: Roger Huerlimann, Eike J. Steinig, Heather Loxton, Kyall R. Zenger, Dean R. Jerry and Kirsten Heimann

# 1. Abstract

Very long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (VLC-PUFAs) are important dietary requirements for maintaining human health. Many marine microalgae are naturally high in  $\omega$ -3 VLC-PUFAs; however, the molecular mechanisms underpinning fatty acid (FA) desaturation and elongation in algae are poorly understood. An advanced molecular understanding might facilitate improvements of this nascent industry. This chapter aimed at investigating expression responses of four front-end fatty acid desaturase genes and downstream effects on FA profiles to nitrogen starvation and cultivation growth stage in I. aff. galbana (TISO). Cultures were grown in nitrogen-replete and deplete medium; samples were harvested during logarithmic, late logarithmic and stationary growth phases to analyse FA content/composition and gene expression of  $\Delta^6$ -,  $\Delta^8$ -,  $\Delta^5$ - and  $\Delta^4$ -desaturases (d6FAD, d8FAD, d5FAD and d4FAD, respectively). d6FAD exhibited no differential expression, while d8FAD, d5FAD and d4FAD were significantly upregulated during logarithmic growth of nutrient-replete cultures, coinciding with rapid cell division. In conclusion, it is demonstrated that expression of some FADs in Isochrysis aff. galbana (TISO) varies with culture age and nitrogen status which has downstream consequences on FA desaturation levels. This has implications for the commercial production of VLC-PUFAs where a trade-off between total lipid yield and VLC-PUFAs has to be made.

# 2. Introduction

Very long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (VLC-PUFAs, length  $\geq$  C20) play a key role in the proper membrane function of organisms (Hulbert et al., 2013), but also work as precursors for a variety of signalling molecules in animals (e.g. eicosanoids (Rowley et al., 2005)). Of particular interest are the VLC-PUFAs arachidonic acid (ARA, C20:4n-6), eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA, C20:5n-3) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA, C22:6n-3), which are of importance not only for human health (Das et al., 2012), but also the rearing of many aquaculture species like fish, crustaceans and molluscs (Guedes and Malcata, 2012).

In humans, ARA, EPA and DHA are imperative for the development and functioning of the brain, reduction of inflammatory responses and cardiovascular health (Khozin-Goldberg and Cohen, 2011, Lenihan-Geels et al., 2013, Ward and Singh, 2005). The dependence on these fatty acids (FAs) is exacerbated by the low efficiency of animals to produce VLC-PUFAs, which decreases even more with age (Khozin-Goldberg and Cohen, 2011). Due to this low production efficiency, coupled with their immense importance in human health, ARA, EPA and DHA are now increasingly considered to be essential nutrients (Khozin-Goldberg et al., 2011). It is therefore important to supply ARA, EPA and DHA in sufficient quantities through diet. For example, early infant cognition depends on sufficient supplies of ARA and DHA (Qawasmi et al., 2012), which are now routinely added to infant formulae (Khozin-Goldberg et al., 2011). Many modern chronic diseases (e.g. cardiovascular diseases, cancer and autoimmune diseases) are aggravated by high  $\omega$ -6 to  $\omega$ -3 essential fatty acids ratios of 10-20:1 in Western diets (Simopoulos, 2008). Recent research has shown that ratios of below 6:1 have many health benefits (Gomez Candela et al., 2011, Simopoulos, 2008). Consequently, it is important to supply the right kind of fatty acids (FA) in correct proportions; however, environmentally sustainable supply of VLC-PUFAs remains a challenge (Adarme-Vega et al., 2014).

Traditionally, the main source of EPA and DHA has been fish oil from wild-caught fatty fish, such as mackerel or salmon (Ward and Singh, 2005), which has the additional advantage of typically lower contents of  $\omega$ -6 FAs compared to  $\omega$ -3 FAs. However, over 80 % of the world's fisheries are fully or over-exploited (Frid and Paramor, 2012), and therefore cannot sustainably fulfil increasing demands. An additional problem is the accumulation of organic toxins and toxic metal compounds in wild-caught fish (Meujo and Hamann, 2013). Farmed fish and shellfish, an alternative to wild-caught fish, have become increasingly more important to meet demands and dietary health requirements

by the growing population. As with humans, due to the low capacity of marine animals to naturally produce DHA and EPA, these FAs need to be supplied with their diet. Therefore, the aquaculture industry is still heavily dependent on wild-caught fish to provide adequate amounts of VLC-PUFAs for optimal growth, in addition to proteins (Adarme-Vega et al., 2014). While advances in aquaculture have made it possible to replace the protein part of the diet with plant material (Olsen and Hasan, 2012), viable alternative sources for VLC-PUFAs remain expensive.

As most plants do not contain relevant amounts of EPA and DHA, but are rich in shortchain (SC) PUFAs, especially the essential α-linoleic acid (ALA, C18:3n-3), plantbased diets are inadequate for meeting the requirements for VLC-PUFAs for human health and aquaculture animal production (Lenihan-Geels et al., 2013). While it has been shown that humans and fish can produce EPA from short-chain PUFAs (SC-PUFAs) (especially stearidonic acid (SDA, C18:4n-3)), conversion rates, especially to DHA, are too low to meet dietary requirements (Harris et al., 2008, Petrie and Singh, 2011, Tocher et al., 2006).

Research into genetically modified plants with the appropriate desaturases to produce VLC-PUFAs is still ongoing (Adarme-Vega et al., 2014, Petrie et al., 2012, Petrie and Singh, 2011) and is a complicated process since the complete FA synthesis pathway contains several enzymes (Fig. 5.1). While the production of up to 25% of EPA of the total FA content is possible in plants (Cheng et al., 2010), producing large quantities of DHA proved to be more difficult (Meesapyodsuk and Qiu, 2012, Petrie and Singh, 2011). In a recent breakthrough, Petrie et al. (2012) managed to produce up to 13.9% DHA of total FA in genetically modified *Arabidopsis thaliana*, however, for commercial production this feat would need to be repeated in the crop plant *Brassica napus*, which is used for industrial production of oils. Even though improvements have been made in transgenic plants, there are still many problems to overcome (Adarme-Vega et al., 2014). For example, most transgenic plants are still very high in unwanted  $\omega$ -6 FAs and a strong resistance to the use of genetically modified organisms persists, especially in Europe and Australia (Venegas-Calerón et al., 2010).



**Fig. 5.1** *De novo* synthesis pathways of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids in eukaryotic algae (modified from Pereira et al. (2003) and Khozin-Goldberg et al. (2011)).

There is an increasing market for algal VLC-PUFA for human consumption (Khozin-Goldberg and Cohen, 2011). Unlike most plants, some microalgae are naturally high in essential VLC-PUFAs and are the primary source of VLC-PUFAs in marine food webs. For example, *Nannochloropsis oculata* (Huerlimann et al., 2010), *Skeletonema costatum* and *Porphyridium cruentum* (Duong et al., 2012) are rich in EPA; *Isochyrsis* aff. *galbana* (TISO) (Huerlimann et al., 2010) and *Porphyridium cruentum* (Duong et al., 2012) are rich in DHA; while *Pavlova* spp. (Martínez-Fernández et al., 2006) and *Isochrysis galbana* (Parke) (Fidalgo et al., 1998) contain both. Compared to other possible sources, microalgae with a high EPA and DHA content also have potential for high productivities (Adarme-Vega et al., 2012) and are generally low in  $\omega$ -6 LC PUFA, including ARA (Khozin-Goldberg et al., 2011), however, cost is still a prohibitive problem (Adarme-Vega et al., 2012). A detailed understanding of FA desaturation and elongation pathways can help to estimate the potential of VLC-PUFA productivities in different algal species and open possibilities for the manipulation of FA composition by manipulating environmental conditions (Khozin-Goldberg and Cohen, 2011).

The *de novo* synthesis of FAs in algae (and plants) occurs in the chloroplast, whereas FA elongation and desaturation occurs in the smooth endoplasmic reticulum (ER) (Huerlimann and Heimann, 2013, Khozin-Goldberg and Cohen, 2011). In the plastid,

stearic acid (C18:0), one of the products of de novo lipid synthesis, is converted into oleic acid (C18:1n-9) by a  $\Delta^9$ -desaturase and is exported from the plastid into the smooth ER for further elongation and desaturation. There are two connected parallel pathways in the lipid elongation and desaturation process (Fig. 5.1). The  $\Delta^{12}$ -,  $\Delta^{15}$ - and  $\Delta^{17}$ -desaturases (both  $\omega$ -desaturases) introduce a double bond between an existing double bond and the acyl end, while the  $\Delta^4$ -,  $\Delta^5$ -,  $\Delta^6$ - and  $\Delta^8$ -desaturases (all front-end desaturases), introduce a double bond between an existing double bond and the carboxyl end (Hashimoto et al., 2008). The  $\omega$ -6 pathway starts with linoleic acid (LA, C18:2) and ultimately produces ARA, while the  $\omega$ -3 pathway starts with ALA and results in EPA and later DHA (Fig. 5.1). Apomorphic animals generally lack  $\Delta^{12}$ desaturases, as well as  $\omega$ -desaturases (i.e.  $\Delta^{15}$ - and  $\Delta^{17}$ -desaturases), making linoleic acid and ALA essential (Pereira et al., 2003). Furthermore, the low abundance and rate of  $\Delta^6$ -desaturase is limiting production of ARA, EPA and DHA from the precursors LA and ALA in humans, animals, plants and yeast (Qi et al., 2004, Ward and Singh, 2005). Humans also lack  $\Delta^4$ -desaturase, while the low efficiency  $\Delta^6$ -desaturase is involved in an alternative retro-conversion pathway that includes a controlled β-oxidation step from C24:6n-3 to produce DHA (see Pereira et al. (2004) for detail on this alternative pathway in animals). Certain eukaryotes (Euglena gracilis (euglenoid), Tetrahymena sp. (ciliate), Acanthamoeba (soil amoeba), Phaeodactylum tricornutum (stramenopile), *Emiliania huxleyi* and *I. galbana* (haptophytes)) have a mechanism to bypass the low specific reaction rate  $\Delta^6$ -desaturation/elongation step (Khozin-Goldberg et al., 2011, Pereira et al., 2003), enabling these protists to produce di-homo-y-linoleic acid (DGLA, C20:3) and eicosatetraenoic acid (ETA, C20:4) from LA and y-linoleic acid (GLA, C18:3), respectively, through the use of a  $\Delta^9$ -elongase and a  $\Delta^8$ -desaturase (Fig. 5.1).

Desaturases have different substrate specificities for FAs bound to a protein (acyl-ACP), a co-factor (acyl-CoA) or being part of a phospholipid (acyl-lipid). In most algae, the investigated desaturases were specific to acyl-lipids, but a few exhibit specificity for acyl-CoA (Meesapyodsuk and Qiu, 2012). The individual front-end desaturases generally show low specificity to a single pathway ( $\omega$ -6 or  $\omega$ -3), but can convert FA from either pathway (Ma et al., 2011a, Pereira et al., 2003). For example, the  $\Delta^{6}$ -desaturase cloned from *Nannochloropsis oculata* converts LA equally well to GLA as ALA to stearidonic acid (SDA, C18:4n-3) (Ma et al., 2011a).  $\Delta^{5}$ - and  $\Delta^{6}$ - fatty acid desaturases cloned from *Phaeodacylum tricornutum* also converted the respective FAs from both pathways (Fig. 5.1) (Domergue et al., 2002). However, some appear to be specific to one pathway, for example a newly identified acyl-CoA-specific  $\Delta^{6}$ -

that desaturases and elongases generally work in both pathways, it is surprising that many marine algae are unusually high in  $\omega$ -3 FAs and low in  $\omega$ -6 FAs. It follows that a specific mechanism is required that favours the  $\omega$ 3-pathway over the  $\omega$ -6 pathway, which could be achieved by strong activities of  $\omega$ -15- and  $\omega$ -17 desaturases, funnelling the  $\omega$ -6 FAs towards the  $\omega$ 3 pathway (Petrie and Singh, 2011). Alternatively, FAs could be funnelled to pools that cannot be accessed by desaturases and elongases, facilitated by transfer of FAs from glycerophospholipids and acyl-CoA, to which they are bound during desaturation and elongation, to lipid compounds that are not accessible by substrate-specific desaturases and elongases, as observed in plants (Abbadi et al., 2004). This partitioning can explain why some algae can accumulate FAs from different parts of the same pathway. In the last 10 years, there has been an increased focus on researching the desaturation and elongation of fatty acids (FA) in algae. VLC-PUFAs have an important role in the function of cells through their important effect on cell membranes fluidity.

Low temperatures induce the production of membrane PUFAs in some algae, for example in *Nannochloropsis* sp., *Chlorella* sp. (James et al., 1989), *Chlamydomonas* sp. (Zhang et al., 2011), *Pavlova salina* (Zhou et al., 2007) and *Rhodomonas* sp. (Renaud et al., 2002). However, temperature is not the only factor influencing FA content and composition. The FA composition can also change with culture age/growth phase and nutrient status. For example, *N. oculata.*, *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO), *Tetraselmis* sp, and *Rhodomonas* sp. exhibit a shift from a high proportion of PUFAs in logarithmic phase towards an increased amount of monounsaturated and/or saturated FAs in late logarithmic and stationary phase (Huerlimann et al., 2010). This reduction in PUFAs also leads to a large reduction of VLC-PUFAs, especially EPA in *Nannochloropsis oculata*. Unfortunately, there is still a distinct lack of information on the molecular basis of these biochemical changes.

Previous expression studies in microalgae have investigated the effect of temperature on the expression of  $\Delta^6$ -desaturase in *N. oculata* (Ma et al., 2011b) and  $\Delta^8$ -,  $\Delta^6$ - and  $\Delta^4$ desaturases in *Pavlova salina* (Zhou et al., 2007), and the effect of nitrogen starvation on expression of  $\Delta^{12}$ -,  $\Delta^6$ - and  $\Delta^5$ -desaturases in the green microalgae *Parietochloris incisa* (Iskandarov et al., 2010). To date, no study investigated the effect of nitrogen starvation and culture age on expression patterns of all four front end desaturases involved in the pathway leading to DHA. Knowing how algae react to nitrogen starvation at different growth phases will help in choosing the right fertilisation and harvesting conditions to improve VLC-PUFA yields and economic feasibility. As the haptophyte *Isochrysis* aff. *galbana* (TISO) has a high DHA content, the aim of this study was to investigate the impact of growth phase (logarithmic, late logarithmic and stationary) under nitrogen-replete and nitrogen-deplete conditions on the expression of four front end FA desaturase genes of *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO).

# 3. Materials and Methods

Only partial material and methods are presented here. For full length material and methods on "experimental culture set-up", "cell density and ash-free dry weight determination", " harvesting method for total lipids and fatty acid profiles and total RNA", " fatty acid profile", "total RNA extraction", "quantitative PCR" and "statistics" please refer to the material and methods section of chapter 4 of this thesis.

# 3.1 Algal culture

*Isochrysis* aff. *galbana* (CS-177, TISO strain) was obtained from the CSIRO Marine Laboratories in Hobart, Tasmania, Australia and is kept in the culture collection of the North Queensland Algal Identification / Culturing Facility (NQAIF) at James Cook University, Townsville, Australia under the accession number NQAIF001. TISO was cultured in L1 fertilised mid to outer reef filtered (Millipore, Durapore PVDF 0.45  $\mu$ m, WH PL 47mm) and autoclaved seawater (Orpheus Island, Great Barrier Reef, Queensland, Australia).

## 3.2 Experimental culture set-up

Each treatment consisted of four replicate cultures of *I*. aff. *galbana* (TISO). Aerated cultures were maintained at 28 °C, a light-dark cycle of 12:12 h, and an average photon flux intensity of 138  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> provided by cool white fluorescent lights. Cell number and nutrient samples were taken every day at 8 am at the onset of the light phase. Samples for ash-free dry weight, total lipid and gene expression were taken during the logarithmic (L), late logarithmic (LL) and stationary phase (S).

## 3.3 Quantitative real-time PCR

Primers for reference genes were taken from chapter 4 of this thesis, while the sequences of the desaturases were identified specifically for this study (Table 5.1), as described previously in chapter 4. Primers (Table 5.2) were designed using PRIMER3 (Rozen and Skaletsky, 1999) in Geneious (V6.0, Drummond et al. (2011)) with a fragment length between 75 and 200 base pairs, and synthesised by GeneWorks (http://www.geneworks.com.au).

Gene ID	NCBI accession #	nt Length	aa Length	Closest match on Genbank, E-val % identity		NCBI accession #
d4FAD	KF953492	1,284	427	delta-4 fatty acid desaturase <i>Isochrysi</i> s sp. GB-2012 (100%)	0	AFJ74710
d5FAD	KF953493	1,320	439	delta-5 fatty acid desaturase Isochrysis galbana (100%)	0	AFD22890
d6FAD	KF953494	1,065	354	delta-6 fatty acid desaturase <i>Isochrysis galbana</i> (99.4%)	0	AEV77089
d8FAD	KF953495	1,248	415	delta-8 oleate desaturase <i>Isochrysi</i> s galbana (100%)	0	AFB82640

Table 5.1 Identification of genes using a BLASTX search in Geneious (V6.0).

The best reference genes for the conditions in the present experiment (*C. velia:* glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) and beta-tubulin (TUB), *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO): GAPDH, alpha-tubulin and TUB) were determined using GeNorm (Vandesompele et al., 2002) in the qBASE program (Version: 2.5, Hellemans et al. (2007)). Sequence data from this chapter can be found in the GenBank data libraries under accession numbers: desaturases KF953492 to KF953495, reference genes KF953487 to KF953491. qPCR was carried out using a CAS-1200 Automated Sample Setup system (Corbett Robotics), with a Rotor-Gene 6000 (Corbet Robotics) thermocycler, in a 100-well disk format (Qiagen), using SsoFast EvaGreen supermix (Bio-Rad) for detection. Melting curves were routinely checked for abnormalities. Ct values and amplification efficiencies were calculated in LinRegPCR (version 2013.0 Ruijter et al. (2009)). Three biological and three technical replicates where performed for each sample and relative expression was determined based on multiple reference genes using qBase. The results presented in this report are normalised to the condition with the lowest expression level, which was set at 1.

**Table 5.2** Primer sequences, melting temperature (Tm) provided by Geneworks (Thebarton, Adelaide, Australia) and amplified fragment length of target and reference gene of *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO).

Gene ID	Purpose	Primer name	Sequence (5' to 3')	Orientation	Tm [°C]	Fragement length [bp]	
	Target	B21-F	GAGAACCTCCGACAAATCCG	Forward	54	110	
04FAD		B21-R	GTCTGGTAGAGCCCGTTGA	TAGAGCCCGTTGA Reverse		119	
	Target	B22-F	CGTGAACTGGTGGATGGCTTAC	Forward	57	106	
USFAD		B22-R	ACGGCGAGGAGATTGACATAC	Reverse	54	100	
d6FAD	Target	B24-F	CAATGACGAAACGGACGAGTG	Forward	54	98	
		B24-R	ACTGGAGCCCGATGTGTAGC	Reverse	56		
d8FAD	Target	B27-F	GCGAATCTAACCTCTACGAGTGC	Forward	57	07	
		B27-R	ATTCCACCTTGCGTGCCTT	Reverse	51	07	
GAPDH	Reference	B11-F	AGGGCGGTGCTAAGAAGGTC	Forward	56	111	
		B11-R	AGGCGTTGGAGAGGATGTTGA	Reverse	54	114	
TUA	Reference	B14-F	AAGCGTGCCTTCGTCCACTG	Forward	56	107	
		B14-R	CCAACCTCCTCGTAGTCCTTCTC	Reverse	59	107	
TUB	Reference	B16-F	TGTTGTCCGTAAGGAGGCTG	Forward	54	110	
		B16-R	TCTTGGAGATGAGAAGGGTGC	Reverse	54	110	

## 4. Results

## 4.1 Growth profiles, biomass yields and nutrient status

Detail on growth profiles, biomass yield and nutrient status can be found in the results section of chapter 4 of this thesis (Fig. 4.1). In brief, there was a distinct difference in cell numbers and biomass yield (ash-free dry weight (AFDW)) between *I.* aff. galbana (TISO) cultures grown under nitrogen-deplete (N-) and nitrogen-replete (N+) conditions. Differences in cell density were evident from the first day; however, differences in biomass (AFDW) were not apparent until the second harvest on day 9.

# 4.2 Fatty acid profiles

The total fatty acid (FA) content of *Isochrysis* aff. *galbana* (TISO) ranged from 10.5 to 12.0 % of ash-free dry weigh (Table **5.3**). There was no significant difference between nitrogen treatments ( $F_{1,6}$ =1, P=0.3400) and growth phases ( $F_{2,12}$ =4, P=0.0623), but there was a significant interaction between the two factors ( $F_{2,12}$ =7, P=0.0111). However, in contrast to the FA content, there were considerable shifts in FA composition.

The five major FAs, myristic acid (C14:0), palmitic acid (C16:0), oleic acid (C18:1n-9), stearidonic acid (SDA, C18:4n-3) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA, C22:6n-3), occurred at concentrations of more than 10 mg g<sup>-1</sup> AFDW, and accounted for over 70% of the total FAs, independent of treatment and growth phase (Table **5.3**). Minor FAs, occurring at a concentration between 2 and 10 mg g<sup>-1</sup> AFDW, included palmitoleic acid (C16:1n-7), vaccenic acid (C18:1n-7), linoleic acid (LA, C18:2n-6) and  $\alpha$ -linoleic acid (ALA, C18:3n-3). The remaining FAs occurred at levels < 2 mg g<sup>-1</sup> AFDW, or were not detected.

Of the 14 main FAs that are part of the  $\omega$ -3 and  $\omega$ -6 desaturation and elongation pathways (Fig. 5.1), 11 were identified with the help of the FAME standard (marked in bold in Table **5.3**). The three remaining FAs, eicosatrienoic acid (C20:3n-3), eicosatetraenoic acid (C20:4n-3) and docosapentaenoic acid (C22:5n-3), were not part of the FAME standard. However, no large peaks went unidentified in the chromatograms and it is unlikely that these fatty acids occurred in large quantities. Therefore, even though these important FAs were not included in the FAME standard, they were considered to occur at levels  $\leq 1 \text{ mg g}^{-1} \text{ AFDW}.$  **Table 5.3** Fatty acid profiles of *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO) at logarithmic, late logarithmic and stationary phase grown in nitrogen-replete and deplete cultures. Mean  $\pm$  SE is shown, n = 4. Fatty acids that are directly part of the  $\omega$ -3 and  $\omega$ -6 desaturation and elongation pathways are marked in bold. Letters indicate significant differences based on Tukey's post-hoc test (p < 0.05).

		FAME content [mg g <sup>-1</sup> AFDW]					
		N	litrogen-replet	e	Nitrogen-deplete		
Fatty Acid	Common Name	L	LL	S	L	LL	S
C14:0	Myristic acid	17.8±0.99 <sup>a</sup>	15.7±0.33ª	12.3±0.20 <sup>b</sup>	12.4±0.31 <sup>b</sup>	12.5±0.35 <sup>b</sup>	12±0.26 <sup>b</sup>
C14:1n-5	Myristoleic acid	0.2±0.01	0.2±0.00	0.1±0.00	0.1±0.00	0.1±0.00	0.1±0.00
C15:0	Pentadecanoic acid	0.4±0.02	0.4±0.02	0.3±0.01	0.3±0.02	0.3±0.01	0.3±0.01
C15:1n-6	Pentadecenoic acid	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
C16:0	Palmitic acid	12.1±0.55 <sup>ª</sup>	13.1±0.31 <sup>ab</sup>	12±0.22 <sup>ª</sup>	14.5±0.43 <sup>b</sup>	18.8±0.67 <sup>c</sup>	18.9±0.61 <sup>c</sup>
C16:1n-7	Palmitoleic acid	7.4±0.41 <sup>ª</sup>	6.8±0.12 <sup>ª</sup>	5.8±0.08 <sup>b</sup>	4.9±0.14 <sup>c</sup>	4.6±0.10 <sup>c</sup>	4.6±0.09 <sup>c</sup>
C16:1n-9	Hypogeic acid	0.2±0.00	0.2±0.01	0.2±0.01	0.2±0.01	0.2±0.00	0.2±0.01
C16:2n-4		0.4±0.02	0.4±0.01	0.3±0.00	0.3±0.01	0.2±0.00	0.2±0.00
C16:2n-6		ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
C16:3n-3		ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
C16:3n-4		0.3±0.02	0.3±0.01	0.3±0.00	0.3±0.01	0.3±0.01	0.3±0.01
C16:4n-3		ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
C17:0	Margaric acid	1.1±0.08	0.9±0.03	0.8±0.01	0.7±0.02	0.7±0.01	0.7±0.01
C18:0	Stearic acid	0.1±0.01	0.2±0.01	0.2±0.01	0.2±0.01	0.4±0.02	0.4±0.02
C18:1n-7	Vaccenic acid	2.2±0.13 <sup>ª</sup>	2.3±0.07 <sup>ab</sup>	2.3±0.06 <sup>ab</sup>	2.2±0.03 <sup>ab</sup>	2.5±0.04 <sup>ab</sup>	2.5±0.05 <sup>b</sup>
C18:1n-9	Oleic acid	8.3±0.59 <sup>a</sup>	15.2±0.73 <sup>b</sup>	17.2±0.40 <sup>bc</sup>	19.2±0.64 <sup>°</sup>	28.1±0.92 <sup>d</sup>	28.7±0.64 <sup>d</sup>
C18:2n-6	Linoleic acid	6.0±0.37 <sup>a</sup>	6.9±0.22 <sup>b</sup>	4.7±0.08 <sup>c</sup>	4.7±0.14 <sup>°</sup>	4.7±0.19 <sup>c</sup>	4.7±0.15 <sup>c</sup>
C18:3n-3	α-Linolenic acid	9.6±0.43 <sup>ª</sup>	9.1±0.15 <sup>ab</sup>	8.1±0.06 <sup>bc</sup>	7.5±0.10 <sup>°</sup>	6.1±0.11 <sup>d</sup>	5.8±0.12 <sup>d</sup>
C18:3n-6	γ-Linolenic acid	1.5±0.10 <sup>ª</sup>	1.6±0.07 <sup>a</sup>	1.0±0.02 <sup>b</sup>	0.7±0.01 <sup>°</sup>	0.4±0.01 <sup>d</sup>	0.4±0.02 <sup>d</sup>
C18:4n-3	Stearidonic acid	34.7±1.56 <sup>ª</sup>	31.3±0.61 <sup>b</sup>	26.9±0.44 <sup>c</sup>	22.3±0.38 <sup>d</sup>	19.6±0.28 <sup>d</sup>	19.6±0.30 <sup>d</sup>
C20:0	Arachidic acid	0.2±0.02	0.3±0.03	0.4±0.01	0.3±0.04	0.5±0.02	0.6±0.02
C20:1n-11	Gadoleic acid	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
C20:2n-6	Eicosadienoic acid	0.1±0.00	0.2±0.01	0.3±0.00	0.3±0.01	0.4±0.02	0.4±0.01
C20:3n-6	Dihomo-γ-linolenic acid	0.1±0.01	0.1±0.01	0.2±0.01	0.2±0.00	0.2±0.01	0.2±0.01
C20:4n-6	Arachidonic acid	0.2±0.01	0.2±0.01	0.2±0.01	0.2±0.00	0.2±0.01	0.2±0.01
C20:5n-3	Eicosapentaenoic acid	0.9±0.04	1.0±0.04	0.8±0.05	0.7±0.02	0.7±0.01	0.8±0.04
C22:0	Behenic acid	0.2±0.02	0.4±0.03	0.7±0.02	0.7±0.01	1.0±0.06	0.9±0.05
C22:1n-9	Erucic acid	0.1±0.01	0.2±0.03	0.3±0.02	0.4±0.01	0.5±0.05	0.5±0.01
C22:2n-6	Brassic acid	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
C22:6n-3	Docosahexaenoic acid	12.0±0.15 <sup>ª</sup>	12.4±0.18 <sup>ª</sup>	12.4±0.31 <sup>ª</sup>	11.9±0.08 <sup>ª</sup>	11.6±0.11 <sup>ª</sup>	12.3±0.21 <sup>ª</sup>
C24:0	Lignoceric acid	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
C24:1n-9	Nervonic acid	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
Total saturate	ed FAs [mg g <sup>-1</sup> AFDW]	32.0±1.65 <sup>ab</sup>	31.1±0.71 <sup>ab</sup>	26.7±0.34 <sup>c</sup>	29.2±0.74 <sup>bc</sup>	34.2±1.14 <sup>a</sup>	33.8±0.97 <sup>a</sup>
Total monounsaturated FAs [mg g⁻¹ AFDW]		18.5±1.14 <sup>ª</sup>	24.9±0.86 <sup>b</sup>	26.0±0.51 <sup>b</sup>	27.0±0.67 <sup>b</sup>	35.9±1.11 <sup>c</sup>	36.6±0.76 <sup>c</sup>
Total polyunsaturated FAs [mg g <sup>-1</sup> AFDW]		65.8±2.28 <sup>a</sup>	63.5±1.13ª	55.1±0.74 <sup>b</sup>	49.0±0.51 <sup>c</sup>	44.4±0.68 <sup>c</sup>	45±0.78 <sup>c</sup>
Total ω-3 FA	s [mg g <sup>-1</sup> AFDW]	57.2±1.96 <sup>a</sup>	53.8±0.84 <sup>ª</sup>	48.2±0.79 <sup>b</sup>	42.4±0.50 <sup>c</sup>	38.0±0.48 <sup>c</sup>	38.6±0.60 <sup>c</sup>
Total ω-6 FA	s [mg g <sup>-1</sup> AFDW]	7.9±0.48 <sup>a</sup>	9.1±0.31 <sup>a</sup>	6.3±0.10 <sup>b</sup>	6.1±0.16 <sup>b</sup>	5.9±0.23 <sup>b</sup>	5.9±0.18 <sup>b</sup>
Ratio of ω-3/	ω-6	7.3±0.34 <sup>ab</sup>	5.9±0.12 <sup>c</sup>	7.7±0.21 <sup>a</sup>	7.0±0.22 <sup>ab</sup>	6.4±0.20 <sup>bc</sup>	6.5±0.12 <sup>bc</sup>
% FAs of AFDW [%]		11.6±0.50 <sup>ab</sup>	12.0±0.24 <sup>b</sup>	10.8±0.05 <sup>ab</sup>	10.5±0.18 <sup>ª</sup>	11.5±0.29 <sup>ab</sup>	11.5±0.25 <sup>ab</sup>

SDA was the dominant FA in all growth phases of nitrogen-replete cultures (ranging from 26.9 to 34.7 mg g<sup>-1</sup> AFDW) and in the logarithmic phase of nitrogen-deplete cultures (22.3 mg g<sup>-1</sup> AFDW) (Table **5.3**). In contrast, oleic acid was the dominant FA in late logarithmic and stationary phases of nitrogen-deplete cultures (28.1 and 28.7 mg g<sup>-1</sup> AFDW, respectively). Of the five major and four minor FAs, myristic acid, palmitoleic acid, LA, ALA and SDA exhibited higher concentrations in nitrogen-replete cultures and during logarithmic growth, vaccenic acid and DHA contents did not change with treatment or growth phase, and palmitic acid and oleic acid reached higher amounts in nitrogen-deplete cultures and in stationary phase (Table 5.3). From this it can be concluded that there is a shift from one group of FAs, including myristic acid, palmitoleic acid, LA, ALA and SDA, to a second group of FAs including palmitic acid and oleic acid, with progressing culture age and nitrogen starvation. Of the two commercially important VLC-PUFAs, EPA and DHA, only DHA was present in larger quantities, ranging from 11.6 to 12.0 mg g<sup>-1</sup> AFDW, while EPA was only found at  $\leq$  1.0 mg g<sup>-1</sup> AFDW. Surprisingly, the DHA content showed no significant difference between growth phases (mean values: L 11.9 mg  $g^{-1}$ , LL 12.0 mg  $g^{-1}$ , S 12.4 mg  $g^{-1}$ ; F<sub>2.12</sub>=4, P=0.0636) and between treatments (mean values: N+ 12.3 mg  $g^{-1}$ , N- 11.9 mg  $g^{-1}$ ;  $F_{1.6}$ =3, P=0.1203), with no significant interaction between growth phases and treatment (F<sub>2.12</sub>=4, P=0.0634). Based on the shift of FA from LA, ALA and SDA to palmitic acid and oleic acid, it can be expected that the relevant desaturase genes are upregulated during logarithmic phase of the nitrogen-replete cultures.

There was also a steady increase in the amount of monounsaturated FAs from the logarithmic phase of nutrient-replete cultures and nitrogen-deplete cultures to the stationary phase, from 18.5 to 26.0 mg g<sup>-1</sup> AFDW and 27.0 to 36.6 mg g<sup>-1</sup> AFDW, respectively (Table **5.3**). Overall, there was a significant increase in monounsaturated FAs (MUFAs) with culture age ( $F_{2,12}$ =72, P<0.0001) and nutrient starvation ( $F_{1,6}$ =145, P<0.0001), but no interaction was observed between the two factors ( $F_{2,12}$ =1, P=0.2768). This general increase in monounsaturated FAs was mainly due to increasing amounts of oleic acid (C18:1n-9), significantly increasing with culture age (mean values: L 13.8 mg g<sup>-1</sup>, LL 21.7 mg g<sup>-1</sup>, S 23.0 mg g<sup>-1</sup>;  $F_{2,12}$ =143, P<0.0001) and nutrient starvation (mean values: N+ 13.6 mg g<sup>-1</sup>, N- 25.3 mg g<sup>-1</sup>;  $F_{1,6}$ =313, P<0.0001). Oleic acid is a direct product of plastidial *de novo* FA synthesis and also provides the substrate for the desaturation and elongation pathway in the endoplasmic reticulum (Fig. 5.1). Therefore, the increase in oleic acid can be explained in two ways: 1) increased plastidial production, or 2) decreased production of polyunsaturated FAs (PUFAs) in the endoplasmic reticulum.

Concomitant with the increase in MUFAs, there was a significant decrease in PUFAs with culture age ( $F_{2,12}$ =20, P=0.0002) and nutrient starvation ( $F_{1,6}$ =251, P<0.0001), and a significant interaction between the two factors was observed ( $F_{2,12}$ =8, P=0.0067). The highest PUFA levels were observed during logarithmic growth of nitrogen-replete cultures with 65.8 mg g<sup>-1</sup> AFDW, which steadily decreased to 55.1 mg g<sup>-1</sup> AFDW and was lowest in stationary phase of nitrogen-deplete cultures (45 mg g<sup>-1</sup> AFDW). The observed decrease in polyunsaturated FAs was due to strong declines of stearidonic acid (SDA, C18:4n-3) levels with culture age (mean values: L 28.5 mg g<sup>-1</sup>, LL 25.4 mg g<sup>-1</sup>, S 23.3 mg g<sup>-1</sup>;  $F_{2,12}$ =28, P<0.0001) and in nitrogen-deplete cultures (mean values: N+ 31.0 mg g<sup>-1</sup>, N- 20.5 mg g<sup>-1</sup>;  $F_{1,6}$ =254, P<0.0001), and there was an interaction between the two factors ( $F_{2,12}$ =8, P=0.0070). In addition, LA and ALA showed similar reduction with nitrogen starvation and in later growth phases (Table **5.3**). Considering that there was no change in total FA content, irrespective of fertilisation regime and culture age, it can be concluded that the increase in MUFA content was the result of decreased production of PUFAs.

*Isochrysis* aff. *galbana* (TISO) contained 5.9 to 7.7 times more  $\omega$ -3 FA than  $\omega$ -6 FA, independent of growth phase and treatment. This suggests that the  $\omega$ -3 pathway is more active than the  $\omega$ -6 pathway. The bias for  $\omega$ -3 FA can be explained by differences in substrate specificity of the involved desaturases, and/or the  $\Delta^{15}$ - and  $\Delta^{17}$ -desaturases that connect the two pathways could be more active, diverting FAs towards the  $\omega$ -3 pathway (Fig. 5.1). Overall contents of both  $\omega$ -3 FAs and  $\omega$ -6 FA decreased with nutrient starvation, with  $\omega$ -3 FAs being significantly lower in the nitrogen-deplete cultures (mean values: N+ 53.1 mg g<sup>-1</sup>, N- 39.7 mg g<sup>-1</sup> AFDW; F<sub>1,6</sub>=268, P<0.0001) and later growth phases (mean values: L 49.8 mg g<sup>-1</sup>, LL 45.9 mg g<sup>-1</sup>, S 43.4 mg g<sup>-1</sup> AFDW; F<sub>2,12</sub>=21, P=0.0001), and there was also an interaction between growth phase and treatment (F<sub>2,12</sub>=6, P=0.0214) (Table **5.3**). This was mainly due to the decrease of stearidonic acid as discussed above. Based on the decrease in polyunsaturated FAs, it can be expected that the desaturases investigated in this study are upregulated in the logarithmic phase of nitrogen-replete cultures, while being downregulated with culture age and nutrient starvation.

## 4.3 Gene expression

All four measured fatty acid desaturases (FADs) can potentially take part in both the  $\omega$ -3 and  $\omega$ -6 desaturation pathways (Fig. 5.1). Of the four FADs,  $\Delta^8$ -desaturase (d8FAD),  $\Delta^5$ -desaturase (d5FAD) and  $\Delta^4$ -desaturase (d4FAD) showed a similar expression profile, while the  $\Delta^6$ - fatty acid desaturase (d6FAD) differed. d6FAD is located at the start of both pathways and adds a double bond to α-linoleic acid (ALA, C18:3n-3) or linoleic acid (LA, C18:2n-6) to form stearidonic acid (SDA, C18:4n-3) or γ-linoleic acid (GLA, C18:3n-6), respectively (Fig. 5.2). There was no significant difference in the expression of d6FAD between growth phases ( $F_{2,8}$ =3, P=0.0962) or treatments ( $F_{1,4}$ =3, P=0.1863), even though there was a significant interaction between the two factors ( $F_{2,8}$ =26, P=0.0003). This is surprising, since SDA, one of the products of d6FAD, is the dominant FA in most phases (Table **5.3**). There are two explanations for this: 1) the  $\Delta^{15}$ fatty acid desaturase is actively converting all GLA into SDA; 2) the  $\Delta^{6}$ -elongase is limiting the production of eicosatetraenoic acid (ETA, C20:4n-3) from SDA, allowing SDA to accumulate despite the low expression levels of d6FAD.



**Fig. 5.2** Relative gene expression of  $\Delta^6$ -desaturase (d6FAD),  $\Delta^8$ -desaturase (d8FAD),  $\Delta^5$ -desaturase (d5FAD) and  $\Delta^4$ -desaturase (d4FAD), using glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH), alpha-tubulin (TUA) and beta-tubulin (TUB) as reference genes, in nitrogen-deplete (closed) and nitrogen-replete (open) cultures of *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO). Mean ± SE is shown, n = 3. Letters indicate significant differences based on Tukey's post-hoc test (p < 0.05).
d8FAD is involved in bypassing the d6FAD/ $\Delta^6$ -elongase step and adds a double bond to either eicosatrienoic acid or eicosadienoic acid to form ETA acid or di-homo- $\gamma$ linoleic acid, respectively, while d5FAD adds a double bond to either eicosatetraenoic acid or di-homo- $\gamma$ -linoleic acid to form eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) or arachidonic acid (ARA), respectively. Finally, d4FAD adds a double bond to docosapentaenoic acid (C22:5n-3) to form the final product DHA. In contrast to d6FAD, the d8FAD, d5FAD and d4FAD of nitrogen-replete cultures were upregulated 7-, 8.5- and 8.5-fold, respectively, in the logarithmic phase and also in stationary phase 2.5-, 3-, and 6-fold, respectively (Fig. 5.2). The expression of d8FAD and d4FAD in nitrogen-deplete cultures did not vary significantly between growth phases, although, there was a slight non-significant upregulation during the stationary growth phase. Conversely, d5FAD in nitrogendeplete cultures was downregulated stepwise and was lowest in the stationary growth phase, and also plateaus in the late logarithmic and stationary growth phases of nitrogen-replete cultures.

Statistically, the expression of d8FAD, d5FAD and d4FAD exhibited a significant difference between growth phases (d8FAD:  $F_{2,8}$ =83, P<0.0001; d5FAD:  $F_{2,8}$ =51, P<0.0001; d4FAD:  $F_{2,8}$ =33, P=0.0001) and treatments (d8FAD:  $F_{1,4}$ =68, P=0.0012; d5FAD:  $F_{1,4}$ =68, P=0.0012; d4FAD:  $F_{1,4}$ =24, P=0.0080) with a significant interaction between the two factors (d8FAD:  $F_{2,8}$ =95, P<0.0001; d5FAD:  $F_{2,8}$ =18, P=0.0011; d4FAD:  $F_{2,8}$ =21, P=0.0007). It is interesting to note that none of the intermediate FAs leading to the final product DHA, with the exception DHA itself, were detected at levels > 1 mg g<sup>-1</sup> AFDW. Conversely, the three corresponding desaturases in the  $\omega$ -3 pathway (d8FAD, d5FAD and d4FAD) leading to DHA were highly upregulated during the logarithmic growth phase of nitrogen-replete cultures. This could indicate a rapid turnover of these intermediate FAs towards DHA.

At the cellular level, the need of algal cells to maintain adequate levels of DHA during periods of fast growth to maintain membrane integrity, being halved during each cell division, can explain the observed absence of intermediate products and upregulation of the relevant desaturases in nitrogen-replete cultures in logarithmic phase. Curiously, d4FAD, and to a lesser degree d8FAD, were also highly upregulated in the stationary phase of cultures started in nitrogen-replete conditions, while the expression of d5FAD was plateauing in late logarithmic and stationary growth phases of nitrogen-replete conditions. This is in line with the onset of nitrogen starvation and slower biomass growth, as nitrogen was only supplied at the start of the culture period in N+ cultures and would therefore deplete with increased cell growth. This increase in the expression of the three desaturases in stationary phase, most noticeably d4FAD, could be a

response to the onset of nutrient starvation in cultures grown to a high cell density in nitrogen-replete medium, perhaps indicating that they have a higher requirement for DHA for maintaining turnover rates of membrane lipids.

#### 5. Discussion

The FA composition of algae is not constant and varies with changing environmental factors. For example, some microalgae exhibit a shift from a high proportion of PUFAs in logarithmic phase, towards an increased amount of monounsaturated and/or saturated FAs in late logarithmic and stationary phase, where nitrogen becomes limited (Huerlimann et al., 2010). This study in *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO) also confirms these results but extends these biochemical level results to identifying the molecular drivers (i.e. FA desaturase expression).

The  $\Delta^6$ -,  $\Delta^8$ -,  $\Delta^5$ - and  $\Delta^4$ -desaturases (d6FAD, d8FAD, d5FAD and d4FAD, respectively) of *l*. aff. *galbana* (TISO) were sequenced for this study, representing all front-end desaturases in the pathway leading to docosahexaenoic acid (DHA, C22:6n-3). The four desaturase sequences were used to investigate the expression of the corresponding genes and resulting impact on the fatty acid (FA) composition during logarithmic, late logarithmic and stationary growth phase in cultures grown in nitrogen-replete and nitrogen-deplete conditions. Results showed that d8FAD, d5FAD and d4FAD are highly upregulated in actively growing nitrogen-replete cultures, while d6FAD is not significantly differentially expressed. Observed changes in expression of the different desaturases corresponded to changes in the FA profile. Upregulation of the three FADs in logarithmic growth phase of nitrogen-replete cultures coincided with rapid cell division and facilitated the supply of the membrane-associated DHA.

Of the intermediate FAs leading to DHA, the accumulation of stearidonic acid (SDA, C18:4n-3) in *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO) deserves particular attention. Two pathways lead to the formation of SDA: 1) LA can be turned into the ALA by a  $\Delta^{15}$ -desaturase, which is desaturated into SDA by d6FAD ( $\omega$ -3 pathway, or 2) LA is turned into GLA by the same d6FAD in the  $\omega$ -6 pathway, and successively turned into SDA by a  $\Delta^{15}$ -desaturase. We observed high contents of SDA (19.6 to 34.7 mg g<sup>-1</sup> AFDW), but LA and ALA were only present at quantities < 10 mg g<sup>-1</sup> AFDW, and GLA was present at even smaller quantities of  $\leq 1.6$  mg g<sup>-1</sup> AFDW. Surprisingly, d6FAD was not significantly differentially expressed with growth phase or nutrient regime in *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO), which stands in direct conflict to the high content and growth phase-induced slight declines of SDA. The generally high SDA content can be the outcome of different biosynthesis scenarios: 1) the  $\Delta^{6}$ -elongase which converts SDA to ecosatetraenoic acid (ETA) may

not be highly expressed and therefore provides a bottleneck for the further biochemical conversion of SDA, or 2) SDA, which is bound to glycerol during that desaturation step, is directed towards a product that is not accessible by the acyl-CoA specific  $\Delta^6$ -elongase, as has been shown in plants (Abbadi et al., 2004). This partitioning can explain why some algae can accumulate FAs from different parts of the same pathway, for example SDA and DHA, while intermediate FAs occur only at low quantities due to being directly converted along the pathway to the end product.

Another interesting aspect is that, with the exception of LA, ALA and SDA, none of the FA in the  $\omega$ -3 and  $\omega$ -6 pathways occurred in quantities above 1.6 mg g<sup>-1</sup> AFDW. DHA, the final product of the  $\omega$ -3 pathway, occurs at a constant 11.6 to 12.4 mg g<sup>-1</sup> AFDW, independent of growth phase or treatment. Conversely, the corresponding FA desaturases were all upregulated when nitrogen is abundant and downregulated in the late logarithmic phase. In algae, DHA has an important function in membrane fluidity (Valentine and Valentine, 2004). It is therefore no surprise that the DHA content is stable between different growth phases. The upregulation of the corresponding desaturases during fast cell growth, as seen during the logarithmic phase in nitrogenreplete cultures, allows the cells to maintain a constant level of DHA. This can also be seen in the upregulation of plastidial acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACCase), which provides malonyl-CoA for the *de novo* synthesis of FAs as was shown in chapter 4 of this thesis. The upregulation of the expression of d8FAD, d5FAD and d4FAD during active growth and lack of upregulation of d6FAD is in contrast to the expression of a d6FADs and d5FADs in the green freshwater microalgae Parietochloris incisa (Iskandarov et al., 2010). Here the upregulation of the d6FADs and d5FADs peaked three days after nutrient starvation. The upregulation of the two desaturases corresponded to the peak production of ARA thus engaging the  $\omega$ -6 pathway, rather than the  $\omega$ -3 pathway as found in this study. In view of the results of both studies, it must be concluded that there are inherent differences between different organisms, depending on their ecology, highlighting the importance of investigating a broad range of species from different phyla to elucidate phyla level differences in gene expression as a reaction to environmental conditions. For example, the two closely related strains of *Isochrysis* galbana, TISO and Parke, differ in their lipid composition. While TISO produces DHA, most likely at the expense of building up EPA levels, the Parke strain contains both appreciable amounts of EPA and DHA (Liu and Lin, 2001). It would therefore be worthwhile to investigate different desaturases in both strains and compare their expression with corresponding FA profiles.

The strong upregulation of d4FAD during stationary phase of nutrient-replete cultures is not easily explained. The upregulation did not correlate with larger amounts of DHA, nor with higher productivity due to increased growth rates. One possible explanation is that d4FAD provides another function. However, the cloning and characterisation of a highly similar d4FAD from *Isochrysis galbana* H29 reported a high conversion rate of DPA to DHA with high substrate specificity (Shi et al., 2012), making the existence of an alternative function unlikely. A similar upregulation was observed in stationary phase of nitrogen-replete cultures for plastidial ACCase of *I*. aff. galbana (TISO), which also did not correlate with an increase in total FA content as discussed in chapter 4 of this thesis. It is possible that there are distinct differences in *I.* aff. galbana (TISO) grown in nitrogen-replete and nitrogen-deplete conditions in the need to maintain membrane integrity in stationary phase either through membrane maintenance due to turnover or, alternatively a higher amount of membranes in older cells of stationary phase cultures. To ascertain that there are indeed different membrane maintenance requirements between cells in late logarithmic and stationary phase grown under different nitrogen regimes, additional investigations combining cell biological, biochemical and molecular tools are required.

In conclusion, this study showed that the expression of fatty acid desaturases in Isochrysis aff. galbana (TISO) varies with culture age and nitrogen supply, which is reflected in changing levels of FA desaturation. Besides direct knowledge on how nitrogen provision affects FA desaturase gene expression and hence FA profiles, such information can lead to biochemical engineering approaches, which are mandatory for choosing appropriate environmental conditions for improved biomass and FA productivities, in order to achieve an end product-informed desirable FA composition without resorting to genetic engineering. In the case of Isochrysis aff. galbana (TISO), the content of DHA does not vary significantly between growth phases or nitrogen treatments. Therefore, it is advisable to choose conditions that facilitate fastest growth if the production of DHA is desired. As a well-balanced diet relies on desirable ratios of  $\omega$ -6 and  $\omega$ -3 FAs, effects of culture age and culture nutrient status on  $\omega$ -6/ $\omega$ -3 ratios should be considered, as a shift in the total amount of  $\omega$ -3 FAs towards  $\omega$ -6 FAs was evident. Though not a consideration for *I*. aff. galbana (TISO), it is suggested that for applications depending on a low  $\omega$ -6/ $\omega$ -3 ratio, cultures might have to be grown in nutrient-sufficient medium and harvested during logarithmic phase. Our results highlight, that future studies should aim to investigate a broader range of taxonomic groups of commercial importance (e.g. Eustigmatophyceae or Bacillariophyceae to name two) and include expression of elongases. In addition, the analysis of the FA

composition of the different forms of FA pools (i.e. triacylglycerols, phospholipids, acyl-CoA, free fatty acids, etc.) is advisable in order to unravel the occurrence of sinks, removing specific FAs from the elongation/desaturation pathway and allowing their accumulation. As outlined in chapter 1 and throughout this thesis, algae have a vast as valuable, sustainable resources for products such as biodiesel for transportation,  $\omega$ -3 fatty acids (FAs) for human consumption and bio-polymers with a wide variety of applications. However, the full potential of algae has not yet been fully exploited. To improve yields of desirable target FAs, new approaches should integrate phylogenetic data and molecular analysis (at least at the gene expression level) of key enzymes in the lipid synthesis pathway. Prior to the commencement of the present research, there were several gaps in the current knowledge on algal fatty acid synthesis, and in particular the key enzyme acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACCase). The fatty acid (FA) synthesis pathway was thought to be closely related to plants, but information was scattered. Furthermore, heteromeric ACCase was generally cited as being present in the plastids of algae (e.g. Guarnieri et al. (2013)), while homomeric ACCase was rarely considered. Lastly, while there has been decades of research on algal lipid content and composition under different environmental conditions (e.g. Martinez-Fernandez et al. (2006), Converti et al. (2009), Liang et al. (2009), Rodolfi et al. (2009) and Yoo et al. (2010)), there was a distinct lack of data on the expression of genes involved in lipid de novo synthesis and desaturation.

To address these knowledge gaps, a comprehensive series of studies were undertaken that summarised the lipid synthesis pathway, investigated the presence of heteromeric and homomeric ACCase in the plastids of algae, analysed the phylogeny of ACCase and measured the gene expression of homomeric ACCase and selected desaturases. This research has contributed towards the understanding of the lipid synthesis pathways in algae, which provides the groundwork for improving FA yields in algal lipid production.

The following discussion first summarises the major conclusions and outcomes obtained in the previous chapters. Of particular interest is the finding that all investigated algae with a plastid of secondary or tertiary endosymbiotic origin, which makes up the majority of the algal diversity, contain homomeric ACCase in their plastids. The summary of the major conclusions and outcomes is followed by a synthesis of the results and a discussion of the potential applications of the present research. Finally, the discussion concludes by addressing future research directions.

#### 1. Major conclusions and outcomes

A review of the lipid synthesis pathway in algae opened chapter 2, followed by an analysis of heteromeric and homomeric ACCase sequences in relation to taxonomic classification of algae. The first major contribution of this chapter is that the presence of heteromeric or homomeric ACCase is dependent on the origin of the plastid. Heteromeric ACCase was found in plastids of most green algae and all red algae. These plastids are of primary symbiotic origin and are surrounded by two envelope membranes. The only exception consists of the green algal class Prasinophyceae, which contain homomeric ACCase in their plastids and in which none of the subunits of heteromeric ACCase were found. In contrast, homomeric ACCase was found in all investigated algae with a plastid derived through secondary endosymbiosis. This included the Chlorarachniophyta, Cryptophyta, Stramenopiles and Haptophyta, as well as the apicoplast-containing Apicomplexa. This shows that the majority of the algal taxa contain homomeric ACCase in their plastids.

The second major contribution of this chapter not only allows distinguishing between heteromeric and homomeric ACCase, but also between the plastidial and cytosolic localisation of homomeric ACCase. For this, the amino acid sequences of the substrate binding regions of the biotin carboxylase,  $\alpha$ -carboxyltransferase ( $\alpha$ -CT) and  $\beta$ -carboxyltransferase subunits/domains were analysed, revealing distinct differences between heteromeric and homomeric ACCase. This allows an identification of the ACCase type based on these binding regions alone. Furthermore, the first three amino acids of the acetyl-CoA binding region of homomeric  $\alpha$ -CT include a distinct motif that differs between cytosolic and plastidial localisations of homomeric ACCase. These distinct motifs were used to identify the localisation of the ACCase genes that have been sequenced in chapter 3.

Chapter 3 investigated the phylogeny of plastidial homomeric and heteromeric ACCase and compared it to differing views on algal taxonomy. Cytosolic ACCase is found in all eukaryotes and provides information on the phylogenetic relationships between the eukaryotic host cells. Conversely, the plastidial ACCase of algae with a secondary/tertiary endosymbiotic plastid could originate from a gene duplication of the cytosolic ACCase, from the endosymbiont, or from a horizontal gene transfer. A major finding of this analysis is that the phylogenies of cytosolic and plastidial ACCase support the inclusion of the Rhizaria with the Stramenopiles and Alveolata as SAR. This is consistent with the findings of other genetic (Pawlowski, 2013) and ultrastructural studies (Yubuki and Leander, 2013). Considering the Chlorarachniophytes (Rhizaria) contain a plastid derived from a green alga (Rogers et al., 2007) and the Stramenopiles and Alveolata contain a plastid derived from a red alga (Archibald, 2009b), the close relationship of the SAR host species could be explained by a common heterotrophic ancestor, which diverged into the two lines as a red and a green alga were taken up, respectively. However, this would not explain the close relationship between the plastidial ACCase of the SAR, Cryptophyta, Haptophyta and the green Prasinophyceae. The presence of an ancestral cryptic plastid of green origin in the red lineage has been largely refuted (Archibald, 2009a, Deschamps and Moreira, 2012). This conundrum can be explained by a serial secondary endosymbiotic event in the Chlorarachniophyta (Archibald, 2012, Archibald, 2009a). Here, a red plastid containing ancestor of the SAR, Haptophyta, and Cryptophyta, acquired the plastidial ACCase gene from an ancestor or relative of the Prasinophyceae. This was followed by a serial loss of the red plastid in the Rhizaria, and the acquisition of a green plastid in the Chlorarachniophyta.

Finally, the phylogeny of the plastid encoded  $\beta$ -carboxyltransferase was also analysed. The most interesting finding is the strong support for a clade made up of cyanobacteria and the Rhizaria *Paulinella chromatophora*. This strong statistical support provides additional evidence for a second independent and more recent primary endosymbiotic event (Marin et al., 2005, Nakayama and Ishida, 2009). Until recently, the primary endosymbiosis of a cyanobacterium was considered to only have occurred once, leading to the primary endosymbiotic plastid containing land plants, glaucocystophytes and red and green algae. The fact that all four subunits of the heteromeric ACCase are found in the chromatophore (plastid) genome of *P. chromatophora* (Nowack et al., 2008), while the plastid genome of all other heteromeric ACCase containing photosynthetic eukaryotes only encodes for the  $\beta$ -CT subunit further supports this hypothesis.

Chapter 4 investigated the expression of the ACCase transcripts of *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO) and *Chromera velia* that were sequenced in chapter 3. The major finding of this chapter is that the expression of plastidial ACCase correlates strongly with FA production. In *C. velia*, the expression of ACCase and the FA content increased with culture age and were significantly higher in nitrogen limited cultures. In contrast, *I.* aff. *galbana* (TISO) showed no significant differences in FA content between different growth phases and nutrient availability. However, the plastidial ACCase was highly upregulated during the logarithmic growth phase of nitrogen-replete cultures. This explained the steady FA content in actively dividing cells, compared to cells in stationary phase. ACCase is highly upregulated to provide the dividing cells with

adequate supplies of FA to build membranes during cell division. This demonstrates that there are distinct differences in the expression of genes involved in lipid synthesi between algal taxa.

Chapter 5 investigated the expression of the four front-end desaturases involved in the production of docosahexaenoic acid (DHA, C22:6n-3) in of *I*. aff. *galbana* (TISO). The major finding of this chapter is that the main desaturases involved in DHA synthesis ( $\Delta$ 8-,  $\Delta$ 5- and  $\Delta$ 4-desaturase) are highly upregulated during the logarithmic phase of nitrogen-replete cultures. DHA plays an important role in the membranes of algae (Guschina and Harwood, 2006, Murata and Siegenthaler, 1998). This explains the higher expression of the desaturases to maintain adequate levels of DHA during rapid cell division. Furthermore, the DHA content does not change significantly between different growth phases and nutrient treatments, however, there is a significant shift in the  $\omega$ -3/ $\omega$ -6 ratio towards  $\omega$ -6 FAs in nutrient-deplete conditions or later growth phases.

# 2. Synthesis and applications of research outcomes

# 2.1 Lipid metabolism in algae

The lipid metabolism in algae is a complex system, consisting of the *de novo* synthesis, elongation and desaturation of fatty acids (FAs), the synthesis of neutral and polar lipids, the mobilization of FAs from lipids, and the  $\beta$ -oxidation of FA. The present research focused on the de novo synthesis, elongation and desaturation of FAs. The pathway outlined in chapter 2 of this thesis represents a generalised core pathway, based on information from plants and other model organisms. However, lipid metabolism in algae is still poorly understood and the actual pathways may deviate from this generalization (Obata et al., 2013). For example, while triacylglycerides (TAGs) are generally thought to be synthesised in the smooth endoplasmic reticulum, it has been shown that Chlamydomonas reinhardtii exhibits a TAG pathway in its chloroplast (Fan et al., 2011), which is possibly also present in other algae. As more transcriptome, proteome and metabolome studies are conducted and more enzyme kinetics data are made available, our picture of the lipid metabolism in algae will become clearer (Obata et al., 2013). The differences in the expression of plastidial ACCase and resulting differences FA content of I. aff. galbana (TISO) and Chromera velia presented in chapter 4 of this thesis can most likely also be found in other enzymes involved in the lipid metabolism, for example the lysophosphatidic acid- and diacylglycerol acyltransferases, which determine which fatty acids are incorporated into TAGs and phospholipids. These differences in expression and specificity can explain

part of the astounding variation in fatty acid composition found in algae. It is furthermore important to keep in mind that the grouping "algae" encompasses a large number of phyla, having arisen from several endosymbiotic events, rampant theft of genes (i.e. horizontal gene transfer) and repurposing of genes for other pathways, as touched upon in chapter 2 and 3, resulting in a large genetic variation. It is likely that there is not only divergence in how the lipid metabolism is regulated in different algae, but also divergence in the actual pathways involved.

While evolutionarily advantageous, this genetic variation, along with the repurposing of genes in different pathways and general complexity, increases the difficulty to untangle the complicated evolutionary history of algae. For example, the presence of ACCase in the plastids and cytosol of algae makes it difficult to identify the localisation of the enzyme, making it important to find ways to differentiate between two transcripts.

# 2.2 Identification of cytosolic and plastidial homomeric ACCase

In most algae containing a plastid derived from a primary endosymbiotic event, the differentiation of cytosolic and plastidial ACCase is easier due to the respective presence of the homomeric and heteromeric forms. In contrast, in algae with plastids derived from a secondary/tertiary endosymbiotic event, and in the green algal class Prasinophyceae, the presence of homomeric ACCase in the cytosol as well as the plastids, makes expression studies more difficult. Several studies report on the expression of homomeric ACCase (Cheng et al., 2013, Liang et al., 2013); however, since the localisation of their ACCase transcript is not identified, it cannot be certain whether plastidial or cytosolic ACCase was measured. In chapter 2, I proposed the use of the amino acid motif GKS in the acetyl-CoA binding region of the  $\alpha$ -carboxyltransferase domain to identify plastidial ACCase. The only variation found so far is *Chromera velia*, as outlined in chapter 3, which contains the motive GKG. Regardless, the motif will be useful in transcriptome studies to distinguish between the plastidial and cytosolic form. However, limitations of this approach will be discussed in the section "Research recommendations" below.

#### 2.3 Use of phylogenetic and metabolic information to improve lipid yields

Be it FAs for biodiesel or polymer production, or specific very long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (VLC-PUFAs) for human consumption, increasing productivity of target FAs is an important step to making a product economically and ecologically viable. Next to approaches dealing with the lipid synthesis pathway investigated in the present thesis, other parts of lipid metabolism can also be targeted. For example, instead of targeting the synthesis of FAs, Trentacoste et al. (2013) knocked out a lipase in the diatom *Thalassiosira pseudonana*, which reduces the amount of FAs that are freed from storage lipids to be used in  $\beta$ -oxidation, resulting in the accumulation of FAs. In contrast, Li et al. (2010) produced a starchless mutant of *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*, resulting in the hyper-accumulation of TAGs, since energy and carbon was diverted away from starch accumulation. Extensive knowledge of the complex lipid metabolism, as discussed above, provides the opportunity to use biochemical engineering and molecular engineering to improve yields. Biochemical engineering here refers to improving lipid production through environmental factors (e.g. nutrients, temperature, pH or salinity), while molecular engineering can be used to increase productivity through overexpression of certain genes, but also designing new pathways foreign to the organism (Courchesne et al., 2009).

A good general example for a biochemical engineering approach and the importance of phylogeny are the differences in ACCase expression presented in chapter 4, and references therein. As described, some algae accumulate FAs during nitrogen starvation, while others only exhibit a shift from VLC-PUFAs to short-chain FAs with no change in total FA content. This metabolic change is also reflected at a genetic level in the differences in gene expression of ACCase. However, different algal species will react differently to biochemical approaches, making it important to combine the metabolic knowledge with phylogeny. In practice, if the aim was for example to produce a bio-based polymer from algal oleic acid (C18:1n-9), *Isochrysis* aff. *galbana* (TISO) could be grown under nitrogen-limited conditions to stationary phase, based on the finding in chapter 5. While the resulting ash-free dry weight is higher in cultures grown under nitrogen-replete conditions, the increase in oleic acid in cultures grown in nitrogen-deplete conditions more than makes up for this.

In terms of molecular engineering, it is important to identify and alleviate bottlenecks in the native pathways. However, alleviating one bottleneck might lead to bottlenecks in other parts of the pathway. For example, the algal desaturation and elongation pathway has been recreated in plants, without much success. One possible bottleneck in this process could be the availability of malonyl-CoA, produced by cytosolic ACCase. As it has been shown in chapter 4 of this thesis, there is a strong correlation between cytosolic ACCase and the length of fatty acids. In practice, this could mean that when genetically modifying an organism with, for example a designed fatty acid desaturation and elongation pathway to increase the production of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids, it could be required to increase the expression of ACCase in this organism to supply malonyl-CoA for the elongation process. Combining the biochemical and molecular engineering approaches allows for even greater flexibility. For example, a genetically modified alga which contains an acyltransferase with preference of including VLC-PUFAs into TAG and whose lipase has been knocked out could be grown in nutrient replete conditions to hypothetically accumulate VLC-PUFAs in TAG storage bodies. Alternatively, if short-chain saturated and monounsaturated FAs are desired for the production of biodiesel, interfering with the expression of cytosolic ACCase could lead to shorter, saturated FAs, while still maintaining high growth rates under nutrient-replete conditions.

In summary, the combination of different methods to manipulate the lipid productivity and composition through biochemical and/or molecular engineering, based on our knowledge of the different pathways of lipid metabolism in algae, their connection and regulation, as well as species specific differences, will result in increased lipid productivity.

# 3. Research recommendations

During this research, and as highlighted throughout the thesis, a number of areas were identified that require further investigation. These will briefly be summarised here.

#### 3.1 Algal ACCase phylogeny and identification of localisation

It was proposed that all algae with a secondary/tertiary plastid contain homomeric ACCase. However, ACCase sequences of the Euglenophyta, Glaucocystophyta and Dinophyta are still missing. As additional genomes are being sequenced and become publicly available, it will be possible to draw a more complete picture, and also provide better resolution for algal phylogeny. Considering all the investigated plastidial ACCases of algae are phylogenetically related, more sequences of different strains of Prasinophyceae and other Chlorophyta species would provide answers to some of the open questions of the origins of plastidial homomeric ACCase and algal phylogeny in general. Since the Euglenophyta contain a plastid of secondary endosymbiotic origin, while the host is not closely related to the SAR, Haptophyta and Cryptophyta, it would be especially interesting to see which type of ACCase the contain in their plastid and where this ACCase fits in with the other taxa phylogenetically. Lastly, even though the proposed motif to identify the plastidial homomeric ACCase is based on clearly identified sequences and has so far held true for all investigated algae, it has not been experimentally proven. Furthermore, chapter 3 showed that the investigated plastidial ACCase are all phylogenetically related. It would therefore be interesting to investigate algae that are not as closely phylogenetically related, for example the Euglenophyta.

3.2 Expression of ACCase and desaturases correlated with fatty acid productivity and composition

The present study only investigated total lipid and FA content. The compartmentalisation of FAs into different lipid types seems to be an important mechanism to regulate FAs composition in algae, most likely because the chemical properties of certain types of FAs are suitable for different functions in the cell. Further research should therefore investigate the content and FA composition of the different lipid types (e.g. TAG, phospholipids, galactolipids) separately.

Furthermore, even though qPCR is relatively inexpensive, sensitive, and does not require extensive bioinformatics steps, complete transcriptome analyses are becoming more and more common due to the rapid decrease in the cost of next-generation sequencing and the availability of complete analysis pipelines. Transcriptome studies will allow for further advances in our knowledge of the lipid metabolism in algae, especially when coupled with broader metabolic data as mentioned above. These studies should include a broad range of taxa and stress conditions.

# **Bibliography**

- ABBADI, A., DOMERGUE, F., BAUER, J., NAPIER, J. A., WELTI, R., ZÄHRINGER, U., CIRPUS, P. & HEINZ, E. 2004. Biosynthesis of very-long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids in transgenic oilseeds: constraints on their accumulation. *Plant Cell Online*, 16, 2734-2748.
- ABU-ELHEIGA, L., BRINKLEY, W. R., ZHONG, L., CHIRALA, S. S., WOLDEGIORGIS,
  G. & WAKIL, S. J. 2000. The subcellular localization of acetyl-CoA carboxylase
  2. *P Natl Acad Sci USA*, 97, 1444-1449.
- ADARME-VEGA, T. C., LIM, D., TIMMINS, M., VERNEN, F., LI, Y. & SCHENK, P. M.
   2012. Microalgal biofactories: a promising approach towards sustainable
   omega-3 fatty acid production. *Microb Cell Fact*, 11, 96.
- ADARME-VEGA, T. C., THOMAS-HALL, S. R. & SCHENK, P. M. 2014. Towards sustainable sources for omega-3 fatty acids production. *Curr Opin Biotech*, 26, 14-18.
- ADL, S. M., SIMPSON, A. G. B., FARMER, M. A., ANDERSEN, R. A., ANDERSON, O. R., BARTA, J. R., BOWSER, S. S., BRUGEROLLE, G. U. Y., FENSOME, R. A., FREDERICQ, S., JAMES, T. Y., KARPOV, S., KUGRENS, P., KRUG, J., LANE, C. E., LEWIS, L. A., LODGE, J., LYNN, D. H., MANN, D. G., MCCOURT, R. M., MENDOZA, L., MOESTRUP, Ø., MOZLEY-STANDRIDGE, S. E., NERAD, T. A., SHEARER, C. A., SMIRNOV, A. V., SPIEGEL, F. W. & TAYLOR, M. F. J. R. 2005. The new higher level classification of eukaryotes with emphasis on the taxonomy of protists. *J Eukaryot Microbiol*, 52, 399-451.
- AL-FEEL, W., CHIRALA, S. S. & WAKIL, S. J. 1992. Cloning of the yeast FAS3 gene and primary structure of yeast acetyl-CoA carboxylase. *P Natl Acad Sci USA*, 89, 4534-4538.
- ALTSCHUL, S., MADDEN, T., SCHAFFER, A., ZHANG, J., ZHANG, Z., MILLER, W. & LIPMAN, D. 1997. Gapped BLAST and PSI-BLAST: a new generation of protein database search programs. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 25, 3389.
- ANDERSEN, R. A., BERGES, J. A., HARRISON, P. J. & WATANABE, M. M. 2005.
  Appendix A: Recpies for freshwater and seawater media. *In:* ANDERSEN, R. A.
  (ed.) *Algal Culturing Techniques.* Burlington, MA, USA: Elsevier Academic Press.

- ARCHIBALD, J. 2012. The evolution of algae by secondary and tertiary endosymbiosis. *Adv Bot Res*, 64, 87-118.
- ARCHIBALD, J. M. 2008. The origin and spread of eukaryotic photosynthesis: evolving views in light of genomics. *Bot Mar,* 52, 95-103.
- ARCHIBALD, J. M. 2009a. The puzzle of plastid evolution. Curr Biol, 19, R81-R88.
- ARCHIBALD, J. M. 2009b. Secondary endosymbiosis. *In:* MOSELIO, S. (ed.) *Encyclopedia of Microbiology (Third Edition).* Oxford: Academic Press.
- ARMBRUST, E., BERGES, J., BOWLER, C., GREEN, B., MARTINEZ, D., PUTNAM, N., ZHOU, S., ALLEN, A., APT, K. & BECHNER, M. 2004. The genome of the diatom *Thalassiosira pseudonana*: ecology, evolution, and metabolism. *Science*, 306, 79.
- ATABANI, A. E., SILITONGA, A. S., BADRUDDIN, I. A., MAHLIA, T. M. I., MASJUKI,
  H. H. & MEKHILEF, S. 2012. A comprehensive review on biodiesel as an alternative energy resource and its characteristics. *Renew Sust Energ Rev*, 16, 2070-2093.
- BABU, R., O'CONNOR, K. & SEERAM, R. 2013. Current progress on bio-based polymers and their future trends. *Progr Biomaterials*, 2, 8.
- BAHEL, E., MARROUCH, W. & GAUDET, G. 2013. The economics of oil, biofuel and food commodities. *Res Energ Econ*, 35, 599-617.
- BALL, S., COLLEONI, C., CENCI, U., RAJ, J. N. & TIRTIAUX, C. 2011. The evolution of glycogen and starch metabolism in eukaryotes gives molecular clues to understand the establishment of plastid endosymbiosis. *J Exp Bot*, 62, 1775-1801.
- BAUD, S., GUYON, V., KRONENBERGER, J., WUILLEME, S., MIQUEL, M., CABOCHE, M., LEPINIEC, L. & ROCHAT, C. 2003. Multifunctional acetyl-CoA carboxylase 1 is essential for very long chain fatty acid elongation and embryo development in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant J*, 33, 75-86.
- BAUMGARTEN, S., BAYER, T., ARANDA, M., LIEW, Y., CARR, A., MICKLEM, G. & VOOLSTRA, C. 2013. Integrating microRNA and mRNA expression profiling in *Symbiodinium microadriaticum*, a dinoflagellate symbiont of reef-building corals. *BMC Genomics*, 14, 704.
- BAURAIN, D., BRINKMANN, H., PETERSEN, J., RODRÍGUEZ-EZPELETA, N., STECHMANN, A., DEMOULIN, V., ROGER, A. J., BURGER, G., LANG, B. F. &

PHILIPPE, H. 2010. Phylogenomic evidence for separate acquisition of plastids in cryptophytes, haptophytes, and stramenopiles. *Mol Biol Evol*, 27, 1698-1709.

- BAZZANI, S., HOPPE, A. & HOLZHUTTER, H.-G. 2012. Network-based assessment of the selectivity of metabolic drug targets in *Plasmodium falciparum* with respect to human liver metabolism. *BMC Syst Biol*, 6, 118.
- BECKER, B. & MARIN, B. 2009. Streptophyte algae and the origin of embryophytes. *Ann Bot-London*, 103, 999-1004.
- BENSON, D. A., KARSCH-MIZRACHI, I., LIPMAN, D. J., OSTELL, J. & SAYERS, E.W. 2009. GenBank. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 37, D26-D31.
- BHATTACHARYA, D., YOON, H. S. & HACKETT, J. D. 2004. Photosynthetic eukaryotes unite: endosymbiosis connects the dots. *BioEssays*, 26, 50-60.
- BHAYA, D. & GROSSMAN, A. R. 1991. Targeting proteins to diatom plastids involves transport through an endoplasmic reticulum. *Mol Gen Genet*, 229, 400-404.
- BILLER, P. & ROSS, A. B. 2011. Potential yields and properties of oil from the hydrothermal liquefaction of microalgae with different biochemical content. *Bioresource Technol*, 102, 215-225.
- BLANC, G., DUNCAN, G., AGARKOVA, I., BORODOVSKY, M., GURNON, J., KUO,
  A., LINDQUIST, E., LUCAS, S., PANGILINAN, J., POLLE, J., SALAMOV, A.,
  TERRY, A., YAMADA, T., DUNIGAN, D. D., GRIGORIEV, I. V., CLAVERIE, J.M. & VAN ETTEN, J. L. 2010. The *Chlorella variabilis* NC64A genome reveals
  adaptation to photosymbiosis, coevolution with viruses, and cryptic sex. *Plant Cell Online*, 22, 2943-2955.
- BLIGH, E. G. & DYER, W. J. 1959. A rapid method of total lipid extraction and purification. *Can J Biochem Phys*, 37, 911-917.
- BODYŁ, A., STILLER, J. W. & MACKIEWICZ, P. 2009. Chromalveolate plastids: direct descent or multiple endosymbioses. *Trends Ecol Evol*, 24, 119-21.
- BOUVIER-NAVÉ, P., BENVENISTE, P., OELKERS, P., STURLEY, S. L. & SCHALLER, H. 2000. Expression in yeast and tobacco of plant cDNAs encoding acyl CoA:diacylglycerol acyltransferase. *Eur Biochem*, 267, 85-96.
- BOWLER, C., ALLEN, A., BADGER, J., GRIMWOOD, J., JABBARI, K., KUO, A., MAHESWARI, U., MARTENS, C., MAUMUS, F. & OTILLAR, R. 2008. The *Phaeodactylum* genome reveals the evolutionary history of diatom genomes. *Nature*, 456, 239-244.

- BREUER, G., LAMERS, P. P., MARTENS, D. E., DRAAISMA, R. B. & WIJFFELS, R.
  H. 2012. The impact of nitrogen starvation on the dynamics of triacylglycerol accumulation in nine microalgae strains. *Bioresource Technol*, 124, 217-226.
- BROWN, M., JEFFREY, S., VOLKMAN, J. & DUNSTAN, G. 1997. Nutritional properties of microalgae for mariculture. *Aquaculture*, 151, 315-331.
- BROWNSEY, R. W., BOONE, A. N., ELLIOTT, J. E., KULPA, J. E. & LEE, W. M. 2006. Regulation of acetyl-CoA carboxylase. *Biochem Soc Trans*, 34, 223-227.
- BRYANT, N., LLOYD, J., SWEENEY, C., MYOUGA, F. & MEINKE, D. 2011.
   Identification of nuclear genes encoding chloroplast-localized proteins required for embryo development in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant physiol*, 155, 1678-1689.
- BURKI, F., OKAMOTO, N., POMBERT, J.-F. & KEELING, P. J. 2012. The evolutionary history of haptophytes and cryptophytes: phylogenomic evidence for separate origins. *P Roy Soc B-Biol Sci*, 279, 2246-2254.
- BURKI, F., SHALCHIAN-TABRIZI, K., MINGE, M., SKJÆVELAND, Å., NIKOLAEV, S.
   I., JAKOBSEN, K. S. & PAWLOWSKI, J. 2007. Phylogenomics reshuffles the eukaryotic supergroups. *PLoS ONE*, 2, e790.
- BURKI, F., SHALCHIAN-TABRIZI, K. & PAWLOWSKI, J. 2008. Phylogenomics reveals a new 'megagroup'including most photosynthetic eukaryotes. *Biol Letters*, 4, 366.
- CAGLIARI, A., MARGIS, R., DOS SANTOS MARASCHIN, F., TURCHETTO-ZOLET,A. C., LOSS, G. & MARGIS-PINHEIRO, M. 2011. Biosynthesis oftriacylglycerols (TAGs) in plants and algae. *Int J Plant Biol,* 2, 40-52.
- CAO, Y., CAO, Y. & ZHAO, M. A. 2012. Biotechnological production of eicosapentaenoic acid: From a metabolic engineering point of view. *Process Biochem*, 47, 1320-1326.
- CARDOZO, K. H. M., GUARATINI, T., BARROS, M. P., FALCÃO, V. R., TONON, A.
  P., LOPES, N. P., CAMPOS, S., TORRES, M. A., SOUZA, A. O.,
  COLEPICOLO, P. & PINTO, E. 2007. Metabolites from algae with economical impact. *Comp Biochem Phys C*, 146, 60-78.
- CASTRESANA, J. 2000. Selection of conserved blocks from multiple alignments for their use in phylogenetic analysis. *Mol Biol Evol,* 17, 540-552.
- CAVALIER-SMITH, T. 1998. A revised six-kingdom system of life. *Biol Rev*, 73, 203-266.

- CAVALIER-SMITH, T. 1999. Principles of protein and lipid targeting in secondary symbiogenesis: euglenoid, dinoflagellate, and sporozoan plastid origins and the eukaryote family tree1,2. *J Eukaryot Microbiol*, 46, 347-366.
- CAVALLI, R. O., LAVENS, P. & SORGELOOS, P. 1999. Performance of *Macrobrachium rosenbergii* broodstock fed diets with different fatty acid composition. *Aquaculture*, 179, 387-402.
- CERTIK, M. & SHIMIZU, S. 1999. Biosynthesis and regulation of microbial polyunsaturated fatty acid production. *J Biosci Bioeng*, 87, 1-14.
- CHAN, C. X., BLOUIN, N. A., ZHUANG, Y., ZÄUNER, S., PROCHNIK, S. E.,
  LINDQUIST, E., LIN, S., BENNING, C., LOHR, M., YARISH, C., GANTT, E.,
  GROSSMAN, A. R., LU, S., MÜLLER, K., W. STILLER, J., BRAWLEY, S. H. &
  BHATTACHARYA, D. 2012. *Porphyra* (Bangiophyceae) transcriptomes provide insights into red algal development and metabolism. *J Phycol*, 48, 1328-1342.
- CHARLES, D. J. & CHERRY, J. H. 1986. Purification and characterization of acetyl-CoA carboxylase from developing soybean seeds. *Phytochem*, 25, 1067-1071.
- CHEN, X. & KHANNA, M. 2013. Food vs. Fuel: The effect of biofuel policies. *Am J Agr Econ*, 95, 289-295.
- CHENG, B., WU, G., VRINTEN, P., FALK, K., BAUER, J. & QIU, X. 2010. Towards the production of high levels of eicosapentaenoic acid in transgenic plants: the effects of different host species, genes and promoters. *Transgenic Res*, 19, 221-229.
- CHENG, R.-L., FENG, J., ZHANG, B.-X., HUANG, Y., CHENG, J. & ZHANG, C.-X.
  2013. Transcriptome and gene expression analysis of an oleaginous diatom under different salinity conditions. *BioEnergy Research*, 1-14.
- CHIRALA, S. S. 1992. Coordinated regulation and inositol-mediated and fatty acidmediated repression of fatty-acid synthase genes in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *P Natl Acad Sci USA*, 89, 10232-10236.
- CHISTI, Y. 2007. Biodiesel from microalgae. *Biotechnol Adv*, 25, 294-306.
- CHISTI, Y. 2008. Biodiesel from microalgae beats bioethanol. *Trends Biotechnol*, 26, 126-131.
- CHISTI, Y. 2013. Constraints to commercialization of algal fuels. *J Biotechnol*, 167, 201-214.

CHUAKRUT, S., ARAI, H., ISHII, M. & IGARASHI, Y. 2003. Characterization of a bifunctional archaeal acyl coenzyme A carboxylase. *J Bacteriol*, 185, 938-947.

- COCK, J. M., STERCK, L., ROUZE, P., SCORNET, D., ALLEN, A. E., AMOUTZIAS, G., ANTHOUARD, V., ARTIGUENAVE, F., AURY, J.-M., BADGER, J. H., BESZTERI, B., BILLIAU, K., BONNET, E., BOTHWELL, J. H., BOWLER, C., BOYEN, C., BROWNLEE, C., CARRANO, C. J., CHARRIER, B., CHO, G. Y., COELHO, S. M., COLLEN, J., CORRE, E., DA SILVA, C., DELAGE, L., DELAROQUE, N., DITTAMI, S. M., DOULBEAU, S., ELIAS, M., FARNHAM, G., GACHON, C. M. M., GSCHLOESSL, B., HEESCH, S., JABBARI, K., JUBIN, C., KAWAI, H., KIMURA, K., KLOAREG, B., KUPPER, F. C., LANG, D., LE BAIL, A., LEBLANC, C., LEROUGE, P., LOHR, M., LOPEZ, P. J., MARTENS, C., MAUMUS, F., MICHEL, G., MIRANDA-SAAVEDRA, D., MORALES, J., MOREAU, H., MOTOMURA, T., NAGASATO, C., NAPOLI, C. A., NELSON, D. R., NYVALL-COLLEN, P., PETERS, A. F., POMMIER, C., POTIN, P., POULAIN, J., QUESNEVILLE, H., READ, B., RENSING, S. A., RITTER, A., ROUSVOAL, S., SAMANTA, M., SAMSON, G., SCHROEDER, D. C., SEGURENS, B., STRITTMATTER, M., TONON, T., TREGEAR, J. W., VALENTIN, K., VON DASSOW, P., YAMAGISHI, T., VAN DE PEER, Y. & WINCKER, P. 2010. The Ectocarpus genome and the independent evolution of multicellularity in brown algae. Nature, 465, 617-621.
- COHEN, Z., VONSHAK, A. & RICHMOND, A. 1988. Effect of environmental conditions on fatty acid composition of the red alga *Porphyridium cruentum*: Correlation to growth rate. *J Phycol*, 24, 328-332.
- CONESA, A., GÖTZ, S., GARCÍA-GÓMEZ, J. M., TEROL, J., TALÓN, M. & ROBLES,
   M. 2005. Blast2GO: a universal tool for annotation, visualization and analysis in functional genomics research. *Bioinformatics*, 21, 3674-3676.
- CONVERTI, A., CASAZZA, A. A., ORTIZ, E. Y., PEREGO, P. & DEL BORGHI, M. 2009. Effect of temperature and nitrogen concentration on the growth and lipid content of *Nannochloropsis oculata* and *Chlorella vulgaris* for biodiesel production. *Chem Eng Process*, 48, 1146-1151.
- COURCHESNE, N. M. D., PARISIEN, A., WANG, B. & LAN, C. Q. 2009. Enhancement of lipid production using biochemical, genetic and transcription factor engineering approaches. *J Biotechnol,* 141, 31-41.
- CRUPI, R., MARINO, A. & CUZZOCREA, S. 2013. n-3 Fatty acids: role in neurogenesis and neuroplasticity. *Curr Med Chem*.

- CURTIS, B. A., TANIFUJI, G., BURKI, F., GRUBER, A., IRIMIA, M., MARUYAMA, S., ARIAS, M. C., BALL, S. G., GILE, G. H., HIRAKAWA, Y., HOPKINS, J. F., KUO, A., RENSING, S. A., SCHMUTZ, J., SYMEONIDI, A., ELIAS, M., EVELEIGH, R. J. M., HERMAN, E. K., KLUTE, M. J., NAKAYAMA, T., OBORNIK, M., REYES-PRIETO, A., ARMBRUST, E. V., AVES, S. J., BEIKO, R. G., COUTINHO, P., DACKS, J. B., DURNFORD, D. G., FAST, N. M., GREEN, B. R., GRISDALE, C. J., HEMPEL, F., HENRISSAT, B., HOPPNER, M. P., ISHIDA, K.-I., KIM, E., KORENY, L., KROTH, P. G., LIU, Y., MALIK, S.-B., MAIER, U. G., MCROSE, D., MOCK, T., NEILSON, J. A. D., ONODERA, N. T., POOLE, A. M., PRITHAM, E. J., RICHARDS, T. A., ROCAP, G., ROY, S. W., SARAI, C., SCHAACK, S., SHIRATO, S., SLAMOVITS, C. H., SPENCER, D. F., SUZUKI, S., WORDEN, A. Z., ZAUNER, S., BARRY, K., BELL, C., BHARTI, A. K., CROW, J. A., GRIMWOOD, J., KRAMER, R., LINDQUIST, E., LUCAS, S., SALAMOV, A., MCFADDEN, G. I., LANE, C. E., KEELING, P. J., GRAY, M. W., GRIGORIEV, I. V. & ARCHIBALD, J. M. 2012. Algal genomes reveal evolutionary mosaicism and the fate of nucleomorphs. Nature, 492, 59-65.
- DAGAN, T. & MARTIN, W. 2009. Seeing green and red in diatom genomes. *Science*, 324, 1651-1652.
- DARRIBA, D., TABOADA, G. L., DOALLO, R. & POSADA, D. 2011. ProtTest 3: fast selection of best-fit models of protein evolution. *Bioinformatics*, 27, 1164-1165.
- DAS, L., BHAUMIK, E., RAYCHAUDHURI, U. & CHAKRABORTY, R. 2012. Role of nutraceuticals in human health. *J Food Sci Tech*, 49, 173-183.
- DAVID, F., SANDRA, P. & AND WYLIE, P. L. 2002. Agilent Application note 5988-5871EN. Improving the analysis of fatty acid methyl esters using retention time locked methods and retention time databases. Agilent Technologies Inc.
- DE CLERCK, O., BOGARET, K. & LELIAERT, F. 2012. Diversity and evolution of algae: primary endosymbiosis. *Adv Bot Res*, 64, 55-86.
- DE CLERCK, O., GUIRY, M. D., LELIAERT, F., SAMYN, Y. & VERBRUGGEN, H. 2013. Algal taxonomy: a road to nowhere? *J Phycol*, 49, 215-225.
- DE GORTER, H., DRABIK, D. & JUST, D. R. 2013. How biofuels policies affect the level of grains and oilseed prices: theory, models and evidence. *Global Food Secur*, 2, 82-88.

DELGADO-LISTA, J., PEREZ-MARTINEZ, P., LOPEZ-MIRANDA, J. & PEREZ-JIMENEZ, F. 2012. Long chain omega-3 fatty acids and cardiovascular disease: a systematic. *Brit J Nutr*, 107, S201-S213.

- DESCHAMPS, P. & MOREIRA, D. 2012. Reevaluating the green contribution to diatom genomes. *Genome Biol Evol*, *4*, 795-800.
- DOMERGUE, F., LERCHL, J., ZÄHRINGER, U. & HEINZ, E. 2002. Cloning and functional characterization of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* front-end desaturases involved in eicosapentaenoic acid biosynthesis. *Eur Biochem*, 269, 4105-4113.
- DRUMMOND, A., ASHTON, B., BUXTON, S., CHEUNG, M., COOPER, A., DURAN,
  C., FIELD, M., HELED, J., KEARSE, M. & MARKOWITZ, S. 2011. Geneious v5.
  4. Available from http://www.geneious.com/.
- DUNAHAY, T. G., JARVIS, E. E., DAIS, S. S. & ROESSLER, P. G. Manipulation of microalgal lipid production using genetic engineering. 1996. Humana Press Inc, 223-231.
- DUNAHAY, T. G., JARVIS, E. E. & ROESSLER, P. G. 1995. Genetic transformation of the diatoms *Cyclotella cryptica* and *Navicula saprophila*. *J. Phycol*, 31, 1004-1012.
- DUNSTAN, G. A., VOLKMAN, J. K., BARRETT, S. M. & GARLAND, C. D. 1993. Changes in the lipid-composition and maximisation of the polyunsaturated fattyacid content of 3 microalgae grown in mass-culture. *J Appl Phycol*, 5, 71-83.
- DUONG, V. T., LI, Y., NOWAK, E. & SCHENK, P. M. 2012. Microalgae isolation and selection for prospective biodiesel production. *Energ*, *5*, 1835-1849.
- DURRETT, T. P., BENNING, C. & OHLROGGE, J. 2008. Plant triacylglycerols as feedstocks for the production of biofuels. *Plant J*, 54, 593-607.
- EAMTA, A. C., OGATA, H. Y., GARIBAY, E. S. & FURUITA, H. 2003. Advanced broodstock diets for the mangrove red snapper and potential importance of arachidonic acid in eggs and fry. *Fish Physiol Biochem*, 28, 489-491.
- EDGAR, R. C. 2004. MUSCLE: multiple sequence alignment with high accuracy and high throughput. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 32, 1792-1797.
- EGIN-BUHLER, B. & EBEL, J. 1983. Improved purification and further characterization of acetyl-CoA carboxylase from cultured-cells of parsley (*Petroselinum hortense*). *Eur Biochem*, 133, 335-339.

- EGIN-BUHLER, B., LOYAL, R. & EBEL, J. 1980. Comparison of acetyl-CoA carboxylases from parsley cell cultures and wheat germ. *Arch Biochem Biophys*, 203, 90-100.
- ELIAS, M. & ARCHIBALD, J. M. 2009. Sizing up the genomic footprint of endosymbiosis. *BioEssays*, 31, 1273-1279.
- FAN, J., ANDRE, C. & XU, C. 2011. A chloroplast pathway for the de novo biosynthesis of triacylglycerol in *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*. *Febs Letters*, 585, 1985-1991.
- FAST, N. M., KISSINGER, J. C., ROOS, D. S. & KEELING, P. J. 2001. Nuclearencoded, plastid-targeted genes suggest a single common origin for apicomplexan and dinoflagellate plastids. *Mol Biol Evol*, 18, 418-426.
- FIDALGO, J. P., CID, A., TORRES, E., SUKENIK, A. & HERRERO, C. 1998. Effects of nitrogen source and growth phase on proximate biochemical composition, lipid classes and fatty acid profile of the marine microalga *Isochrysis galbana*. *Aquaculture*, 166, 105-116.
- FINLAYSON, S. A. & DENNIS, D. T. 1983. Acetyl-Coenzyme-A carboxylase from the developing endosperm of ricinus-communis 1. Isolation and characterization. *Arch Biochem Biophys*, 225, 576-585.
- FITZHERBERT, E. B., STRUEBIG, M. J., MOREL, A., DANIELSEN, F., BRÜHL, C. A., DONALD, P. F. & PHALAN, B. 2008. How will oil palm expansion affect biodiversity? *Trends Ecol Evol*, 23, 538-545.
- FRID, C. L. J. & PARAMOR, O. A. L. 2012. Feeding the world: what role for fisheries? *ICES J Mar Sci*, 69, 145-150.
- FROMMOLT, R., WERNER, S., PAULSEN, H., GOSS, R., WILHELM, C., ZAUNER,
  S., MAIER, U. G., GROSSMAN, A. R., BHATTACHARYA, D. & LOHR, M.
  2008. Ancient recruitment by chromists of green algal genes encoding enzymes for carotenoid biosynthesis. *Mol Biol Evol*, 25, 2653-2667.
- GALLEZOT, P. 2012. Conversion of biomass to selected chemical products. *Chem Soc Rev,* 41, 1538-1558.
- GIL-CAMPOS, M. & SANJURJO CRESPO, P. 2012. Omega 3 fatty acids and inborn errors of metabolism. *Brit J Nutr,* 107, S129-S136.

GIMPEL, J. A., SPECHT, E. A., GEORGIANNA, D. R. & MAYFIELD, S. P. 2013. Advances in microalgae engineering and synthetic biology applications for biofuel production. *Curr Opin Chem Biol*, 17, 489-495.

- GOBLER, C. J., BERRY, D. L., DYHRMAN, S. T., WILHELM, S. W., SALAMOV, A.,
  LOBANOV, A. V., ZHANG, Y., COLLIER, J. L., WURCH, L. L., KUSTKA, A. B.,
  DILL, B. D., SHAH, M., VERBERKMOES, N. C., KUO, A., TERRY, A.,
  PANGILINAN, J., LINDQUIST, E. A., LUCAS, S., PAULSEN, I. T.,
  HATTENRATH-LEHMANN, T. K., TALMAGE, S. C., WALKER, E. A., KOCH,
  F., BURSON, A. M., MARCOVAL, M. A., TANG, Y.-Z., LECLEIR, G. R.,
  COYNE, K. J., BERG, G. M., BERTRAND, E. M., SAITO, M. A., GLADYSHEV,
  V. N. & GRIGORIEV, I. V. 2011. Niche of harmful alga *Aureococcus anophagefferens* revealed through ecogenomics. *P Natl Acad Sci*, 108, 4352-4357.
- GOCKEL, G. & HACHTEL, W. 2000. Complete gene map of the plastid genome of the nonphotosynthetic euglenoid flagellate *Astasia longa*. *Protist,* 151, 347-351.
- GOMEZ CANDELA, C., BERMEJO LÓPEZ, L. M. & LORIA KOHEN, V. 2011. Importance of a balanced omega 6/omega 3 ratio for the maintenance of health: nutritional recommendations. *Nutr Hosp*, 26, 323-9.
- GORNICKI, P. 2003. Apicoplast fatty acid biosynthesis as a target for medical intervention in Apicomplexan parasites. *Int J Parasitol,* 33, 885-896.
- GORNICKI, P., SCAPPINO, L. A. & HASELKORN, R. 1993. Genes for two subunits of acetyl coenzyme A carboxylase of *Anabaena* sp. strain PCC 7120: biotin carboxylase and biotin carboxyl carrier protein. *J Bacteriol*, 175, 5268-5272.
- GOSCH, B. J., MAGNUSSON, M., PAUL, N. A. & DE NYS, R. 2012. Total lipid and fatty acid composition of seaweeds for the selection of species for oil-based biofuel and bioproducts. *GCB Bioenerg*, 4, 919-930.
- GOULD, S. B., WALLER, R. R. & MCFADDEN, G. I. 2008. Plastid evolution. *Annu Rev Plant Biol.* Palo Alto: Annual Reviews.
- GRAHAM, I. A., LARSON, T. & NAPIER, J. A. 2007. Rational metabolic engineering of transgenic plants for biosynthesis of omega-3 polyunsaturates. *Curr Opin Biotech*, 18, 142-147.
- GRIERSON, S., STREZOV, V., ELLEM, G., MCGREGOR, R. & HERBERTSON, J. 2009. Thermal characterisation of microalgae under slow pyrolysis conditions. J Anal Appl Pyrol, 85, 118-123.

- GRIFFITHS, M. J. & HARRISON, S. T. L. 2009. Lipid productivity as a key characteristic for choosing algal species for biodiesel production. *J Appl Phycol*, 21, 493-507.
- GRIMA, E. M., PEREZ, J. A. S., SANCHEZ, J. L. G., CAMACHO, F. G. & ALONSO, D.
  L. 1992. EPA from *Isochrysis galbana* growth conditions and productivity. *Process Biochem*, 27, 299-305.
- GUARNIERI, M. T., NAG, A., YANG, S. & PIENKOS, P. T. 2013. Proteomic analysis of Chlorella vulgaris: potential targets for enhanced lipid accumulation. J Proteomics, 93, 245-253.
- GUEDES, A. C. & MALCATA, F. X. 2012. Nutritional value and uses of microalgae in aquaculture. *Aquaculture*, 10, 59-78.
- GUINDON, S. & GASCUEL, O. 2003. A simple, fast, and accurate algorithm to estimate large phylogenies by maximum likelihood. *Syst Biol,* 52, 696-704.
- GUNSTONE, F. D. 1996. Fatty acid and lipid chemistry, London, Blackie Academic.
- GUSCHINA, I. A. & HARWOOD, J. L. 2006. Lipids and lipid metabolism in eukaryotic algae. *Prog Lipid Res*, 45, 160-186.
- HALL, T. 2001. BioEdit version 5.0. 6. North Carolina State University, Department of Microbiology, Raleigh, North Carolina, 192.
- HALLGREN, W., SCHLOSSER, C. A., MONIER, E., KICKLIGHTER, D., SOKOLOV, A.
  & MELILLO, J. 2013. Climate impacts of a large-scale biofuels expansion. *Geophys Res Lett*, 40, 1624-1630.
- HANNUN, Y. A. & OBEID, L. M. 2008. Principles of bioactive lipid signalling: lessons from sphingolipids. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 9, 139-150.
- HARPER, J. T. & KEELING, P. J. 2003. Nucleus-encoded, plastid-targeted glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) indicates a single origin for chromalveolate plastids. *Mol Biol Evol*, 20, 1730-1735.
- HARRIS, W. S., LEMKE, S. L., HANSEN, S. N., GOLDSTEIN, D. A., DIRIENZO, M. A., SU, H., NEMETH, M. A., TAYLOR, M. L., AHMED, G. & GEORGE, C. 2008.
  Stearidonic acid-enriched soybean oil increased the omega-3 index, an emerging cardiovascular risk marker. *Lipids*, 43, 805-811.
- HARWOOD, H. J. & GUSCHINA, I. A. 2009. The versatility of algae and their lipid metabolism. *Biochimie*, 91, 679-684

- HARWOOD, J. L. & JONES, A. L. 1989. Lipid-metabolism in algae. *Adv Bot Res,* 16, 1-53.
- HASHIMOTO, K., YOSHIZAWA, A. C., OKUDA, S., KUMA, K., GOTO, S. & KANEHISA, M. 2008. The repertoire of desaturases and elongases reveals fatty acid variations in 56 eukaryotic genomes. *J Lipid Res*, 49, 183-191.
- HELLEMANS, J., MORTIER, G., DE PAEPE, A., SPELEMAN, F. & VANDESOMPELE, J. 2007. qBase relative quantification framework and software for management and automated analysis of real-time quantitative PCR data. *Genome Biol,* 8, R19.
- HEMAISWARYA, S., RAJA, R., RAVI KUMAR, R., GANESAN, V. & ANBAZHAGAN, C. 2011. Microalgae: a sustainable feed source for aquaculture. *World J Microbiol Biotechnol*, 27, 1737-1746.
- HOWE, C., BARBROOK, A., NISBET, R., LOCKHART, P. & LARKUM, A. 2008. The origin of plastids. *Philos T R Soc B*, 363, 2675.
- HU, Q., SOMMERFELD, M., JARVIS, E., GHIRARDI, M., POSEWITZ, M., SEIBERT,
  M. & DARZINS, A. 2008. Microalgal triacylglycerols as feedstocks for biofuel production: perspectives and advances. *Plant J*, 54, 621-639.
- HUERLIMANN, R., DE NYS, R. & HEIMANN, K. 2010. Growth, lipid content, productivity, and fatty acid composition of tropical microalgae for scale-up production. *Biotechnol Bioeng*, 107, 245-257.
- HUERLIMANN, R. & HEIMANN, K. 2013. Comprehensive guide to acetyl-carboxylases in algae. *Crit Rev Biotechnol*, 33, 49-65.
- HULBERT, A. J., KELLY, M. A. & ABBOTT, S. K. 2013. Polyunsaturated fats, membrane lipids and animal longevity. *J Comp Physiol B*, 1-18.
- IMMERZEEL, D. J., VERWEIJ, P. A., VAN DER HILST, F. & FAAIJ, A. P. C. 2013. Biodiversity impacts of bioenergy crop production: a state-of-the-art review. *GCB Bioenerg*, DOI: 10.1111/gcbb.12067
- ISKANDAROV, U., KHOZIN-GOLDBERG, I. & COHEN, Z. 2010. Identification and characterization of Δ12, Δ6, and Δ5 desaturases from the green microalga *Parietochloris incisa. Lipids*, 45, 519-530.
- ISLAM, M., MAGNUSSON, M., BROWN, R., AYOKO, G., NABI, M. & HEIMANN, K. 2013. Microalgal species selection for biodiesel production based on fuel properties derived from fatty acid profiles. *Energies*, 6, 5676-5702.

- JAKO, C., KUMAR, A., WEI, Y., ZOU, J., BARTON, D. L., GIBLIN, E. M., COVELLO,
   P. S. & TAYLOR, D. C. 2001. Seed-specific over-expression of an *Arabidopsis* cDNA encoding a diacylglycerol acyltransferase enhances seed oil content and seed weight. *Plant Physiol.*, 126, 861-874.
- JAMES, C. M., AL-HINTY, S. & SALMAN, A. E. 1989. Growth and ω3 fatty acid and amino acid composition of microalgae under different temperature regimes. *Aquaculture*, 77, 337-351.
- JOYARD, J., FERRO, M., MASSELON, C., SEIGNEURIN-BERNY, D., SALVI, D., GARIN, J. & ROLLAND, N. 2010. Chloroplast proteomics highlights the subcellular compartmentation of lipid metabolism. *Prog Lipid Res*, 49, 128–158.
- KALANON, M. & MCFADDEN, G. I. 2010. Malaria, *Plasmodium falciparum* and its apicoplast. *Biochem Soc Trans,* 38, 775–782.
- KANNANGARA, C. G. & STUMPF, F. K. 1972. Acetyl CoA carboxylase of spinachchloroplasts. *Fed Proc*, 31, A461.
- KEELING, P. J. 2010. The endosymbiotic origin, diversification and fate of plastids. *Philos T R Soc B*, 365, 729-748.
- KEELING, P. J., BURGER, G., DURNFORD, D. G., LANG, B. F., LEE, R. W., PEARLMAN, R. E., ROGER, A. J. & GRAY, M. W. 2005. The tree of eukaryotes. *Trends Ecol Evol*, 20, 670-676.
- KHOZIN-GOLDBERG, I. & COHEN, Z. 2011. Unraveling algal lipid metabolism: recent advances in gene identification. *Biochimie*, 93, 91-100.
- KHOZIN-GOLDBERG, I., ISKANDAROV, U. & COHEN, Z. 2011. LC-PUFA from photosynthetic microalgae: occurrence, biosynthesis, and prospects in biotechnology. *Appl Microbiol Biot*, 91, 905-915.
- KIECOLT-GLASER, J. K., BELURY, M. A., ANDRIDGE, R., MALARKEY, W. B., HWANG, B. S. & GLASER, R. 2012. Omega-3 supplementation lowers inflammation in healthy middle-aged and older adults: a randomized controlled trial. *Brain Behav Immun*, 26, 988-995.
- KIMURA, Y., MIYAKE, R., TOKUMASU, Y. & SATO, M. 2000. Molecular cloning and characterization of two genes for the biotin carboxylase and carboxyltransferase subunits of acetyl coenzyme A aarboxylase in *Myxococcus xanthus*. *J Bacteriol*, 182, 5462-5469.

- KLAUS, D., OHLROGGE, J. B., NEUHAUS, H. E. & DORMANN, P. 2004. Increased fatty acid production in potato by engineering of acetyl-CoA carboxylase. *Planta*, 219, 389-396.
- KNAUR, J. & SOUTHGATE, P. C. 1999. A review of the nutritional requirements of bivalves and the development of alternative and artificial diets for bivalve aquaculture. *Rev Fish Sci*, 7, 241-280.
- KNOTHE, G. 2005. Dependence of biodiesel fuel properties on the structure of fatty acid alkyl esters. *Fuel Processing Technology*, 86, 1059-1070.
- KNOTHE, G. 2006. Analyzing biodiesel: standards and other methods. *J Am Oil Chem Soc,* 83, 823-833.
- KONISHI, T., SHINOHARA, K., YAMADA, K. & SASAKI, Y. 1996. Acetyl-CoA carboxylase in higher plants: most plants other than gramineae have both the prokaryotic and the eukaryotic forms of this enzyme. *Plant Cell Physiol*, 37, 117-122.
- KRÖGER, M. & MÜLLER-LANGER, F. 2012. Review on possible algal-biofuel production processes. *Biofuels*, **3**, 333-349.
- KURATKO, C., BARRETT, E., NELSON, E. & SALEM, N. 2013. The Relationship of docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) with learning and behavior in healthy children: a review. *Nutrients*, 5, 2777-2810.
- LAMERS, P. P., VAN DE LAAK, C. C. W., KAASENBROOD, P. S., LORIER, J., JANSSEN, M., DE VOS, R. C. H., BINO, R. J. & WIJFFELS, R. H. 2010. Carotenoid and fatty acid metabolism in light-stressed *Dunaliella salina*. *Biotechnol Bioeng*, 106, 638-648.
- LANGDOM, C. J. & WALDOCK, M. J. 1981. The effect of algal and artificial diets on the growth and fatty acid composition of *Crassostrea gigas* spat. *J Mar Biol Assoc UK*, 61, 431-448.
- LANGMEAD, B., TRAPNELL, C., POP, M. & SALZBERG, S. 2009. Ultrafast and memory-efficient alignment of short DNA sequences to the human genome. *Genome Biol,* 10, R25.
- LEI, A., CHEN, H., SHEN, G., HU, Z., CHEN, L. & WANG, J. 2012. Expression of fatty acid synthesis genes and fatty acid accumulation in *Haematococcus pluvialis* under different stressors. *Biotechn Biofuels*, 5, 1-11.

- LENIHAN-GEELS, G., BISHOP, K. & FERGUSON, L. 2013. Alternative sources of omega-3 fats: can we find a sustainable substitute for fish? *Nutrients*, 5, 1301-1315.
- LEWIS, T., NICHOLS, P. D. & MCMEEKIN, T. A. 2000. Evaluation of extraction methods for recovery of fatty acids from lipid-producing microheterotrophs. *J Microbiol Methods*, 43, 107-116.
- LI, W. & GODZIK, A. 2006. Cd-hit: a fast program for clustering and comparing large sets of protein or nucleotide sequences. *Bioinformatics*, 22, 1658-1659.
- LI, Y., HAN, D., HU, G., DAUVILLEE, D., SOMMERFELD, M., BALL, S. & HU, Q. 2010. *Chlamydomonas* starchless mutant defective in ADP-glucose pyrophosphorylase hyper-accumulates triacylglycerol. *Metab Eng*, 12, 387–391.
- LIANG, C., CAO, S., ZHANG, X., ZHU, B., SU, Z., XU, D., GUANG, X. & YE, N. 2013. De Novo sequencing and global transcriptome analysis of Nannochloropsis sp. (Eustigmatophyceae) following nitrogen starvation. BioEnergy Res, 6, 494-505.
- LIANG, K., ZHANG, Q., GU, M. & CONG, W. 2012. Effect of phosphorus on lipid accumulation in freshwater microalga *Chlorella* sp. *J Appl Phycol*, 25, 311-318.
- LIANG, M.-H. & JIANG, J.-G. 2013. Advancing oleaginous microorganisms to produce lipid via metabolite engineering technology. *Prog Lipid Res*, 52, 395-408.
- LIANG, Y. N., SARKANY, N. & CUI, Y. 2009. Biomass and lipid productivities of Chlorella vulgaris under autotrophic, heterotrophic and mixotrophic growth conditions. *Biotechnol Lett*, 31, 1043-1049.
- LIN, C.-Y. 2013. Strategies for promoting biodiesel use in marine vessels. *Mar Policy*, 40, 84-90.
- LIU, C. P. & LIN, L. P. 2001. Ultrastructural study and lipid formation of *Isochrysis* sp CCMP1324. *Bot Bull Acad Sinica*, 42, 207-214.
- LIVNE, A. & SUKENIK, A. 1990. Acetyl-Coenzyme-A carboxylase from the marine prymnesiophyte *Isochrysis galbana*. *Plant Cell Physiol*, 31, 851-858.
- LIVNE, A. & SUKENIK, A. 1992. Lipid-synthesis and abundance of acetyl CoA carboxylase in *Isochrysis galbana* (Prymnesiophyceae) following nitrogen starvation. *Plant Cell Physiol*, 33, 1175-1181.
- LLIGADAS, G., RONDA, J. C., GALIÀ, M. & CÁDIZ, V. 2013. Renewable polymeric materials from vegetable oils: a perspective. *Mater Today*, 16, 337-343.

- LÓPEZ ALONSO, D. & GARCÍA MAROTO, F. 2000. Plants as 'chemical factories' for the production of polyunsaturated fatty acids. *Biotechnol Adv*, 18, 481-497.
- LOUIE, T., GOODMAN, C. D., HOLLOWAY, G. A., MCFADDEN, G. I., MOLLARD, V.
   & WATSON, K. G. 2010. Dimeric cyclohexane-1,3-dione oximes inhibit wheat acetyl-CoA carboxylase and show anti-malarial activity. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett*, 20, 4611-4613.
- LUCHTMAN, D. W. & SONG, C. 2013. Cognitive enhancement by omega-3 fatty acids from child-hood to old age: findings from animal and clinical studies. *Neuropharmacology*, 64, 550-565.
- MA, X., YU, J., ZHU, B., PAN, K., PAN, J. & YANG, G. 2011a. Cloning and characterization of a delta-6 desaturase encoding gene from *Nannochloropsis oculata*. *Chin J Oceanol Limn*, 29, 290-296.
- MA, X., ZHANG, L., ZHU, B., PAN, K., LI, S. & YANG, G. 2011b. Low-temperature affected LC-PUFA conversion and associated gene transcript level in *Nannochloropsis oculata* CS-179. J Ocean Uni Chin, 10, 270-274.
- MACRAE, J. I., MARECHAL, E., BIOT, C. & BOTTE, C. Y. 2012. The apicoplast: a key target to cure malaria. *Curr Pharm Design*, 18, 3490-3504.
- MAGNUSON, K., JACKOWSKI, S., ROCK, C. O. & CRONAN, J. E. 1993. Regulation of fatty-acid biosynthesis in *Escherichia coli*. *Microbiol Rev*, 57, 522-542.
- MARIN, B., NOWACK, E. C. M. & MELKONIAN, M. 2005. A plastid in the making: evidence for a second primary endosymbiosis. *Protist*, 156, 425-432.
- MARSHALL, O. J. 2004. PerlPrimer: cross-platform, graphical primer design for standard, bisulphite and real-time PCR. *Bioinformatics*, 20, 2471-2472.
- MARTÍNEZ-FERNÁNDEZ, E., ACOSTA-SALMÓN, H. & SOUTHGATE, P. C. 2006. The nutritional value of seven species of tropical microalgae for black-lip pearl oyster (*Pinctada margaritifera*, L.) larvae. *Aquaculture*, 257, 491-503.
- MATSUZAKI, M., MISUMI, O., SHIN-I, T., MARUYAMA, S., TAKAHARA, M., MIYAGISHIMA, S., MORI, T., NISHIDA, K. & YAGISAWA, F. 2004. Genome sequence of the ultrasmall unicellular red alga *Cyanidioschyzon merolae* 10D. *Nature*, 428, 653-657.
- MCFADDEN, G. I. & WALLER, R. F. 1997. Plastids in parasites of humans. *BioEssays*, 19, 1033-1040.

- MEESAPYODSUK, D. & QIU, X. 2012. The front-end desaturase: Structure, function, evolution and biotechnological use. *Lipids*, 47, 227-237.
- MERCHANT, S., PROCHNIK, S., VALLON, O., HARRIS, E., KARPOWICZ, S., WITMAN, G., TERRY, A., SALAMOV, A., FRITZ-LAYLIN, L. & MARECHAL-DROUARD, L. 2007. The *Chlamydomonas* genome reveals the evolution of key animal and plant functions. *Science*, 318, 245.
- MEUJO, D. F. & HAMANN, M. 2013. Science, policy, and risk management: case of seafood safety. *In:* LAWS, E. A. (ed.) *Environ Toxicol.* Springer New York.
- MILLEDGE, J. J. 2011. Commercial application of microalgae other than as biofuels: a brief review. *Rev Environ Sci Biotech*, 10, 31-41.
- MOHAN, S. B. & KEKWICK, R. G. O. 1980. Acetyl-Coenzyme-A carboxylase from avocado (*Persea americana*) plastids and spinach (*Spinacia oleracea*) chloroplasts. *Biochem J*, 187, 667-676.
- MOORE, R. B., OBORNIK, M., JANOUSKOVEC, J., CHRUDIMSKY, T., VANCOVA,
  M., GREEN, D. H., WRIGHT, S. W., DAVIES, N. W., BOLCH, C. J. S.,
  HEIMANN, K., SLAPETA, J., HOEGH-GULDBERG, O., LOGSDON JR., J. M. &
  CARTER, D. A. 2008. A photosynthetic alveolate closely related to
  apicomplexan parasites. *Nature*, 451, 959-963.
- MOREAU, P., BESSOULE, J. J., MONGRAND, S., TESTET, E., VINCENT, P. & CASSAGNE, C. 1998. Lipid trafficking in plant cells. *Prog Lipid Res*, 37, 371-391.
- MOUSTAFA, A., BESZTERI, B., MAIER, U. G., BOWLER, C., VALENTIN, K. & BHATTACHARYA, D. 2009. Genomic footprints of a cryptic plastid endosymbiosis in diatoms. *Science*, 324, 1724-1726.
- MURATA, N. & SIEGENTHALER, P.-A. 1998. Lipids in photosynthesis: an overview. Lipids in Photosynthesis: Structure, Function and Genetics. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 1, 20.
- MYERS, R. A. & WORM, B. 2003. Rapid worldwide depletion of predatory fish communities. *Nature*, 423, 280-283.
- NAKAYAMA, T. & ISHIDA, K.-I. 2009. Another acquisition of a primary photosynthetic organelle is underway in *Paulinella chromatophora*. *Curr Biol*, 19, R284-R285.
- NELSON, W. L. 1958. *Petroleum refinery engineering,* New York, McGraw-Hill Book Company.

- NIELSEN, N. C., ADEE, A. & STUMPF, P. K. 1979. Fat-metabolism in higher-plants further characterization of wheat-germ acetyl coenzyme-a carboxylase. *Arch Biochem Biophys*, 192, 446-456.
- NIKOLAU, B. J. & HAWKE, J. C. 1984. Purification and characterization of maize leaf acetyl-Coenzyme-A carboxylase. *Arch Biochem Biophys*, 228, 86-96.
- NIKOLAU, B. J., OHLROGGE, J. B. & WURTELE, E. S. 2003. Plant biotin-containing carboxylases. *Arch Biochem Biophys*, 414, 211-222.
- NOWACK, E. C., MELKONIAN, M. & GLOCKNER, G. 2008. Chromatophore genome sequence of *Paulinella* sheds light on acquisition of photosynthesis by eukaryotes. *Curr Biol*, 18, 410-418.
- OBATA, T., FERNIE, A. R. & NUNES-NESI, A. 2013. The central carbon and energy metabolism of marine diatoms. *Metabolites*, 3, 325-346.
- OHLROGGE, J. & JAWORSKI, J. G. 1997. Regulation of fatty acid synthesis. *Annu. Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol,* 48, 109-136.
- OLSEN, R. L. & HASAN, M. R. 2012. A limited supply of fishmeal: Impact on future increases in global aquaculture production. *Trends Food Sci Technol*, 27, 120-128.
- ONO, E. & CUELLO, J. L. 2006. Feasibility assessment of microalgal carbon dioxide sequestration technology with photobioreactor and solar collector. *Biosyst Eng*, 95, 597-606.
- PAIVA, N. L. 2000. An introduction to the biosynthesis of chemicals used in plantmicrobe communication. *J Plant Growth Regul,* 19, 131-143.
- PALENIK, B., GRIMWOOD, J., AERTS, A., ROUZÉ, P., SALAMOV, A., PUTNAM, N., DUPONT, C., JORGENSEN, R., DERELLE, E., ROMBAUTS, S., ZHOU, K., OTILLAR, R., MERCHANT, S. S., PODELL, S., GAASTERLAND, T., NAPOLI, C., GENDLER, K., MANUELL, A., TAI, V., VALLON, O., PIGANEAU, G., JANCEK, S., HEIJDE, M., JABBARI, K., BOWLER, C., LOHR, M., ROBBENS, S., WERNER, G., DUBCHAK, I., PAZOUR, G. J., REN, Q., PAULSEN, I., DELWICHE, C., SCHMUTZ, J., ROKHSAR, D., VAN DE PEER, Y., MOREAU, H. & GRIGORIEV, I. V. 2007. The tiny eukaryote *Ostreococcus* provides genomic insights into the paradox of plankton speciation. *P Natl Acad Sci*, 104, 7705-7710.

- PATRON, N. J., ROGERS, M. B. & KEELING, P. J. 2004. Gene replacement of fructose-1,6-bisphosphate aldolase supports the hypothesis of a single photosynthetic ancestor of chromalveolates. *Eukaryot Cell*, 3, 1169-1175.
- PAWLOWSKI, J. 2013. The new micro-kingdoms of eukaryotes. BMC Biology, 11, 40.
- PEREIRA, S. L., LEONARD, A. E., HUANG, Y. S., CHUANG, L. T. & MUKERJI, P.
  2004. Identification of two novel microalgal enzymes involved in the conversion of the omega 3-fatty acid, eicosapentaenoic acid, into docosahexaenoic acid. *Biochem J*, 384, 357-366.
- PEREIRA, S. L., LEONARD, A. E. & MUKERJI, P. 2003. Recent advances in the study of fatty acid desaturases from animals and lower eukaryotes. *Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids,* 68, 97-106.
- PETERSEN, J., TEICH, R., BRINKMANN, H. & CERFF, R. 2006. A "green" phosphoribulokinase in complex algae with red plastids: evidence for a single secondary endosymbiosis leading to haptophytes, cryptophytes, heterokonts, and dinoflagellates. *J Molec Evol*, 62, 143-157.
- PETRIE, J. R., SHRESTHA, P., MANSOUR, M. P., NICHOLS, P. D., LIU, Q. & SINGH, S. P. 2010. Metab Eng of omega-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids in plants using an acyl-CoA Δ6-desaturase with ω3-preference from the marine microalga *Micromonas pusilla*. *Metab Eng*, 12, 233-240.
- PETRIE, J. R., SHRESTHA, P., ZHOU, X.-R., MANSOUR, M. P., LIU, Q., BELIDE, S., NICHOLS, P. D. & SINGH, S. P. 2012. Metabolic engineering plant seeds with fish oil-like levels of DHA. *PLoS ONE*, 7, e49165.
- PETRIE, J. R. & SINGH, S. P. 2011. Expanding the docosahexaenoic acid food web for sustainable production: engineering lower plant pathways into higher plants. *AoB Plants*, 2011.
- PINTO, A. C., GUARIEIRO, L. L. N., REZENDE, M. J. C., RIBEIRO, N. M., TORRES, A. T., LOPES, W. A., PEREIRA, P. A. P. & ANDRADE, J. B. 2005. Biodiesel: an overview. J Brazil Chem Soc, 16, 1313-1330.
- PORTIS, A. R. J. & HELDT, H. W. 1976. Light-dependent changes of the Mg<sup>2+</sup> concentration in the stroma in relation to the Mg<sup>2+</sup> dependency of CO<sub>2</sub> fixation in intact chloroplasts. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 449, 434-436.
- PROCHNIK, S. E., UMEN, J., NEDELCU, A. M., HALLMANN, A., MILLER, S. M., NISHII, I., FERRIS, P., KUO, A., MITROS, T., FRITZ-LAYLIN, L. K., HELLSTEN, U., CHAPMAN, J., SIMAKOV, O., RENSING, S. A., TERRY, A.,

PANGILINAN, J., KAPITONOV, V., JURKA, J., SALAMOV, A., SHAPIRO, H., SCHMUTZ, J., GRIMWOOD, J., LINDQUIST, E., LUCAS, S., GRIGORIEV, I. V., SCHMITT, R., KIRK, D. & ROKHSAR, D. S. 2010. Genomic analysis of organismal complexity in the multicellular green alga *Volvox carteri*. *Science*, 329, 223-226.

- PULZ, O. & GROSS, W. 2004. Valuable products from biotechnology of microalgae. *Appl Microbiol Biot*, 65, 635-648.
- QAWASMI, A., LANDEROS-WEISENBERGER, A., LECKMAN, J. F. & BLOCH, M. H. 2012. Meta-analysis of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation of formula and infant cognition. *Pediatrics*, 129, 1141-1149.
- QI, B., FRASER, T., MUGFORD, S., DOBSON, G., SAYANOVA, O., BUTLER, J., NAPIER, J. A., STOBART, A. K. & LAZARUS, C. M. 2004. Production of very long chain polyunsaturated omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids in plants. *Nat Biotech*, 22, 739-745.
- RANGEL-HUERTA, O. D., AGUILERA, C. M., MESA, M. D. & GIL, A. 2012. Omega-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids supplementation on inflammatory biomakers: a systematic review of randomised clinical trials. *Brit J Nutr*, 107, S159-S170.
- RENAUD, S. M. & PARRY, D. L. 1994. Microalgae for use in tropical aquaculture 2: effect of salinity on growth, gross chemical-composition and fatty-acid composition of 3 species of marine microalgae. *J Appl Phycol*, 6, 347-356.
- RENAUD, S. M., THINH, L. V., LAMBRINIDIS, G. & PARRY, D. L. 2002. Effect of temperature on growth, chemical composition and fatty acid composition of tropical Australian microalgae grown in batch cultures. *Aquaculture*, 211, 195-214.
- RIEKHOF, W. R., SEARS, B. B. & BENNING, C. 2005. Annotation of genes involved in glycerolipid biosynthesis in *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*: discovery of the betaine lipid synthase BTA1<sub>cr</sub>. *Eukaryot Cell*, 4, 242–252.
- RISMANI-YAZDI, H., HAZNEDAROGLU, B., HSIN, C. & PECCIA, J. 2012. Transcriptomic analysis of the oleaginous microalga *Neochloris oleoabundans* reveals metabolic insights into triacylglyceride accumulation. *Biotechnol Biofuels*, 5, 74.
- RITTMANN, B. E. 2008. Opportunities for renewable bioenergy using microorganisms. *Biotechnol Bioeng*, 100, 203-212.

- RODOLFI, L., ZITTELLI, G. C., BASSI, N., PADOVANI, G., BIONDI, N., BONINI, G. & TREDICI, M. R. 2009. Microalgae for oil: strain selection, induction of lipid synthesis and outdoor mass cultivation in a low-cost photobioreactor. *Biotechnol Bioeng*, 102, 100-112.
- RODRÍGUEZ-RUIZ, J., BELARBI, E.-H., SÁNCHEZ, J. & ALONSO, D. 1998. Rapid simultaneous lipid extraction and transesterification for fatty acid analyses. *Biotechnol Tech*, 12, 689-691.
- ROESLER, K., SHINTANI, D., SAVAGE, L. J., BODDUPALLI, S. & OHLROGGE, J. 1997. Targeting of the *Arabidopsis* homomeric acetyl-Coenzyme A carboxylase to plastids of rapeseeds. *Plant Physiol*, 113, 78-81.
- ROESSLER, P. G. 1990. Purification and characterization of acetyl-CoA carboxylase from the diatom *Cyclotella cryptica*. *Plant Physiol*, 92, 73-78.
- ROESSLER, P. G., BLEIBAUM, J. L., THOMPSON, G. A. & OHLROGGE, J. B. Characteristics of the gene that encodes acetyl-CoA carboxylase in the diatom *Cyclotella cryptica. In:* BAJPAI, R. K. & PROKOP, A., eds., 1994. New York Acad Sciences, 250-256.
- ROESSLER, P. G. & OHLROGGE, J. B. 1993. Cloning and characterization of the gene that encodes acetyl-Coenzyme-A carboxylase in the alga *Cyclotella cryptica*. *J Biol Chem*, 268, 19254-19259.
- ROGERS, M. B., GILSON, P. R., SU, V., MCFADDEN, G. I. & KEELING, P. J. 2007. The complete chloroplast genome of the chlorarachniophyte *Bigelowiella natans*: evidence for independent origins of chlorarachniophyte and euglenid secondary endosymbionts. *Mol Biol Evol*, 24, 54-62.
- RONQUIST, F. & HUELSENBECK, J. P. 2003. MrBayes 3: Bayesian phylogenetic inference under mixed models. *Bioinformatics*, 19, 1572-1574.
- ROWLEY, A. F., VOGAN, C. L., TAYLOR, G. W. & CLARE, A. S. 2005. Prostaglandins in non-insectan invertebrates: recent insights and unsolved problems. *J Exp Biol*, 208, 3-14.
- ROZEN, S. & SKALETSKY, H. 1999. Primer3 on the WWW for General users and for biologist programmers. *In:* MISENER, S. & KRAWETZ, S. (eds.) *Bioinformatics Methods and Protocols.* Humana Press.
- RUIJTER, J. M., RAMAKERS, C., HOOGAARS, W. M. H., KARLEN, Y., BAKKER, O., VAN DEN HOFF, M. J. B. & MOORMAN, A. F. M. 2009. Amplification

efficiency: linking baseline and bias in the analysis of quantitative PCR data. *Nucleic Acids Res,* 37, e45.

- RYCKEBOSCH, E., BRUNEEL, C., MUYLAERT, K. & FOUBERT, I. 2012. Microalgae as an alternative source of omega-3 long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids. *Lipid Tech*, 24, 128-130.
- SASAKI, Y. & NAGANO, Y. 2004. Plant acetyl-CoA carboxylase: structure, biosynthesis, regulation, and gene manipulation for plant breeding. *Biosci Biotech Biochem*, 68, 1175-1184.
- SAUER, A. & HEISE, K. P. 1984. Regulation of acetyl-CoA carboxylase and acetyl-CoA synthetase in spinach chloroplasts. *Zeitschrift Fur Naturforschung C-a Journal of Biosciences*, 39, 268-275.
- SCHENK, P. M., THOMAS-HALL, S. R., STEPHENS, E., MARX, U. C., MUSSGNUG,
   J. H., POSTEN, C., KRUSE, O. & HANKAMER, B. 2008. Second generation
   biofuels: high-efficiency microalgae for biodiesel production. *BioEnerg Res*, 1, 20-43.
- SCHÜLLER, H., HAHN, A., TRÖSTER, F., SCHÜTZ, A. & SCHWEIZER, E. 1992.
   Coordinate genetic control of yeast fatty acid synthase genes FAS1 and FAS2
   by an upstream activation site common to genes involved in membrane lipid
   biosynthesis. *EMBO J*, 11, 107.
- SCHULZ, M. H., ZERBINO, D. R., VINGRON, M. & BIRNEY, E. 2012. Oases: robust de novo RNA-seq assembly across the dynamic range of expression levels. *Bioinformatics*, 28, 1086-1092.
- SHEEHAN, J., DUNAHAY, T., BENEMANN, J. & ROESSLER, P. 1998. A look back at the U.S. Department of Energy's Aquatic Species Program - biodiesel from algae, National Renewable Energy Laboratory.
- SHI, T., YU, A., LI, M., OU, X., XING, L. & LI, M. 2012. Identification of a novel C22-∆4producing docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) specific polyunsaturated fatty acid desaturase gene from *Isochrysis galbana* and its expression in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Biotechnol Lett*, 34, 2265-2274.
- SIJTSMA, L. & DE SWAAF, M. E. 2004. Biotechnological production and applications of the omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid docosahexaenoic acid. *Appl Microbiol Biot*, 64, 146-153.
- SIMOPOULOS, A. P. 2006. Evolutionary aspects of diet, the omega-6/omega-3 ratio and genetic variation: nutritional implications for chronic diseases. *Biomed Pharmacother*, 60, 502-507.
- SIMOPOULOS, A. P. 2008. The importance of the omega-6/omega-3 fatty acid ratio in cardiovascular disease and other chronic diseases. *Exp Biol Med*, 233, 674-688.
- SLABAS, A. R. & HELLYER, A. 1985. Rapid purification of a high molecular-weight subunit polypeptide from rape seed acetyl-CoA carboxylase. *Plant Sci*, 39, 177-182.
- SPOLAORE, P., JOANNIS-CASSAN, C., DURAN, E. & ISAMBERT, A. 2006. Commercial applications of microalgae. *J Biosci Bioeng*, 101, 87-96.
- STANSELL, G., GRAY, V. & SYM, S. 2012. Microalgal fatty acid composition: implications for biodiesel quality. *J Appl Phycol*, 24, 791-801.
- SUKENIK, A. & LIVNE, A. 1991. Variations in lipid and fatty-acid content in relation to acetyl CoA carboxylase in the marine prymnesiophyte *Isochrysis galbana*. *Plant Cell Physiol*, 32, 371-378.
- SWANSON, D., BLOCK, R. & MOUSA, S. A. 2012. Omega-3 fatty acids EPA and DHA: Health Benefits Throughout Life. *Advances in Nutrition: An International Review Journal*, 3, 1-7.
- TALAVERA, G. & CASTRESANA, J. 2007. Improvement of phylogenies after removing divergent and ambiguously aligned blocks from protein sequence alignments. *Syst Biol*, 56, 564-577.
- THELEN, J. & OHLROGGE, J. 2002. Metabolic engineering of fatty acid biosynthesis in plants. *Metab Eng*, 4, 12-21.
- TIMILSINA, G. & MEVEL, S. 2013. Biofuels and climate change mitigation: a CGE analysis incorporating land-use change. *Environ Resour Econ*, 55, 1-19.
- TIMME, R. E., BACHVAROFF, T. R. & DELWICHE, C. F. 2012. Broad phylogenomic sampling and the sister lineage of land plants. *PLoS ONE*, 7, e29696.
- TOCHER, D. R., DICK, J. R., MACGLAUGHLIN, P. & BELL, J. G. 2006. Effect of diets enriched in Δ6 desaturated fatty acids (18: 3*n*- 6 and 18: 4*n*- 3), on growth, fatty acid composition and highly unsaturated fatty acid synthesis in two populations of Arctic charr (*Salvelinus alpinus* L.). *Comp Biochem Phys B*, 144, 245-253.

- TRENTACOSTE, E. M., SHRESTHA, R. P., SMITH, S. R., GLÉ, C., HARTMANN, A. C., HILDEBRAND, M. & GERWICK, W. H. 2013. Metabolic engineering of lipid catabolism increases microalgal lipid accumulation without compromising growth. *P Natl Acad Sci.*
- TURMEL, M., GAGNON, M.-C., O'KELLY, C. J., OTIS, C. & LEMIEUX, C. 2009. The chloroplast genomes of the green algae *Pyramimonas*, *Monomastix*, and *Pycnococcus* shed new light on the evolutionary history of prasinophytes and the origin of the secondary chloroplasts of euglenids. *Mol Biol Evol*, 26, 631-648.
- VALDEZ, P. J., NELSON, M. C., WANG, H. Y., LIN, X. N. & SAVAGE, P. E. 2012.
  Hydrothermal liquefaction of *Nannochloropsis* sp.: systematic study of process variables and analysis of the product fractions. *Biomass Bioenerg*, 46, 317-331.
- VALENTINE, R. C. & VALENTINE, D. L. 2004. Omega-3 fatty acids in cellular membranes: a unified concept. *Prog Lipid Res*, 43, 383-402.
- VAN WAGENEN, J., MILLER, T. W., HOBBS, S., HOOK, P., CROWE, B. & HUESEMANN, M. 2012. Effects of light and temperature on fatty acid production in *Nannochloropsis salina*. *Energies*, 5, 731-740.
- VANDESOMPELE, J., DE PRETER, K., PATTYN, F., POPPE, B., VAN ROY, N., DE PAEPE, A. & SPELEMAN, F. 2002. Accurate normalization of real-time quantitative RT-PCR data by geometric averaging of multiple internal control genes. *Genome Biology*, 3, research0034.1 - research0034.11.
- VENEGAS-CALERÓN, M., SAYANOVA, O. & NAPIER, J. A. 2010. An alternative to fish oils: metabolic engineering of oil-seed crops to produce omega-3 long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids. *Prog Lipid Res*, 49, 108-119.
- VLACHOPOULOS, C., TERENTES-PRINTZIOS, D., RICHTER, D., AZNAOURIDIS, K., IOAKEIMIDIS, N. & STEFANADIS, C. I. 2013. Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid supplements dose and cardiovascular events: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol, 61.
- VON ALVENSLEBEN, N., STOOKEY, K., MAGNUSSON, M. & HEIMANN, K. 2013. Salinity tolerance of *Picochlorum atomus* and the use of salinity for contamination control by the freshwater cyanobacterium *Pseudanabaena limnetica*. *PLoS ONE*, 8, e63569.
- WALLER, R. F. & MCFADDEN, G. I. 2005. The apicoplast: a review of the derived plastid of apicomplexan parasites. Curr Issues Molec Biol, 7, 57-80.

- WAN, M. X., LIU, P., XIA, J. L., ROSENBERG, J. N., OYLER, G. A., BETENBAUGH,
  M. J., NIE, Z. Y. & QIU, G. Z. 2011. The effect of mixotrophy on microalgal growth, lipid content, and expression levels of three pathway genes in *Chlorella sorokiniana*. *Appl Microbiol Biot*, 91, 835-844.
- WARD, O. P. & SINGH, A. 2005. Omega-3/6 fatty acids: Alternative sources of production. *Process Biochem*, 40, 3627-3652.
- WERDAN, K., HELDT, H. W. & MILOVANCEV, M. 1975. The role of pH in the regulation of carbon fixation in the chloroplast stroma. Studies on CO2 fixation in the light and dark. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 11, 276-292.
- WERNEGREEN, J. J. 2012. Endosymbiosis. Curr Biol, 22, R555-R561.
- WILLIAMS, C. K. & HILLMYER, M. A. 2008. Polymers from renewable resources: a perspective for a special issue of polymer reviews. *Polym Rev,* 48, 1-10.
- WILSON, R. J. M. 2005. Parasite plastids: approaching the endgame. *Biol Rev*, 80, 129-153.
- WINCHESTER, N., MCCONNACHIE, D., WOLLERSHEIM, C. & WAITZ, I. A. 2013. Economic and emissions impacts of renewable fuel goals for aviation in the US. Transport Res A, 58, 116-128.
- WOEHLE, C., DAGAN, T., MARTIN, W. F. & GOULD, S. B. 2011. Red and problematic green phylogenetic signals among thousands of nuclear genes from the photosynthetic and apicomplexa-related *Chromera velia*. *Genome Biol Evol,* 3, 1220-1230.
- WOLFGANG, M. & LANE, M. 2006. Control of energy homeostasis: role of enzymes and intermediates of fatty acid metabolism in the central nervous system. *Annu Rev Nutr*, 26, 23–44.
- WORDEN, A., LEE, J., MOCK, T., ROUZE, P., SIMMONS, M., AERTS, A., ALLEN, A., CUVELIER, M., DERELLE, E. & EVERETT, M. 2009. Green evolution and dynamic adaptations revealed by genomes of the marine picoeukaryotes *Micromonas. Science*, 324, 268.
- YOO, C., JUN, S.-Y., LEE, J.-Y., AHN, C.-Y. & OH, H.-M. 2010. Selection of microalgae for lipid production under high levels carbon dioxide. *Bioresource Technol*, 101, S71-S74.
- YUBUKI, N. & LEANDER, B. S. 2013. Evolution of microtubule organizing centers across the tree of eukaryotes. *Plant J*, 75, 230-244.

- ZERBINO, D. R. & BIRNEY, E. 2008. Velvet: algorithms for *de novo* short read assembly using de Bruijn graphs. *Genome Res,* 18, 821-829.
- ZHANG, P., LIU, S., CONG, B., WU, G., LIU, C., LIN, X., SHEN, J. & HUANG, X. 2011. A novel omega-3 fatty acid desaturase involved in acclimation processes of polar condition from Antarctic ice algae *Chlamydomonas* sp. ICE-L. *Mar Biotech*, 13, 393-401.
- ZHOU, X. R., ROBERT, S. S., PETRIE, J. R., FRAMPTON, D. M. F., MANSOUR, M.
  P., BLACKBURN, S. I., NICHOLS, P. D., GREEN, A. G. & SINGH, S. P. 2007.
  Isolation and characterization of genes from the marine microalga *Pavlova* salina encoding three front-end desaturases involved in docosahexaenoic acid biosynthesis. *Phytochem*, 68, 785-796.
- ZILBERMAN, D., HOCHMAN, G., RAJAGOPAL, D., SEXTON, S. & TIMILSINA, G.
   2013. The impact of biofuels on commodity food prices: assessment of findings.
   *Am J Agr Econ*, 95, 275-281.
- ZOU, J., KATAVIC, V., GIBLIN, E. M., BARTON, D. L., MACKENZIE, S. L., KELLER,
   W. A., HU, X. & TAYLOR, D. C. 1997. Modification of seed oil content and acyl composition in the Brassicaceae by expression of a yeast sn-2 acyltransferase gene. *Plant Cell*, 9, 909-923.
- ZUTHER, E., JOHNSON, J. J., HASELKORN, R., MCLEOD, R. & GORNICKI, P. 1999. Growth of *Toxoplasma gondii* is inhibited by aryloxyphenoxypropionate herbicides targeting acetyl-CoA carboxylase. *P Natl Acad Sci USA*, 96, 13387-13392.

## Appendix

**Supplemental Table 1** Complete list of heteromeric ACCase subunits and homomeric ACCase with corresponding identification numbers and sources.

Species	Taxonomy	Protein	Identification	Source
Toxoplasma gondii	Apicomplexa	ACC1	AAF04493	NCBI
Toxoplasma gondii	Apicomplexa	ACC2	AAF04494	NCBI
Toxoplasma gondii (GT1)	Apicomplexa	ACCase	EEE20751	NCBI
Toxoplasma gondii (ME49)	Apicomplexa	ACC1	XP_002369961	NCBI
Toxoplasma gondii (ME49)	Apicomplexa	ACC2	XP_002370640	NCBI
Toxoplasma gondii (VEG)	Apicomplexa	ACC1	EEE30125	NCBI
Toxoplasma gondii (VEG)	Apicomplexa	ACC2	EEE28725	NCBI
Cyclotella cryptica	Bacillariophyceae	ACCase	AAA81471	NCBI
Fragilariopsis cylindrus (CCMP1102)	Bacillariophyceae	ACCase	274583	JGI
Fragilariopsis cylindrus (CCMP1102)	Bacillariophyceae	ACCase	145710	JGI
Phaeodactylum tricornutum	Bacillariophyceae	ACCase	54926	JGI
Phaeodactylum tricornutum	Bacillariophyceae	ACCase	55209	JGI
Thalassiosira pseudonana	Bacillariophyceae	ACCase	6770	JGI
Thalassiosira pseudonana	Bacillariophyceae	ACCase	12234	JGI
Escherichia coli (K12)	Bacteria	α-CT	P0ABD5	NCBI
Escherichia coli (K12)	Bacteria	BC	P24182	NCBI
Escherichia coli (K12)	Bacteria	BCCP	P0ABD8	NCBI
Escherichia coli (K12)	Bacteria	β-CT	P0A9Q5	NCBI
Arabidopsis thaliana	Brassicaceae	ACC1	NP_174849	NCBI
Arabidopsis thaliana	Brassicaceae	ACC2	NP_174850	NCBI
Arabidopsis thaliana	Brassicaceae	α-CT	Q9LD43	NCBI
Arabidopsis thaliana	Brassicaceae	BC	O04983	NCBI
Arabidopsis thaliana	Brassicaceae	BCCP1	Q42533	NCBI
Arabidopsis thaliana	Brassicaceae	BCCP2	Q9LLC1	NCBI
Arabidopsis thaliana	Brassicaceae	β-CT	P56765	NCBI
Physcomitrella patens patens	Bryophyte	ACCase	EDQ80874	NCBI
Physcomitrella patens patens	Bryophyte	ACCase	EDQ62113	NCBI
Bigelowiella natans	Chlorarachniophyta	ACC1	92488	JGI
Bigelowiella natans	Chlorarachniophyta	ACC2	18464	JGI
Auxenochlorella protothecoides	Chlorophyta	β-CT	AEU08409	NCBI
Bathycoccus prasinos	Chlorophyta	ACCase	CCO17834	NCBI
Bathycoccus prasinos	Chlorophyta	ACCase	CCO18633	NCBI
Bryopsis hypnoides	Chlorophyta	β-CT	ACX33787	NCBI
Chara vulgaris	Chlorophyta	β-CT	ABA61965	NCBI
Chlorococcum humicola	Chlorophyta	β-CT	ADZ15145.1	NCBI
Chlamydomonas reinhardtii	Chlorophyta	α-CT	184945	JGI
Chlamydomonas reinhardtii	Chlorophyta	BC	122970	JGI
Chlamydomonas reinhardtii	Chlorophyta	BCCP1	185478	JGI
Chlamydomonas reinhardtii	Chlorophyta	BCCP2	183660	JGI
Chlamydomonas reinhardtii	Chlorophyta	β-CT	133238	JGI
Chlorella sp. (NC64A)	Chlorophyta	ACCase	56737	JGI
Chlorella sp. (NC64A)	Chlorophyta	α-CT	36222	JGI
Chlorella sp. (NC64A)	Chlorophyta	BC	140567	JGI
Chlorella sp. (NC64A)	Chlorophyta	BCCP1	142410	JGI
Chlorella sp. (NC64A)	Chlorophyta	BCCP2	136966	JGI
Chlorella variabilis	Chlorophyta	β-CT	ADZ04992	NCBI
Chlorella vulgaris	Chlorophyta	β-CT	BAA57908	NCBI

Species	Taxonomy	Protein	Identification	Source
Coccomyxa subellipsoidea (C-169)	Chlorophyta	α-CT	EIE26011	NCBI
Coccomyxa subellipsoidea (C-169)	Chlorophyta	BC	EIE19193	NCBI
Coccomyxa subellipsoidea (C-169)	Chlorophyta	BCCP	EIE25224	NCBI
Coccomyxa subellipsoidea (C-169)	Chlorophyta	β-CT	ADV29875	NCBI
Dunaliella salina	Chlorophyta	β-CT	ABO33321	NCBI
Haematococcus pluvialis	Chlorophyta	BC	ABS45106.1	NCBI
Helicosporidium sp.	Chlorophyta	β-CT	ABD33968	NCBI
Leptosira terrestris	Chlorophyta	β-CT	ABO69279	NCBI
Micromonas pusilla (CCMP1545)	Chlorophyta	ACCase	31755	JGI
Micromonas pusilla (CCMP1545)	Chlorophyta	ACCase	16401	JGI
Micromonas sp. (RCC2999)	Chlorophyta	ACCase	113382	JGI
Micromonas sp. (RCC2999)	Chlorophyta	ACCase	104872	JGI
Muriella zofingiensis	Chlorophyta	BC	ACX71633.1	NCBI
Nephroselmis olivacea	Chlorophyta	β-CT	AF137379 28	NCBI
Oltmannsiellopsis viridis	Chlorophyta	β-CT	 ABB81983	NCBI
, Oocvstis solitaria	Chlorophyta	β-СТ	ACQ90742	NCBI
Ostreococcus lucimarinus	Chlorophyta	ACCase	44400	JGI
Ostreococcus lucimarinus	Chlorophyta	ACCase	11	JGI
Ostreococcus sp. (RCC809)	Chlorophyta	ACCase	61393	JGI
Ostreococcus sp. (RCC809)	Chlorophyta	ACCase	36970	IGI
	Chlorophyta	ACCase	CAL 50235	NCBI
	Chlorophyta	ACCase	CAL56314	NCBI
Parachlorolla kosslori	Chlorophyta	ACCase	CAL50514	
Padachilorella Kessien Dodinomonoo minor	Chlorophyta	p-CT	ACQ90907	
	Chlorophyta		ACQ90625	NODI
Polytomena parva	Chlorophyta	BCCP	ABH 11004	
Pseudendocionium akinetum	Chlorophyta	β-ΟΤ	AAV80676	NCBI
Trebouxia aggregata	Chlorophyta	β-ΟΤ	ABX82657	NCBI
Trebouxiophyceae sp.	Chlorophyta	β-CΤ	AFQ93852	NCBI
Volvox carteri t. nagariensis	Chlorophyta	ACCase	106840	JGI
Volvox carteri f. nagariensis	Chlorophyta	α-CT	120546	JGI
Volvox carteri f. nagariensis	Chlorophyta	BC	77540	JGI
Volvox carteri f. nagariensis	Chlorophyta	BCC1	81953	JGI
Volvox carteri f. nagariensis	Chlorophyta	BCC2	109910	JGI
Volvox carteri f. nagariensis	Chlorophyta	β-CT	82311	JGI
Guillardia theta	Cryptophyta	ACC1	68771	JGI
Guillardia theta	Cryptophyta	ACC2	72035	JGI
Anabaena variabilis (ATCC 29413)	Cyanobacteria	α-CT	Q3MA36	NCBI
Anabaena variabilis (ATCC 29413)	Cyanobacteria	BC	YP_321035	NCBI
Anabaena variabilis (ATCC 29413)	Cyanobacteria	BCCP	YP_322827	NCBI
Anabaena variabilis (ATCC 29413)	Cyanobacteria	β-CT	YP_320706	NCBI
Microcystis aeruginosa NIES-843	Cyanobacteria	α-CT	BAG00629	NCBI
Microcystis aeruginosa NIES-843	Cyanobacteria	BC	BAG01493	NCBI
Microcystis aeruginosa NIES-843	Cyanobacteria	BCCP	BAG05514	NCBI
Microcystis aeruginosa NIES-843	Cyanobacteria	β-CT	BAG05575	NCBI
Nostoc azollae (0708)	Cyanobacteria	α-CT	ZP_03763675	NCBI
Nostoc azollae (0708)	Cyanobacteria	BC	ZP_03762854	NCBI
Nostoc azollae (0708)	Cyanobacteria	BCCP	ZP_03766533	NCBI
Nostoc azollae (0708)	Cyanobacteria	β-CT		NCBI
Nannochloroposis gaditana	Eustigmatophycea	ACC1		NCBI
Emiliana huxlevi (1516)	Haptophyta	ACCase	455280	JGI
Emiliana huxleyi (1516)	Hantonhyta	ACCase	449545	JGI
Emiliana huxleyi (1516) Phytophthora infestans (T30-4)	Haptophyta Stramenopiles	ACCase	449545 FEY68805	

Species	Taxonomy	Protein	Identification	Source
Huperzia lucidula	Lycopodiophyta	β-CT	AAT80716	NCBI
Aureococcus anophagefferens (1984)	Pelagophyceae	ACCase	38836	JGI
Aureococcus anophagefferens (1984)	Pelagophyceae	ACCase	65524	JGI
Ectocarpus siliculosus	Phaeophyta	ACCase	Esi0198_0003	BOGAS
Ectocarpus siliculosus	Phaeophyta	ACCase	Esi0592_0001	BOGAS
Ectocarpus siliculosus	Phaeophyta	ACCase	Esi0367_0023	BOGAS
Ectocarpus siliculosus	Phaeophyta	ACCase	Esi0403_0027	BOGAS
Aegilops tauschii	Poaceae	ACC2	ACD46664	NCBI
Aegilops tauschii	Poaceae	ACC1	ACD46679	NCBI
Triticum urartu	Poaceae	ACC2	ACD46670	NCBI
Triticum urartu	Poaceae	ACC1	ACD46677	NCBI
Paulinella chromatophora	Rhizaria	α-CT	ACB43305	NCBI
Paulinella chromatophora	Rhizaria	BC	ACB43092	NCBI
Paulinella chromatophora	Rhizaria	BCCP	ACB42862	NCBI
Paulinella chromatophora	Rhizaria	β-CT	ACB42560	NCBI
Antithamnion sp.	Rhodophyta	α-CT	P46316	NCBI
Cyanidium caldarium	Rhodophyta	α-CT	O19903	NCBI
Cyanidium caldarium	Rhodophyta	BCCP	O19918	NCBI
Cyanidium caldarium	Rhodophyta	β-CT	Q9TLW3	NCBI
Cyanidioschyzon merolae	Rhodophyta	ACCase	CMM188C	CMGP
Cyanidioschyzon merolae	Rhodophyta	α-CT	CMV056C	CMGP
Cyanidioschyzon merolae	Rhodophyta	BC	CMS299C	CMGP
Cyanidioschyzon merolae	Rhodophyta	BCCP	CMV134C	CMGP
Cyanidioschyzon merolae	Rhodophyta	β-CT	CMV207C	CMGP
Galdieria sulphuraria	Rhodophyta	ACC2	EME32530	NCBI
Galdieria sulphuraria	Rhodophyta	α-CT	EME28461	NCBI
Galdieria sulphuraria	Rhodophyta	BC Isoform 1	EME31879	NCBI
Galdieria sulphuraria	Rhodophyta	BC Isoform 2	EME31878	NCBI
Galdieria sulphuraria	Rhodophyta	BCCP	EME32228	NCBI
Galdieria sulphuraria	Rhodophyta	β-CT	EME28527	NCBI
<i>Gracilaria tenuistipitata</i> var. liui	Rhodophyta	α-CT	AAT79762	NCBI
<i>Gracilaria tenuistipitata</i> var. liui	Rhodophyta	BCCP	AAT79690	NCBI
<i>Gracilaria tenuistipitata</i> var. liui	Rhodophyta	β-CT	AAT79592	NCBI
Porphyra purpurea	Rhodophyta	α-CT	P51371	NCBI
Porphyra purpurea	Rhodophyta	BCCP	P51283	NCBI
Porphyra purpurea	Rhodophyta	β-CT	P51198	NCBI
Porphyra umbilicalis	Rhodophyta	α-CT	AFC40039	NCBI
Porphyra umbilicalis	Rhodophyta	BCCP	AFC39952	NCBI
Porphyra umbilicalis	Rhodophyta	β-CT	AFC39868	NCBI
Porphyra yezoensis	Rhodophyta	α-CT	Q1XDB6	NCBI
Porphyra yezoensis	Rhodophyta	BCCP	Q1XDK5	NCBI
Porphyra yezoensis	Rhodophyta	β-CT	Q1XDT9	NCBI
Chaetosphaeridium globosum	Streptophyta	β-CT	AAM96498	NCBI
Chlorokybus atmophyticus	Streptophyta	β-CT	ABM87949	NCBI
Staurastrum punctulatum	Streptophyta	β-CT	AAX45681	NCBI
Zygnema circumcarinatum	Streptophyta	β-CT	AAX45794	NCBI

## Appendix

Species	Genes	NCBI ID
Chlaydomonas reinhardtii	BC	XP_001702319
Chlaydomonas reinhardtii	BCC1	XP_001700442
Chlaydomonas reinhardtii	BCC2	XP_001690119
Chlaydomonas reinhardtii	α-CT	XP_001696945
Chlaydomonas reinhardtii	β-CT	XP_001703187
Arabidopsis thaliana	ACC1	Q38971
Arabidopsis thaliana	BC	004983
Arabidopsis thaliana	BCCP1	Q452533
Arabidopsis thaliana	BCCP2	Q9LLC1
Arabidopsis thaliana	α-CT	Q9LD43
Arabidopsis thaliana	β -CT	P56765
Cyclotella cryptica	ACC1	AAA81471
Escherichia coli	BC	P24182
Escherichia coli	BCCP	P0ABD8
Escherichia coli	α-CT	P0ABD5
Escherichia coli	β -CT	P0A9Q5

**Supplemental Table 2** Enzyme designations and NCBI ID numbers of the species used for the BLAST search of the full algal genomes.

**Supplemental Table 3** Species names, taxonomy, protein identification, size, identification numbers and sources of sequences used for the phylogenetic analysis of homomeric ACCase.

Species	Taxonomy	Protein	Size	Identification	Source
Toxoplasma gondii	Apicomplexa	ACC1	2564	AAF04493	NCBI
Toxoplasma gondii	Apicomplexa	ACC2	1102	AAF04494	NCBI
Toxoplasma gondii (GT1)	Apicomplexa	ACCase	2252	EEE20751	NCBI
Toxoplasma gondii (ME49)	Apicomplexa	ACC1	2599	XP_002369961	NCBI
Toxoplasma gondii (ME49)	Apicomplexa	ACC2	3399	XP_002370640	NCBI
Toxoplasma gondii (VEG)	Apicomplexa	ACC1	2612	EEE30125	NCBI
Toxoplasma gondii (VEG)	Apicomplexa	ACC2	3373	EEE28725	NCBI
Cyclotella cryptica	Bacillariophyceae	ACCase	2089	AAA81471	NCBI
Fragilariopsis cylindrus (CCMP1102)	Bacillariophyceae	ACCase	2045	274583	JGI
Fragilariopsis cylindrus (CCMP1102)	Bacillariophyceae	ACCase	2302	145710	JGI
Phaeodactylum tricornutum	Bacillariophyceae	ACCase	2093	54926	JGI
Phaeodactylum tricornutum	Bacillariophyceae	ACCase	2283	55209	JGI
Thalassiosira pseudonana	Bacillariophyceae	ACCase	2089	6770	JGI
Thalassiosira pseudonana	Bacillariophyceae	ACCase	2251	12234	JGI
Arabidopsis thaliana	Brassicaceae	ACC1	2254	NP_174849	NCBI
Arabidopsis thaliana	Brassicaceae	ACC2	2356	NP_174850	NCBI
Physcomitrella patens patens	Bryophyte	ACCase	2238	EDQ80874	NCBI
Physcomitrella patens patens	Bryophyte	ACCase	2249	EDQ62113	NCBI
Bigelowiella natans	Chlorarachniophyta	ACC1	2031	92488	JGI
Bigelowiella natans	Chlorarachniophyta	ACC2	2053	18464	JGI
Bathycoccus prasinos	Chlorophyta	ACCase	2120	CCO17834	NCBI
Bathycoccus prasinos	Chlorophyta	ACCase	2177	CCO18633	NCBI
Chlorella sp. (NC64A)	Chlorophyta	ACCase	1868	56737	JGI
Micromonas pusilla (CCMP1545)	Chlorophyta	ACCase	2146	31755	JGI
Micromonas pusilla (CCMP1545)	Chlorophyta	ACCase	2094	16401	JGI
Micromonas sp. (RCC2999)	Chlorophyta	ACCase	2140	113382	JGI
Micromonas sp. (RCC2999)	Chlorophyta	ACCase	2190	104872	JGI
Ostreococcus lucimarinus	Chlorophyta	ACCase	2013	44400	JGI
Ostreococcus lucimarinus	Chlorophyta	ACCase	1994	11	JGI
Ostreococcus sp. (RCC809)	Chlorophyta	ACCase	2014	61393	JGI
Ostreococcus sp. (RCC809)	Chlorophyta	ACCase	2060	36970	JGI
Ostreococcus tauri	Chlorophyta	ACCase	2123	CAL50235	NCBI
Ostreococcus tauri	Chlorophyta	ACCase	1983	CAL56314	NCBI
Volvox carteri f. nagariensis	Chlorophyta	ACCase	2462	106840	JGI
Chromera velia	Chromerida	ACC1	2082	KF673098	Thesis
Chromera velia	Chromerida	ACC2	-	KF673095-7	Thesis
Guillardia theta	Cryptophyta	ACC1	2055	68771	JGI
Guillardia theta	Cryptophyta	ACC2	2171	72035	JGI
Nannochloroposis gaditana	Eustigmatophycea	ACC1	2139	AFJ69228	NCBI
Nannochloroposis oculata	Eustigmatophycea	ACC1	2,317	KF673100	Thesis
Nannochloroposis oculata	Eustigmatophycea	ACC2	2,362	KF673101	Thesis
Emiliana huxleyi (1516)	Haptophyta	ACCase	1577	455280	JGI
Emiliana huxleyi (1516)	Haptophyta	ACCase	2013	449545	JGI
lsochrysis aff. galbana (TISO)	Haptophyta	ACC1	2134	KF673099	Thesis
Phytophthora infestans (T30-4)	Stramenopiles	ACC	2326	EEY68805	NCBI
Phytophthora sojae	Stramenopiles	ACC	2310	EGZ09435	NCBI
Aureococcus anophagefferens (1984)	Pelagophyceae	ACCase	1809	38836	JGI
Aureococcus anophagefferens (1984)	Pelagophyceae	ACCase	2153	65524	JGI
Ectocarpus siliculosus	Phaeophyta	ACCase	1848	Esi0198_0003	BOGAS
Ectocarpus siliculosus	Phaeophyta	ACCase	799	Esi0592_0001	BOGAS
Ectocarpus siliculosus	Phaeophyta	ACCase	1049	Esi0367_0023	BOGAS

Species	Taxonomy	Protein	Size	Identification	Source
Ectocarpus siliculosus	Phaeophyta	ACCase	166	Esi0403_0027	BOGAS
Aegilops tauschii	Poaceae	ACC2	2258	ACD46664	NCBI
Aegilops tauschii	Poaceae	ACC1	2311	ACD46679	NCBI
Triticum urartu	Poaceae	ACC2	2260	ACD46670	NCBI
Triticum urartu	Poaceae	ACC1	2311	ACD46677	NCBI
Cyanidioschyzon merolae	Rhodophyta	ACCase	2719	CMM188C	CMGP
Galdieria sulphuraria	Rhodophyta	ACC2	2482	EME32530	NCBI

**Supplemental Table 4** Species names, taxonomy, protein identification, size, identification numbers and sources of sequences used for the phylogenetic analysis of the  $\beta$ -carboxyltransferase subunit of heteromeric ACCase.

Species	Taxonomy	Protein	Size	Identification	Source
Escherichia coli (K12)	Bacteria	β-CT	304	P0A9Q5	NCBI
Arabidopsis thaliana	Brassicaceae	β-CT	488	P56765	NCBI
Auxenochlorella protothecoides	Chlorophyta	β-CT	388	AEU08409	NCBI
Bryopsis hypnoides	Chlorophyta	β-CT	353	ACX33787	NCBI
Chara vulgaris	Chlorophyta	β-CT	293	ABA61965	NCBI
Chlorococcum humicola	Chlorophyta	β-CT	337	ADZ15145.1	NCBI
Chlamydomonas reinhardtii	Chlorophyta	β-CT	369	133238	JGI
Chlorella variabilis	Chlorophyta	β-CT	388	ADZ04992	NCBI
Chlorella vulgaris	Chlorophyta	β-CT	411	BAA57908	NCBI
Coccomyxa subellipsoidea (C-169)	Chlorophyta	β-CT	628	ADV29875	NCBI
Dunaliella salina	Chlorophyta	β-CT	349	ABO33321	NCBI
Helicosporidium sp.	Chlorophyta	β-CT	471	ABD33968	NCBI
Leptosira terrestris	Chlorophyta	β-CT	599	ABO69279	NCBI
Nephroselmis olivacea	Chlorophyta	β-CT	627	AF137379_28	NCBI
Oltmannsiellopsis viridis	Chlorophyta	β-CT	342	ABB81983	NCBI
Oocystis solitaria	Chlorophyta	β-CT	411	ACQ90742	NCBI
Parachlorella kessleri	Chlorophyta	β-CT	441	ACQ90907	NCBI
Pedinomonas minor	Chlorophyta	β-CT	381	ACQ90825	NCBI
Pseudendoclonium akinetum	Chlorophyta	β-CT	312	AAV80676	NCBI
Trebouxia aggregata	Chlorophyta	β-CT	515	ABX82657	NCBI
Trebouxiophyceae sp.	Chlorophyta	β-CT	622	AFQ93852	NCBI
Volvox carteri f. nagariensis	Chlorophyta	β-CT	478	82311	JGI
Anabaena variabilis (ATCC 29413)	Cyanobacteria	β-CT	316	YP_320706	NCBI
Microcystis aeruginosa NIES-843	Cyanobacteria	β-CT	316	BAG05575	NCBI
Nostoc azollae (0708)	Cyanobacteria	β-CT	317	ZP_03766652	NCBI
Huperzia lucidula	Lycopodiophyta	β-CT	316	AAT80716	NCBI
Paulinella chromatophora	Rhizaria	β-CT	288	ACB42560	NCBI
Cyanidium caldarium	Rhodophyta	β-CT	267	Q9TLW3	NCBI
Cyanidioschyzon merolae	Rhodophyta	β-CT	273	CMV207C	CMGP
Galdieria sulphuraria	Rhodophyta	β-CT	549	EME28527	NCBI
<i>Gracilaria tenuistipitata</i> var. liui	Rhodophyta	β-CT	293	AAT79592	NCBI
Porphyra purpurea	Rhodophyta	β-CT	288	P51198	NCBI
Porphyra umbilicalis	Rhodophyta	β-CT	288	AFC39868	NCBI
Porphyra yezoensis	Rhodophyta	β-CT	288	Q1XDT9	NCBI
Chaetosphaeridium globosum	Streptophyta	β-CT	297	AAM96498	NCBI
Chlorokybus atmophyticus	Streptophyta	β-CT	296	ABM87949	NCBI
Staurastrum punctulatum	Streptophyta	β-CT	307	AAX45681	NCBI
Zygnema circumcarinatum	Streptophyta	β-CT	297	AAX45794	NCBI